Human Science Wikipedia

Contents

Articles

Human science	1
Phenomenology (psychology)	4
Existential phenomenology	5
Martin Heidegger	6
Phenomenology (philosophy)	27
Clark Moustakas	38
Humanistic psychology	43
Existentialism	46
Holism	64
Saybrook University	71
Personal development	71
Institute of Transpersonal Psychology	79
Organismic theory	80
Transpersonal psychology	81
Transpersonal disciplines	92
Transpersonal psychiatry	93
References	

Article Sources and Contributors	94
Image Sources, Licenses and Contributors	97

Article Licenses

License	98
---------	----

Human science

Human science (also, **humanistic social science**, **moral science** and **human sciences**) refers to the investigation of human life and activities via a phenomenological methodology that acknowledges the validity of both sensory and psychological experience. It includes but is not necessarily limited to humanistic modes of inquiry within fields of the social sciences and humanities, including history, sociology, anthropology, and economics. Its use of an empirical methodology that encompasses psychological experience contrasts to the purely positivistic approach typical of the natural sciences which exclude all methods not based solely on sensory observations. Thus the term is often used to distinguish not only the content of a field of study from those of the natural sciences, but also its methodology.^[1]

Meaning of 'science'

Ambiguity and confusion regarding usage of the terms 'science', 'empirical science', and 'scientific method' have complicated the usage of the term 'human science' with respect to human activities. The term 'science' is derived from the Latin *scientia* meaning 'knowledge'. 'Science' may be appropriately used to refer to any branch of knowledge or study dealing with a body of facts or truths systematically arranged to show the operation of general laws.

However, according to Positivists, the only authentic knowledge is scientific knowledge which comes from positive affirmation of theories through strict scientific method. As a result of the positivist influence, the term *science* is frequently employed as a synonym for *empirical science*. Empirical science is knowledge based on the scientific method, a systematic approach to verification of knowledge first developed for dealing with natural physical phenomena and emphasizing the importance of experience based on sensory observation. However, even with regard to the natural sciences, significant difference exist among scientists and philosophers of science with regard to what constitutes valid scientific method.^[2] More recently, usage of the term has been extended to the study of human social phenomena as well. Thus, the natural sciences and social sciences are commonly classified as science, whereas the study of classics, languages, literature, music, philosophy, history, religion, and the visual and performing arts are referred to as the humanities. Ambiguity with respect to the meaning of the term *science* is aggravated by the widespread use of the term formal science with reference to any one of several sciences that is predominantly concerned with abstract form that cannot be validated by physical experience through the senses, such as logic, mathematics, and the theoretical branches of computer science, information theory, and statistics.

History

Early development

The term **moral science** was first used by Hume in his *Enquiry concerning the Principles of Morals* to refer to the systematic study of human nature and relationships. Hume wished to establish a "science of human nature" based upon empirical phenomena, and excluding all that does not arise from observation. Rejecting teleological, theological and metaphysical explanations , Hume sought to develop an essentially descriptive methodology; phenomena were to be precisely characterized. He emphasized the necessity of carefully explicating the cognitive content of ideas and vocabulary, relating these to their empirical roots and real-world significance.^[3]

A variety of early thinkers in the humanistic sciences took up Hume's direction. Adam Smith, for example, conceived of economics as a moral science in the Humean sense.^[4]

Later development

Partly in reaction to the establishment of positivistic philosophy and the latter's Comtean intrusions into traditionally humanistic areas such as sociology, non-postivistic researchers in the humanistic sciences began to carefully but emphatically distinguish the methodological approach appropriate to these areas of study, for which the unique and distinguishing characteristics of phenomena are in the forefront (e.g. for the biographer), from that appropriate to the natural sciences, for which the ability to link phenomena into generalized groups is foremost. In this sense, Droysen contrasted the humanistic science's need to *comprehend* the phenomena under consideration with natural science's need to *explain* phenomena, while Windelband coined the terms idiographic for a descriptive study of the individual nature of phenomena, and nomothetic for sciences that aim to define the generalizing laws.^[1]

Dilthey brought nineteenth-century attempts to formulate a methodology appropriate to the humanistic sciences together with Hume's term "moral science", which he translated as de:Geisteswissenschaft - a term with no exact English equivalent. Dilthey attempted to articulate the entire range of the moral sciences in a comprehensive and systematic way.^[5] Meanwhile, his conception of "Geisteswissenschaften" encompasses also the abovementioned study of classics, languages, literature, music, philosophy, history, religion, and the visual and performing arts. He characterized the scientific nature of a study as depending upon:^[5]

- The conviction that perception gives access to reality
- The self-evident nature of logical reasoning
- The principle of sufficient reason

But the specific nature of the *Geisteswissenschaften* is based on the *inner* experience ("Erleben"), the *comprehension* ("Verstehen") of the meaning of expressions and *understanding* in terms of the relations of the part and the whole – in contrast to the *explanation* of phenomena by hypothetical laws in the *natural sciences*.^[6]

Edmund Husserl, a student of Franz Brentano, articulated his phenomenological philosophy in a way, that could be thought as a basis of Dilthey's attempt. Dilthey appreciated Husserl's "Logische Untersuchungen"^[7] (1900/1901, the first draft of Husserl's *Phenomenology*) as an "epoch making" epistemological foundation of his conception of Geisteswissenschaften.^[8]

In recent years, 'human science' has been used to refer to "a philosophy and approach to science that seeks to understand human experience in deeply subjective, personal, historical, contextual, cross-cultural, political, and spiritual terms. Human science is the science of qualities rather than of quantities and closes the subject-object split in science. In particular, it addresses the ways in which self-reflection, art, music, poetry, drama, language and imagery reveal the human condition. By being interpretive, reflective, and appreciative, human science re-opens the conversation among science, art, and philosophy."^[9]

Objective vs. subjective experiences

Since Auguste Comte, the positivistic social sciences have sought to imitate the approach of the natural sciences by emphasizing the importance of objective external observations and searching for universal laws whose operation is predicated on external initial conditions that do not take into account differences in subjective human perception and attitude. Critics argue that subjective human experience and intention plays such a central role in determining human social behavior that the objectivist approach to the social sciences is too confining. Rejecting the positivist influence, they argue that the scientific method can rightly be applied to subjective as well objective experience. The term subjective is used in this context to refer to inner psychological experience rather than outer sensory experience. It is not used in the sense of being prejudiced by personal motives or beliefs.

References

- [1] Georg Henrik von Wright, Explanation and Understanding, ISBN 0-8014-0644-7, pp. 4-7
- [2] Popper, Karl, Logic of Scientific Discovery, Routledge, 2002.
- [3] "David Hume" (http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/hume/), Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy
- [4] Book Review (http://www.acton.org/publicat/m_and_m/2001_spring/crespo.html) of Jeffrey T. Young's *Economics As a Moral Science: The Political Economy of Adam Smith*
- [5] Wilhelm Dilthey, An Introduction to the Human Sciences, Princeton Press, Chapter I
- [6] Wilhelm Dilthey, Gesammelte Schriften, vol. VII, p. 86
- [7] Edmund Husserl, Logical Investigations, 1973 [1913], Findlay, J. N., trans. London: Routledge
- [8] Wilhelm Dilthey, Gesammelte Schriften, vol. VII, p. 14
- [9] Saybrook Graduate School (http://www.saybrook.edu/phs/academicprograms/hs)

Bibliography

- Flew, A. (1986). David Hume: Philosopher of Moral Science, Basil Blackwell, Oxford
- Hume, David, An Enquiry concerning the Principles of Morals

External links

- Human Science(s) across Global Academies (https://docs.google.com/View?id=dfv9rkbs_28gcdj5jfz&pli=1)
- College of Human Sciences at Iowa State University (http://www.hs.iastate.edu/)
- M.A./Ph.D. in Human Science at Saybrook University (http://www.saybrook.edu/phs/academicprograms/hs)
- Institute of Human Sciences at the University of Oxford (http://www.ihs.ox.ac.uk/)
- New Route Ph.D. in Human Science at Brunel University (http://www.brunel.ac.uk/research/ research-degrees-at-brunel/new-route-phd/new-route-phd-human-sciences)
- Ph.D. in Human Studies at Laurentian University (http://humanstudies.laurentian.ca)
- HumanScience Wiki (http://www.humanscience.wikia.com)
- Marxism philosophy (http://www.marxists.org/reference/subject/philosophy/works/ge/dilthey.htm)
- Geisteswissenschaften (http://translate.google.com/translate?hl=en&sl=de&u=http://de.wikipedia.org/ wiki/Geisteswissenschaften&sa=X&oi=translate&resnum=1&ct=result&prev=/ search?q=Geisteswissenschaft&hl=en&rls=GGLD,GGLD:2006-20,GGLD:en) - German Wikipedia article on 'Humanities'

Phenomenology (psychology)

Phenomenology is an approach to psychological subject matter that has its roots in the philosophical work of Edmund Husserl.^[1] Early phenomenologists such as Husserl, Jean-Paul Sartre, and Maurice Merleau-Ponty conducted their own psychological investigations in the early 20th century. The work of these phenomenologists later influenced at least two main fields of contemporary psychology: the phenomenological psychological approach of the "Duquesne School", Amedeo Giorgi,^{[1] [2]} Jonathan Smith, Frederick Wertz, Steinar Kvale, Köhler and others (Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis); and the experimental approaches associated with Varela, Gallagher, Thompson, and others (Embodied cognition). Phenomenological psychologists have also figured prominently in the history of the humanistic psychology movement.

The experiencing subject can be considered to be the person or self, for purposes of convenience. In phenomenological philosophy (and in particular in the work of Husserl, Heidegger, and Merleau-Ponty), "experience" is a considerably more complex concept than it is usually taken to be in everyday use. Instead, experience (or being, or existence itself) is an "in-relation-to" phenomenon, and it is defined by qualities of directedness, embodiment, and worldliness, which are evoked by the term "Being-in-the-World".^[3]

The quality or nature of a given experience is often referred to by the term qualia, whose archetypical exemplar is "redness". For example, we might ask, "Is my experience of redness the same as yours?" While it is difficult to answer such a question in any concrete way, the concept of intersubjectivity is often used as a mechanism for understanding how it is that humans are able to empathise with one another's experiences, and indeed to engage in meaningful communication about them. The phenomenological formulation of Being-in-the-World, where person and world are mutually constitutive, is central here.

Difficulties in considering subjective phenomena

The philosophical psychology prevalent before the end of the 21st century relied heavily on introspection. The speculations concerning the mind based on those observations were criticized by the pioneering advocates of a more scientific approach to psychology, such as William James and the behaviorists Edward Thorndike, Clark Hull, John B. Watson, and B. F. Skinner. However, not everyone agrees that introspection is intrinsically problematic, such as Francisco Varela, who has trained experimental participants in the structured "introspection" of phenomenological reduction.^[4]

Philosophers have long confronted the problem of "qualia". Few philosophers believe that it is possible to be sure that one person's experience of the "redness" of an object is the same as another person's, even if both persons had effectively identical genetic and experiential histories. In principle, the same difficulty arises in feelings (the subjective experience of emotion), in the experience of effort, and especially in the "meaning" of concepts. As a result, many qualitative psychologists have claimed phenomenological inquiry to be essentially a matter of "meaning-making" and thus a question to be addressed by interpretive approaches.^[3]

Psychotherapy and the phenomenology of emotion

Carl Rogers' person-centered psychotherapy theory is based directly on the "phenomenal field" personality theory of Combs and Snygg (1949).^[6] That theory in turn was grounded in phenomenological thinking.^[7] Rogers attempts to put a therapist in closer contact with a person by listening to the person's report of their recent subjective experiences, especially emotions of which the person is not fully aware. For example, in relationships the problem at hand is often not based around what actually happened but, instead, based around the perceptions and feelings of each individual in the relationship. The phenomenal field focuses on "how one feels right now".

Notes

- [1] Giorgi, Amedeo. (1970). Psychology as a Human Science. New York : Harper & Row.
- [2] Giorgi, Amedeo. (2009). The Descriptive Phenomenological Method in Psychology. Duquesne University Press: Pittsburgh, PA.
- [3] Langdridge, D. (2006). Phenomenological psychology: theory, research and method. Harlow: Pearson.
- [4] Varela, F.J. (1996). Neurophenomenology: a methodological remedy to the hard problem. Journal of Consciousness Studies, 3330-350.
- [5] Seidner, Stanley S. (1989). "Köhler's Dilemma", In *Issues of Language Assessment*. vol 3. Ed., Stanley S.Seidner. Springfield, Il.: State Board of Education. pp. 5–6.
- [6] Rogers, Carl R. (1951) Client-Centered Therapy. Boston: Houghton Mifflin.
- [7] (http://webspace.ship.edu/cgboer/snygg&combs.html) Boeree, C. George, Donald Snygg and Arthur Combs in *Personality Theory* retrieved Oct. 7, 2007

References

• Snygg, Donald and Combs, Arthur W. (1949), *Individual Behavior: A New Frame of Reference for Psychology*. New York, Harper & Brothers.

External links

 Snygg, Donald (1941) The Need For A Phenomenological System of Psychology *Psychol. Rev.* 48,404-424. (http://web.archive.org/web/20091028150206/http://geocities.com/csnygg99/Don/PsycRev41/text.html)

Existential phenomenology

Existential phenomenology is a philosophical current inspired by Martin Heidegger's 1927 work *Sein und Zeit* (Being and Time) and influenced by the existential work of Søren Kierkegaard and the phenomenological work of Edmund Husserl.

In contrast with his former mentor Husserl, Heidegger put ontology before epistemology and thought that phenomenology would have to be based on an observation and analysis of *Dasein* ("being-there"), human being, investigating the fundamental ontology of the *Lebenswelt* (Lifeworld - Husserl's term) underlying all so-called regional ontologies of the special sciences. In contrast with the philosopher Kierkegaard, Heidegger wanted to explore the problem of *Dasein* existentially (*existenzial*), rather than existentially (*existenziell*) because Heidegger argued Kierkegaard had already described the latter with "penetrating fashion".

Development of existential phenomenology

Besides Heidegger, other existential phenomenologists were Hannah Arendt, Emmanuel Levinas, Gabriel Marcel, Jean-Paul Sartre, Maurice Merleau-Ponty, and Samuel Todes.

Other disciplines

Existential phenomenology extends also to other disciplines. For example, Leo Steinberg's momentous essay "The Philosophical Brothel" describes Picasso's *Les Demoiselles d'Avignon* in a perspective that is existential-phenomenological.

Martin Heidegger

Full name	Martin Heidegger	
D		
Born	September 26, 1889	
	Meßkirch, Baden, Germany	
Died	26 May 1976 (aged 86)	
	Freiburg im Breisgau, Baden-Württemberg, Germany	
Era	20th-century philosophy	
Region	Western philosophy	
School	Phenomenology · Hermeneutics · Existentialism	
Main interests	$Ontology \cdot Metaphysics \cdot Art \cdot Greek \ philosophy \cdot Technology \cdot Language \cdot Poetry \cdot Thinking$	
Notable ideas	Dasein · Gestell · Heideggerian terminology	

Martin Heidegger

Martin Heidegger (September 26, 1889 – May 26, 1976; German pronunciation: ['maɐ̯tiːn 'haɪdɛɡɐ]) was a German philosopher known for his existential and phenomenological explorations of the "question of Being."^[1]

His central belief was that philosophy, and society as a whole, was preoccupied with what it is that exists. His belief was that we find ourselves "always already" fallen into a world that already existed. But he insisted that we had forgotten the basic question of what it is to exist, of what being itself is. This question defines our central nature. He argued that we are practical agents, caring and concerned about our projects in the world, and allowing it to reveal, or 'unconceal' itself to us. He came to believe that our proactive interference and manipulation of reality is often harmful and hides our true being as essentially limited participants, not masters, of the world which we discover.

Heidegger wrote about these issues in his best-known book, *Being and Time* (1927), which is considered to be one of the most important philosophical works of the 20th century.^[2] Heidegger's views have implications beyond philosophy, in literature,^[3] psychology,^[4] theology^[5] and artificial intelligence.^[6]

He remains controversial due to his membership in the Nazi Party and statements in support of Adolf Hitler, for which he never apologized or expressed regret.^[7]

Overview

Heidegger claimed that Western philosophy since Plato, has misunderstood what it means for something "to be", tending to approach this question in terms of *a* being, rather than asking about Being itself. In other words, Heidegger believed all investigations of being have historically focused on particular entities and their properties, or have treated Being itself as an entity, or substance, with properties. A more authentic analysis of being would, for Heidegger, investigate "that on the basis of which beings are already understood," or that which underlies all particular entities and allows them to show up *as* entities in the first place (see world disclosure).^[8] But since philosophers and scientists have overlooked the more basic, pre-theoretical ways of being from which their theories derive, and since they have incorrectly applied those theories universally, they have confused our understanding of being and human existence. To avoid these deep-rooted misconceptions, Heidegger believed philosophy.

Heidegger argued that this misunderstanding, beginning with Plato, has left its traces in every stage of Western thought. All that we understand, from the way we speak to our notions of "common sense", is susceptible to error, to fundamental mistakes about the nature of being. These mistakes filter into the terms through which being is articulated in the history of philosophy—such as reality, logic, God, consciousness, and presence. In his later

philosophy, Heidegger argues that this profoundly affects the way in which human beings relate to modern technology.

The Internet Encyclopedia of Philosophy states that his writing is 'notoriously difficult', possibly because his thinking was 'original' and clearly on obscure and innovative topics.^[9] Heidegger accepted this charge, stating 'Making itself intelligible is suicide for philosophy', and suggesting that intelligibility is what he is critically trying to examine.^[10]

Heidegger's work has strongly influenced philosophy, aesthetics of literature, and the humanities. Within philosophy it played a crucial role in the development of existentialism, hermeneutics, deconstructionism, postmodernism, and continental philosophy in general. Well-known philosophers such as Karl Jaspers, Leo Strauss, Ahmad Fardid, Hans-Georg Gadamer, Jean-Paul Sartre, Emmanuel Lévinas, Hannah Arendt, Maurice Merleau-Ponty, Michel Foucault, Richard Rorty, William E. Connolly, and Jacques Derrida have all analyzed Heidegger's work.

Heidegger supported National Socialism and was a member of the Nazi Party from May 1933 until May 1945.^[11] His defenders, notably Hannah Arendt, see this support as arguably a personal " 'error' " (a word which Arendt placed in quotation marks when referring to Heidegger's Nazi-era politics).^[12] Defenders think this error was largely irrelevant to Heidegger's philosophy. Critics, such as his former students Emmanuel Levinas^[13] and Karl Löwith,^[14] claim that Heidegger's support for National Socialism revealed flaws inherent in his thought.^[15]

Biography

Early years

Heidegger was born in rural Meßkirch, Germany. Raised a Roman Catholic, he was the son of the sexton of the village church, Friedrich Heidegger, and his wife Johanna, née Kempf. In their faith, his parents adhered to the First Vatican Council of 1870, which was observed mainly by the poorer class of Meßkirch. The religious controversy between the wealthy *Altkatholiken* and the working class led to the temporary use of a converted barn for the Roman Catholics. At the festive reunion of the congregation in 1895, the Old Catholic sexton handed the key to six-year-old Martin.

Heidegger's family could not afford to send him to university, so he entered a Jesuit seminary, though he was turned away within weeks



The Mesnerhaus in Meßkirch, where Heidegger grew up.

because of the health requirement, and what he described as a psychosomatic heart condition.^[16] Heidegger later left Catholicism, describing it as incompatible with his philosophy. After studying theology at the University of Freiburg from 1909 to 1911, he switched to philosophy, in part again because of his heart condition. Heidegger completed his doctoral thesis on psychologism in 1914 influenced by Neo-Thomism and Neo-Kantianism,^[17] and in 1916 finished his *venia legendi* with a thesis on Duns Scotus influenced by Heinrich Rickert and Edmund Husserl.^[18] In the two years following, he worked first as an unsalaried Privatdozent, then served as a soldier during the final year of World War I, working behind a desk and never leaving Germany. After the war, he served as a salaried senior assistant to Edmund Husserl at the University of Freiburg from 1919 until 1923.

Marburg

In 1923, Heidegger was elected to an extraordinary Professorship in Philosophy at the University of Marburg. His colleagues there included Rudolf Bultmann, Nicolai Hartmann, and Paul Natorp. Heidegger's students at Marburg included Hans-Georg Gadamer, Hannah Arendt, Karl Löwith, Gerhard Krüger, Leo Strauss, Jacob Klein, Gunther (Stern) Anders, and Hans Jonas. Through a confrontation with Aristotle he began to develop in his lectures the main theme of his philosophy: the question of the sense of being. He extended the concept of subject to the dimension of history and concrete existence, which he found prefigured in such Christian thinkers as Saint Paul, Augustine of Hippo, Luther, and Kierkegaard. He also read the works of Dilthey, Husserl, and Max Scheler.^[19]

Freiburg

In 1927, Heidegger published his main work *Sein und Zeit (Being and Time)*. When Husserl retired as Professor of Philosophy in 1928, Heidegger accepted Freiburg's election to be his successor, in spite of a counter-offer by Marburg. Heidegger remained at Freiburg im Breisgau for the rest of his life, declining a number of later offers, including one from Humboldt University of Berlin. His students at Freiburg included Charles Malik, Herbert Marcuse, and Ernst Nolte. Emmanuel Levinas attended his lecture courses during his stay in Freiburg in 1928.

Heidegger was elected rector of the University on April 21, 1933, and joined the National Socialist German Workers' (Nazi) Party on May 1.^[20] In his inaugural address as rector on May 27, and in political speeches and articles from the same year, he expressed his support for the Nazi cause and its leader, Adolf Hitler.^[21] He resigned the rectorate in April 1934, but remained a member of the Nazi party until 1945.^[22]

Post-war

In late 1946, as France engaged in *épuration légale*, the French military authorities determined that Heidegger should be forbidden from teaching or participating in any university activities because of his association with the Nazi Party.^[23] The denazification procedures against Heidegger continued until March 1949, when he was finally pronounced a "*Mitläufer*" (literally, mit=with, Läufer=runner, i.e. "one who runs along with", but the equivalent meaning in English is closer to "bandwagon effect" or "herd instinct", standing for the notion that people often do and believe things merely because many *other* people do and believe the same things) of National Socialism, and no punitive measures against him were proposed. This opened the way for his readmission to teaching at Freiburg University in the winter semester of 1950–51.^[24] He was granted emeritus status and then taught regularly from 1951 until 1958, and by invitation until 1967.

Personal life



of them after the war.^[26]

Heidegger married Elfride Petri on March 21, 1917, in a Catholic ceremony officiated by his friend Engelbert Krebs, and a week later in a Protestant ceremony in the presence of her parents. Their first son Jörg was born in 1919. According to published correspondence between the spouses,^[25] Hermann (born 1920) is the son of Elfride and Friedel Caesar.

Martin Heidegger had extramarital affairs with Hannah Arendt and Elisabeth Blochmann, both students of his. Arendt was Jewish, and Blochmann had one Jewish parent, making them subject to severe persecution by the Nazi authorities. He helped Blochmann emigrate from Germany prior to World War II, and resumed contact with both Heidegger spent much time at his vacation home at Todtnauberg, on the edge of the Black Forest. He considered the seclusion provided by the forest to be the best environment in which to engage in philosophical thought.^[27]

Heidegger died on May 26, 1976, and was buried in the Meßkirch cemetery.

Philosophy

Being, time, and Dasein

Heidegger's philosophy is founded on the attempt to conjoin what he considers two fundamental insights:

The first is his observation that, in the course of over 2,000 years of history, philosophy has attended to all the beings that can be found in the world (including the "world" itself), but has forgotten to ask what "being" itself is. This is Heidegger's "question of being," and it is Heidegger's fundamental concern throughout his work. One crucial source of this insight was Heidegger's reading of Franz Brentano's treatise on Aristotle's manifold uses of the word "being," a work which provoked Heidegger to ask what kind of unity



Heidegger's grave in Meßkirch

underlies this multiplicity of uses. Heidegger opens his *magnum opus*, *Being and Time*, with a citation from Plato's *Sophist*^[28] indicating that Western philosophy has neglected "being" because it was considered obvious, rather than as worthy of question. Heidegger's intuition about the question of being is thus a historical argument, which in his later work becomes his concern with the "history of being," that is, the history of the forgetting of being, which according to Heidegger requires that philosophy retrace its footsteps through a productive "destruction" of the history of philosophy.

The second intuition animating Heidegger's philosophy derives from the influence of Edmund Husserl, a philosopher largely uninterested in questions of philosophical history. Rather, Husserl argued that all that philosophy could and should be is a description of experience (hence the phenomenological slogan, "to the things themselves"). But for Heidegger, this meant understanding that experience is always already situated in a world and in ways of being. Thus Husserl's understanding that all consciousness is "intentional" (in the sense that it is always intended toward something, and is always "about" something) is transformed in Heidegger's philosophy, becoming the thought that all experience is grounded in "care." This is the basis of Heidegger's "existential analytic", as he develops it in Being and Time. Heidegger argues that to describe experience properly entails finding the being for whom such a description might matter. Heidegger thus conducts his description of experience with reference to "Dasein," the being for whom being is a question.^[29] In Being and Time, Heidegger criticized the abstract and metaphysical character of traditional ways of grasping human existence as rational animal, person, man, soul, spirit, or subject. Dasein, then, is not intended as a way of conducting a philosophical anthropology, but is rather understood by Heidegger to be the condition of possibility for anything like a philosophical anthropology.^[30] Dasein, according to Heidegger, is care. In the course of his existential analytic, Heidegger argues that Dasein, who finds itself thrown into the world amidst things and with others, is thrown into its possibilities, including the possibility and inevitability of one's own mortality. The need for Dasein to assume these possibilities, that is, the need to be responsible for one's own existence, is the basis of Heidegger's notions of authenticity and resoluteness—that is, of those specific possibilities for *Dasein* which depend on escaping the "vulgar" temporality of calculation and of public life.

The marriage of these two observations depends on the fact that each of them is essentially concerned with time. That *Dasein* is thrown into an already existing world and thus into its mortal possibilities does not only mean that *Dasein* is an essentially temporal being; it also implies that the description of *Dasein* can only be carried out in terms inherited from the Western tradition itself. For Heidegger, unlike for Husserl, philosophical terminology could not be divorced from the history of the use of that terminology, and thus genuine philosophy could not avoid confronting questions of language and meaning. The existential analytic of *Being and Time* was thus always only a first step in Heidegger's philosophy, to be followed by the "dismantling" (*Destruktion*) of the history of philosophy, that is, a transformation of its language and meaning, that would have made of the existential analytic only a kind of "limit case" (in the sense in which special relativity is a limit case of general relativity).

That Heidegger did not write this second part of *Being and Time*, and that the existential analytic was left behind in the course of Heidegger's subsequent writings on the history of being, might be interpreted as a failure to conjugate his account of *individual* experience with his account of the vicissitudes of the *collective* human adventure that he understands the Western philosophical tradition to be. And this would in turn raise the question of whether this failure is due to a flaw in Heidegger's account of temporality, that is, of whether Heidegger was correct to oppose vulgar and authentic time.^[31]

Being and Time



Todtnauberg. Heidegger wrote most of *Being and Time* there.

Being and Time (German title: *Sein und Zeit*), published in 1927, is Heidegger's first academic book. He had been under pressure to publish in order to qualify for Husserl's chair at University of Freiburg and the success of this work ensured his appointment to the post.

It investigates the question of being by asking about the being for whom being is a question. Heidegger names this being *Dasein* (see above), and the book pursues its investigation through themes such as mortality, care, anxiety, temporality, and historicity. It was Heidegger's original intention to write a second half of the book, consisting of a "*Destruktion*" of the history of philosophy—that is, the transformation of philosophy by re-tracing its history—but he never completed this project.

Being and Time influenced many thinkers, including such existentialist thinkers as Jean-Paul Sartre (although Heidegger distanced himself from existentialism—see below).

Later works: a 'Turn'?

Heidegger's later works, after the Second World War, seem to many commentators (e.g. William J. Richardson^[32]) to at least reflect a shift of focus, if not indeed a major change in his philosophical outlook. One way this has been understood is as a shift from "doing" to "dwelling". However, others feel that this is to overstate the difference. For example, in 2011 Mark Wrathall^[33] argued that Heidegger pursued and refined the central notion of unconcealment throughout his life as a philosopher. Its importance and continuity in his thinking, Wrathall states, shows that he did not have a 'turn'. A reviewer of Wrathall's book stated: "An ontology of unconcealment ... means a description and analysis of the broad contexts in which entities show up as meaningful to us, as well as the conditions under which such contexts, or worlds, emerge and fade."^[34]



"Am Feldweg" in Meßkirch. Heidegger often went for a walk on the path in this field. See the text "Der Feldweg" GA Nr. 13

Heidegger focuses less on the way in which the structures of being are revealed in everyday behavior, and more on the way in which behavior itself depends on a prior "openness to being." The essence of being human is the maintenance of this openness. Heidegger contrasts this openness to the "will to power" of the modern human subject, which is one way of forgetting this originary openness.

Heidegger understands the commencement of the history of Western philosophy as a brief period of authentic openness to being, during the time of the pre-Socratics, especially Anaximander, Heraclitus, and Parmenides. This was followed, according to Heidegger, by a long period increasingly dominated by the forgetting of this initial openness, a period which commences with Plato, and which occurs in different ways throughout Western history.

Two recurring themes of Heidegger's later writings are poetry and technology. Heidegger sees poetry and technology as two contrasting ways of "revealing." Poetry reveals being in the way in which, if it is genuine poetry, it commences something new. Technology, on the other hand, when it gets going, inaugurates the world of the dichotomous subject and object, which modern philosophy commencing with Descartes also reveals. But with *modern* technology a new stage of revealing is reached, in which the subject-object distinction is overcome even in the "material" world of technology. The essence of modern technology available for any use to which humans choose to put it. Heidegger described the essence of modern technology as *Gestell*, or "enframing." Heidegger does not unequivocally condemn technology: while he acknowledges that modern technology contains grave dangers, Heidegger nevertheless also argues that it may constitute a chance for human beings to enter a new epoch in their relation to being. Despite this, some commentators have insisted that an agrarian nostalgia permeates his later work.

In a 1950 lecture he formulated the famous saying *Language speaks*, later published in the 1959 essays collection *Unterwegs zur Sprache*, and collected in the 1971 English book *Poetry*, *Language*, *Thought*.^{[35] [36] [37]}

Heidegger's later works include Vom Wesen der Wahrheit ("On the Essence of Truth", 1930), Der Ursprung des Kunstwerkes ("The Origin of the Work of Art", 1935), Einführung in die Metaphysik ("Introduction to Metaphysics", 1935), Bauen Wohnen Denken ("Building Dwelling Thinking", 1951), and Die Frage nach der Technik ("The Question Concerning Technology", 1954) and Was heisst Denken? ("What Is Called Thinking?" 1954). Also Beiträge zur Philosophie (Vom Ereignis) (Contributions to Philosophy (From Enowning)), composed in the years 1936–38 but not published until 1989, on the centennial of Heidegger's birth.

Influences

St. Augustine of Hippo

Recent scholarship has shown that Heidegger was substantially influenced by St. Augustine of Hippo and that Martin Heidegger's *Being and Time* would not have been possible without the influence of Augustine's thought. Augustine's *Confessions* was particularly influential in shaping Heidegger's thought.^[38]

Aristotle and the Greeks

Heidegger was influenced at an early age by Aristotle, mediated through Catholic theology, medieval philosophy, and Franz Brentano. Aristotle's ethical, logical, and metaphysical works were crucial to the development of his thought in the crucial period of the 1920s. Although he later worked less on Aristotle, Heidegger recommended postponing reading Nietzsche, and to "first study Aristotle for ten to fifteen years."^[39] In reading Aristotle, Heidegger increasingly contested the traditional Latin translation and scholastic interpretation of his thought. Particularly important (not least for its influence upon others, both in their interpretation of Aristotle and in rehabilitating a neo-Aristotelian "practical philosophy")^[40] was his radical reinterpretation of Book Six of Aristotle's *Nicomachean Ethics* and several books of the *Metaphysics*. Both informed the argument of *Being and Time*.

The idea of asking about being may be traced back via Aristotle to Parmenides. Heidegger claimed to have revived the question of being, the question having been largely forgotten by the metaphysical tradition extending from Plato

to Descartes, a forgetfulness extending to the Age of Enlightenment and then to modern science and technology. In pursuit of the retrieval of this question, Heidegger spent considerable time reflecting on ancient Greek thought, in particular on Plato, Parmenides, Heraclitus, and Anaximander, as well as on the tragic playwright Sophocles.

Dilthey

Heidegger's very early project of developing a "hermeneutics of factical life" and his hermeneutical transformation of phenomenology was influenced in part by his reading of the works of Wilhelm Dilthey.

Of the influence of Dilthey, Hans-Georg Gadamer writes the following: "As far as Dilthey is concerned, we all know today what I have known for a long time: namely that it is a mistake to conclude on the basis of the citation in *Being and Time* that Dilthey was especially influential in the development of Heidegger's thinking in the mid-1920s. This dating of the influence is much too late." He adds that by the fall of 1923 it was plain that Heidegger felt "the clear superiority of Count Yorck over the famous scholar, Dilthey." Gadamer nevertheless makes clear that Dilthey's influence was important in helping the youthful Heidegger "in distancing himself from the systematic ideal of Neo-Kantianism, as Heidegger acknowledges in *Being and Time*."^[41] Based on Heidegger's earliest lecture courses, in which Heidegger already engages Dilthey's thought prior to the period Gadamer mentions as "too late", scholars as diverse as Theodore Kisiel and David Farrell Krell have argued for the importance of Diltheyan concepts and strategies in the formation of Heidegger's thought.^[42]

Even though Gadamer's interpretation of Heidegger has been questioned, there is little doubt that Heidegger seized upon Dilthey's concept of hermeneutics. Heidegger's novel ideas about ontology required a *gestalt* formation, not merely a series of logical arguments, in order to demonstrate his fundamentally new paradigm of thinking, and the hermeneutic circle offered a new and powerful tool for the articulation and realization of these ideas.

Husserl

There is disagreement over the degree of influence that Husserl had on Heidegger's philosophical development, just as there is disagreement about the degree to which Heidegger's philosophy is grounded in phenomenology. These disagreements centre around how much of Husserlian phenomenology is contested by Heidegger, and how much this phenomenology in fact informs Heidegger's own understanding.

On the relation between the two figures, Gadamer wrote: "When asked about phenomenology, Husserl was quite right to answer as he used to in the period directly after World War I: 'Phenomenology, that is me and Heidegger'." Nevertheless, Gadamer noted that Heidegger was no patient collaborator with Husserl, and that Heidegger's "rash ascent to the top, the incomparable fascination he aroused, and his stormy temperament surely must have made Husserl, the patient one, as suspicious of Heidegger as he always had been of Max Scheler's volcanic fire."^[43]

Robert J. Dostal understood the importance of Husserl to be profound:

Heidegger himself, who is supposed to have broken with Husserl, bases his hermeneutics on an account of time that not only parallels Husserl's account in many ways but seems to have been arrived at through the same phenomenological method as was used by Husserl.... The differences between Husserl and Heidegger are significant, but if we do not see how much it is the case that Husserlian phenomenology provides the framework for Heidegger's approach, we will not be able to appreciate the exact nature of Heidegger's project in *Being and Time* or why he let it unfinished.^[44]

Daniel O. Dahlstrom saw Heidegger's presentation of his work as a departure from Husserl as unfairly misrepresenting Husserl's own work. Dahlstrom concluded his consideration of the relation between Heidegger and Husserl as follows:

Heidegger's silence about the stark similarities between his account of temporality and Husserl's investigation of internal time-consciousness contributes to a *misrepresentation* of Husserl's account of intentionality. Contrary to the criticisms Heidegger advances in his lectures, intentionality (and, by implication, the meaning of 'to be') in the final analysis is not construed by Husserl as sheer presence (be

it the presence of a fact or object, act or event). Yet for all its "dangerous closeness" to what Heidegger understands by temporality, Husserl's account of internal time-consciousness does differ fundamentally. In Husserl's account the structure of protentions is accorded neither the finitude nor the primacy that Heidegger claims are central to the original future of ecstatic-horizonal temporality.^[45]

Kierkegaard

Heideggerians regarded Søren Kierkegaard as, by far, the greatest philosophical contributor to Heidegger's own existentialist concepts.^[46] Heidegger's concepts of anxiety (Angst) and mortality draw on Kierkegaard and are indebted to the way in which the latter lays out the importance of our subjective relation to truth, our existence in the face of death, the temporality of existence, and the importance of passionate affirmation of one's individual being-in-the-world.

Hölderlin and Nietzsche

Friedrich Hölderlin and Friedrich Nietzsche were both important influences on Heidegger, and many of his lecture courses were devoted to one or the other, especially in the 1930s and 1940s. The lectures on Nietzsche focused on fragments posthumously published under the title *The Will to Power*, rather than on Nietzsche's published works. Heidegger read *The Will to Power* as the culminating expression of Western metaphysics, and the lectures are a kind of dialogue between the two thinkers.

This is also the case for the lecture courses devoted to the poetry of Friedrich Hölderlin, which became an increasingly central focus of Heidegger's work and thought. Heidegger grants to Hölderlin a singular place within the history of being and the history of Germany, as a herald whose thought is yet to be "heard" in Germany or the West. Many of Heidegger's works from the 1930s onwards include meditations on lines from Hölderlin's poetry, and several of the lecture courses are devoted to the reading of a single poem (see, for example, *Hölderlin's Hymn "The Ister"*).

Heidegger and Eastern thought

Some writers on Heidegger's work see possibilities within it for dialogue with traditions of thought outside of Western philosophy, particularly East Asian thinking. Despite perceived differences between Eastern and Western philosophy, some of Heidegger's later work, particularly "A Dialogue on Language between a Japanese and an Inquirer", does show an interest in initiating such a dialogue.^[47] Heidegger himself had contact with a number of leading Japanese intellectuals, including members of the Kyoto School, notably Hajime Tanabe and Kuki Shūzō. It has also been claimed that a number of elements within Heidegger's thought bear a close parallel to Eastern philosophical ideas, particularly Zen Buddhism and Taoism. Paul Hsao records Chang Chung-Yuan saying that "Heidegger is the only Western Philosopher who not only intellectually understands but has intuitively grasped Taoist thought." Some authors see great influence of Japanese scholars in Heidegger's work, although this influence is not acknowledged by the author.^[48]

Islam

Some scholars interested in the relationships between Western philosophy and the history of ideas in Islam and Arabic philosophical medieval sources may have been influenced by Heidegger's work.^[49] It is claimed the works of counter-enlightenment philosophers such as Heidegger, along with Friedrich Nietzsche and Joseph de Maistre, influenced Iran's Shia Islamists, notably Ali Shariati, in constructing the ideological foundations of the Iranian Revolution and modern political Islam.^[50] [51]

Heidegger and Nazism

The rectorate

Adolf Hitler was sworn in as Chancellor of Germany on January 30, 1933. Heidegger was elected rector of the University of Freiburg on April 21, 1933, and assumed the position the following day. On May 1 he joined the Nazi Party.

Heidegger delivered his inaugural address, the *Rektoratsrede*, on "Die Selbstbehauptung der Deutschen Universität" ("The Self-assertion of the German University") on May 27. Heidegger claimed that: "The German people must choose its future, and this future is bound to the Führer."^[52]

His tenure as rector was fraught with difficulties from the outset. Some National Socialist education officials viewed him as a rival, while

The University of Freiburg, where Heidegger was Rector from April 21, 1933, to April 23, 1934

others saw his efforts as comical. Some of Heidegger's fellow National Socialists also ridiculed his philosophical writings as gibberish. He finally offered his resignation on April 23, 1934, and it was accepted on April 27. Heidegger remained a member of both the academic faculty and of the Nazi Party until the end of the war.

Philosophical historian Hans Sluga wrote:

Though as rector he prevented students from displaying an anti-Semitic poster at the entrance to the university and from holding a book burning, he kept in close contact with the Nazi student leaders and clearly signaled to them his sympathy with their activism.^[53]

In 1945 Heidegger wrote of his term as rector, giving the writing to his son Hermann; it was published in 1983:

The rectorate was an attempt to see something in the movement that had come to power, beyond all its failings and crudeness, that was much more far-reaching and that could perhaps one day bring a concentration on the Germans' Western historical essence. It will in no way be denied that at the time I believed in such possibilities and for that reason renounced the actual vocation of thinking in favor of being effective in an official capacity. In no way will what was caused by my own inadequacy in office be played down. But these points of view do not capture what is essential and what moved me to accept the rectorate.^[54]

Treatment of Husserl

Beginning in 1917, German-Jewish philosopher Edmund Husserl championed Heidegger's work, and helped him secure the retiring Husserl's chair in Philosophy at the University of Freiburg.^[55]

On April 6, 1933, the Reichskommissar of Baden Province, Robert Wagner, suspended all Jewish government employees, including present and retired faculty at the University of Freiburg. Heidegger's predecessor as Rector formally notified Husserl of his "enforced leave of absence" on April 14, 1933.

Heidegger became Rector of the University of Freiburg on April 22, 1933. The following week the national Reich law of April 28, 1933, replaced Reichskommissar Wagner's decree. The Reich law required the firing of Jewish professors from German universities, including those, such as Husserl, who had converted to Christianity. The termination of the retired professor Husserl's academic privileges thus did not involve any specific action on Heidegger's part.^[56]

Heidegger had by then broken off contact with Husserl, other than through intermediaries. Heidegger later claimed that his relationship with Husserl had already become strained after Husserl publicly "settled accounts" with Heidegger and Max Scheler in the early 1930s.^[57]

Heidegger did not attend his former mentor's cremation in 1938. In 1941, under pressure from publisher Max Niemeyer, Heidegger agreed to remove the dedication to Husserl from *Being and Time* (restored in post-war editions).^[58]

Heidegger's behavior towards Husserl has evoked controversy. Hannah Arendt initially suggested that Heidegger's behavior precipitated Husserl's death. She called Heidegger a "potential murderer." However, she later recanted her accusation.^[59]

Post-rectorate period

After the failure of Heidegger's rectorship, he withdrew from most political activity, without canceling his membership in the NSDAP (Nazi Party). Nevertheless, references to National Socialism continued to appear in his work.

The most controversial such reference occurred during a 1935 lecture which was published in 1953 as part of the book *Introduction to Metaphysics*. In the published version, Heidegger refers to the "inner truth and greatness" of the National Socialist movement (*die innere Wahrheit und Größe dieser Bewegung*), but he then adds a qualifying statement in parentheses: "namely, the confrontation of planetary technology and modern humanity" (*nämlich die Begegnung der planetarisch bestimmten Technik und des neuzeitlichen Menschen*). However, it subsequently transpired that this qualification had not been made during the original lecture, although Heidegger claimed that it had been. This has led scholars to argue that Heidegger still supported the Nazi party in 1935 but that he did not want to admit this after the war, and so he attempted to silently correct his earlier statement.^[60]

In private notes written in 1939, Heidegger took a strongly critical view of Hitler's ideology,^[61] however in public lectures he seems to have continued to make ambiguous comments which, if they expressed criticism of the regime, did so only in the context of praising its ideals. For instance, in a 1942 lecture, published posthumously, Heidegger said of recent German classics scholarship: "In the majority of 'research results', the Greeks appear as pure National Socialists. This overenthusiasm on the part of academics seems not even to notice that with such "results" it does National Socialism and its historical uniqueness no service at all, not that it needs this anyhow.^[62]

An important witness to Heidegger's continued allegiance to National Socialism during the post-rectorship period is his former student Karl Löwith, who met Heidegger in 1936 while Heidegger was visiting Rome. In an account set down in 1940 (though not intended for publication), Löwith recalled that Heidegger wore a swastika pin to their meeting, though Heidegger knew that Löwith was Jewish. Löwith also recalled that Heidegger "left no doubt about his faith in Hitler", and stated that his support for National Socialism was in agreement with the essence of his philosophy.^[63]

Post-war period

After the end of World War II, Heidegger was summoned to appear at a denazification hearing. Heidegger's former lover Hannah Arendt spoke on his behalf at this hearing, while Jaspers spoke against him. The result of the hearings was that Heidegger was forbidden to teach between 1945 and 1951. One consequence of this teaching ban was that Heidegger began to engage far more in the French philosophical scene.^[64]

In his postwar thinking, Heidegger distanced himself from Nazism, but his critical comments about Nazism seem "scandalous" to some since they tend to equate the Nazi war atrocities with other inhumane practices related to rationalisation and industrialisation, including the treatment of animals by factory farming. For instance in a lecture delivered at Bremen in 1949, Heidegger said: "Agriculture is now a motorized food industry, the same thing in its essence as the production of corpses in the gas chambers and the extermination camps, the same thing as blockades and the reduction of countries to famine, the same thing as the manufacture of hydrogen bombs."^[65]

In 1967 Heidegger met with the Jewish poet Paul Celan, a concentration camp survivor. Celan visited Heidegger at his country retreat and wrote an enigmatic poem about the meeting, which some interpret as Celan's wish for Heidegger to apologize for his behavior during the Nazi era.

The Der Spiegel interview

On September 23, 1966, Heidegger was interviewed by Rudolf Augstein and Georg Wolff ^[66] for *Der Spiegel* magazine, in which he agreed to discuss his political past provided that the interview be published posthumously (it was published on May 31, 1976). In the interview, Heidegger defended his entanglement with National Socialism in two ways: first, he argued that there was no alternative, saying that he was trying to save the university (and science in general) from being politicized and thus had to compromise with the Nazi administration. Second, he admitted that he saw an "awakening" ("*Aufbruch*") which might help to find a "new national and social approach", but said that he changed his mind about this in 1934, largely prompted by the violence of the Night of the Long Knives.

In his interview Heidegger defended as double-speak his 1935 lecture describing the "inner truth and greatness of this movement." He affirmed that Nazi informants who observed his lectures would understand that by "movement" he meant National Socialism. However, Heidegger asserted that his dedicated students would know this statement was no eulogy for the NSDAP. Rather, he meant it as he expressed it in the parenthetical clarification later added to *Introduction to Metaphysics* (1953), namely, "the confrontation of planetary technology and modern humanity."

The Löwith account from 1936 has been cited to contradict the account given in the *Der Spiegel* interview in two ways: that there he did not make any decisive break with National Socialism in 1934, and that Heidegger was willing to entertain more profound relations between his philosophy and political involvement. The *Der Spiegel* interviewers did not bring up Heidegger's 1949 quotation comparing the industrialization of agriculture to the extermination camps. In fact, the interviewers were not in possession of much of the evidence now known for Heidegger's Nazi sympathies.^[67]

Influence and reception in France

Heidegger was one of the most influential philosophers of the 20th century, and his ideas have penetrated into many areas, but in France there is a very long and particular history of reading and interpreting his work.

Existentialism and pre-war influence

Heidegger's influence on French philosophy began in the 1930s, when *Being and Time*, "What is Metaphysics?" and other Heideggerian texts were read by Jean-Paul Sartre and other existentialists, as well as by thinkers such as Emmanuel Levinas, Alexandre Kojève and Georges Bataille.^[68] Because Heidegger's discussion of ontology (the study of being) is rooted in an analysis of the mode of existence of individual human beings (*Da-sein*, or there-being), his work has often been associated with existentialism. The influence of Heidegger on Sartre's *Being and Nothingness* is marked, but Heidegger felt that Sartre had misread his work, as he argued in later texts such as the "Letter on 'Humanism'." In that text, intended for a French audience, Heidegger explained this misreading in the following terms:

Sartre's key proposition about the priority of *existentia* over *essentia* [that is, Sartre's statement that "existence precedes essence"] does, however, justify using the name "existentialism" as an appropriate title for a philosophy of this sort. But the basic tenet of "existentialism" has nothing at all in common with the statement from *Being and Time* [that "the 'essence' of Dasein lies in its existence"]—apart from the fact that in *Being and Time* no statement about the relation of *essentia* and *existentia* can yet be expressed, since there it is still a question of preparing something precursory.^[69]

"Letter on 'Humanism'" is often seen as a direct response to Sartre's 1945 lecture "Existentialism is a Humanism." Aside from merely disputing readings of his own work, however, in "Letter on 'Humanism," Heidegger asserts that "Every humanism is either grounded in a metaphysics or is itself made to be the ground of one." Heidegger's largest issue with Sartre's existential humanism is that, while it does make a humanistic 'move' in privileging existence over essence, "the reversal of a metaphysical statement remains a metaphysical statement." From this point onward in his thought, Heidegger attempted to think beyond metaphysics to a place where the articulation of the fundamental

questions of ontology were fundamentally possible: only from this point can we restore (that is, re-give [redonner]) any possible meaning to the word "humanism".

Post-war forays into France

After the war, Heidegger was banned from university teaching for a period on account of his activities as Rector of Freiburg University. He developed a number of contacts in France, where his work continued to be taught, and a number of French students visited him at Todtnauberg (see, for example, Jean-François Lyotard's brief account in *Heidegger and "the jews"*, which discusses a Franco-German conference held in Freiburg in 1947, one step toward bringing together French and German students). Heidegger subsequently made several visits to France, and made efforts to keep abreast of developments in French philosophy by way of correspondence with Jean Beaufret, an early French translator of Heidegger, and with Lucien Braun.

Derrida and deconstruction

Deconstruction came to Heidegger's attention in 1967 by way of Lucien Braun's recommendation of Jacques Derrida's work (Hans-Georg Gadamer was present at an initial discussion and indicated to Heidegger that Derrida's work came to his attention by way of an assistant). Heidegger expressed interest in meeting Derrida personally after the latter sent him some of his work. There was discussion of a meeting in 1972, but this failed to take place. Heidegger's interest in Derrida is said by Braun to have been considerable (as is evident in two letters, of September 29, 1967 and May 16, 1972, from Heidegger to Braun). Braun also brought to Heidegger's attention the work of Michel Foucault. Foucault's relation to Heidegger is a matter of considerable difficulty; Foucault acknowledged Heidegger as a philosopher whom he read but never wrote about. (For more on this see *Penser à Strasbourg*, Jacques Derrida, et al., which includes reproductions of both letters and an account by Braun, "À mi-chemin entre Heidegger et Derrida").

Jacques Derrida made emphatic efforts to displace the understanding of Heidegger's work that had been prevalent in France from the period of the ban against Heidegger teaching in German universities, which amounted to an almost wholesale rejection of the influence of Jean-Paul Sartre and existentialist terms. In Derrida's view, deconstruction is a tradition inherited via Heidegger (the French term "déconstruction" is a term coined to translate Heidegger's use of the words "Destruktion"—literally "destruction"—and "Abbau"—more literally "de-building"). According to Derrida, Sartre's interpretation of Dasein and other key Heideggerian concerns is overly psychologistic, anthropocentric, and misses the historicality central to *Dasein* in *Being and Time*. Because of Derrida's vehement attempts to "rescue" Heidegger from his existentialist interpreters (and also from Heidegger's "orthodox" followers), Derrida has at times been represented as a "French Heidegger", to the extent that he, his colleagues, and his former students are made to go proxy for Heidegger's worst (political) mistakes, despite ample evidence that the reception of Heidegger's work by later practitioners of deconstruction is anything but doctrinaire.

The Farías debate

Derrida, Lacoue-Labarthe, and Jean-François Lyotard, among others, all engaged in debate and disagreement about the relation between Heidegger's philosophy and his Nazi politics. These debates included the question of whether it was possible to do without Heidegger's philosophy, a position which Derrida in particular rejected. Forums where these debates took place include the proceedings of the first conference dedicated to Derrida's work, published as "Les Fins de l'homme à partir du travail de Jacques Derrida: colloque de Cerisy, 23 juillet-2 août 1980", Derrida's "Feu la cendre/cio' che resta del fuoco", and the studies on Paul Celan by Lacoue-Labarthe and Derrida which shortly preceded the detailed studies of Heidegger's politics published in and after 1987.

When in 1987 Víctor Farías published his book *Heidegger et le nazisme*, this debate was taken up by many others, some of whom were inclined to disparage so-called "deconstructionists" for their association with Heidegger's philosophy. Derrida and others not only continued to defend the importance of reading Heidegger, but attacked

Farías on the grounds of poor scholarship and for what they saw as the sensationalism of his approach. Not all scholars agreed with this negative assessment: Richard Rorty, for example, declared that "[Farias'] book includes more concrete information relevant to Heidegger's relations with the Nazis than anything else available, and it is an excellent antidote to the evasive apologetics that are still being published."^[70]

Bernard Stiegler

More recently, Heidegger's thought has considerably influenced the work of the French philosopher Bernard Stiegler. This is evident even from the title of Stiegler's multi-volume *magnum opus*, *La technique et le temps* (volume one translated into English as *Technics and Time*, *1: The Fault of Epimetheus*).^[71] Stiegler offers an original reading of Heidegger, arguing that there can be no access to "originary temporality" other than via material, that is, technical, supports, and that Heidegger recognised this in the form of his account of world historicality, yet in the end suppressed that fact. Stiegler understands the existential analytic of *Being and Time* as an account of psychic individuation, and his later "history of being" as an account of collective individuation. He understands many of the problems of Heidegger's philosophy and politics as the consequence of Heidegger's inability to integrate the two.

Criticism

Heidegger's influence upon 20th century continental philosophy is unquestioned and has produced a variety of critical responses.

Early criticisms

The content of *Being and Time*, according to Husserl, claimed to deal with ontology, but from Husserl's perspective only did so in the first few pages of the book. Having nothing further to contribute to an ontology independent of human existence, Heidegger changed the topic to *Dasein*. Whereas Heidegger argued that the question of human existence is central to the pursuit of the question of being, Husserl criticized this as reducing phenomenology to "philosophical anthropology" and offering an abstract and incorrect portrait of the human being.^[72]

The Neo-Kantian Ernst Cassirer and Heidegger engaged in an influential debate located in Davos in 1929, concerning the significance of Kantian notions of freedom and rationality. Whereas Cassirer defended the role of rationality in Kant, Heidegger argued for the priority of the imagination. Dilthey's student Georg Misch wrote the first extended critical appropriation of Heidegger in *Lebensphilosophie und Phänomenologie. Eine Auseinandersetzung der Diltheyschen Richtung mit Heidegger und Husserl*, Leipzig 1930 (3. ed. Stuttgart 1964).

Left-Hegelianism and critical theory

Hegel-influenced Marxist thinkers, especially György Lukács and the Frankfurt School, associated the style and content of Heidegger's thought with German irrationalism and criticized its political implications.

Initially members of the Frankfurt School were positively disposed to Heidegger, becoming more critical at the beginning of the 1930s. Heidegger's student Herbert Marcuse became associated with the Frankfurt School. Initially striving for a synthesis between Hegelian-Marxism and Heidegger's phenomenology, Marcuse later rejected Heidegger's thought for its "false concreteness" and "revolutionary conservativism." Theodor Adorno wrote an extended critique of the ideological character of Heidegger's early and later use of language in the *Jargon of Authenticity*. Contemporary social theorists associated with the Frankfurt School have remained largely critical of Heidegger's works and influence. In particular, Jürgen Habermas admonishes the influence of Heidegger on recent French philosophy in his polemic against "postmodernism" in *The Philosophical Discourse of Modernity* (1985). However, recent work by philosopher and critical theorist Nikolas Kompridis tries to show that Heidegger's insights into world disclosure are badly misunderstood and mishandled by Habermas, and are of vital importance for critical theory, offering an important way of renewing that tradition.^[73] ^[74]

Reception by Analytic and Anglo-American philosophy

Criticism of Heidegger's philosophy has also come from analytic philosophy, beginning with logical positivism. In "The Elimination of Metaphysics Through Logical Analysis of Language" (1932), Rudolf Carnap accused Heidegger of offering an "illusory" ontology, criticizing him for committing the fallacy of reification and for wrongly dismissing the logical treatment of language which, according to Carnap, can only lead to writing "nonsensical pseudo-propositions."

A strong critic of Heidegger's philosophy was the British logical positivist A. J. Ayer. In Ayer's view, Heidegger proposed vast, overarching theories regarding existence, which are completely unverifiable through empirical demonstration and logical analysis. For Ayer, this sort of philosophy was a poisonous strain in modern thought. He considered Heidegger to be the worst example of such philosophy, which Ayer believed to be entirely useless.

Bertrand Russell commented, expressing the sentiments of many mid-20th-century analytic philosophers, that:

Highly eccentric in its terminology, his philosophy is extremely obscure. One cannot help suspecting that language is here running riot. An interesting point in his speculations is the insistence that nothingness is something positive. As with much else in Existentialism, this is a psychological observation made to pass for logic.^[75]

Roger Scruton stated that: "His major work *Being and Time* is formidably difficult—unless it is utter nonsense, in which case it is laughably easy. I am not sure how to judge it, and have read no commentator who even begins to make sense of it".^[76]

The analytic tradition values clarity of expression. Heidegger, however, has on occasion appeared to take an opposing view, stating for example that "those in the crossing must in the end know what is mistaken by all urging for intelligibility: that every thinking of being, all philosophy, can *never* be confirmed by 'facts,' i.e., by beings. Making itself intelligible is suicide for philosophy. Those who idolize 'facts' never notice that their idols only shine in a borrowed light. They are also meant not to notice this; for thereupon they would have to be at a loss and therefore useless. But idolizers and idols are used wherever gods are in flight and so announce *their* nearness."^[10] Apart from the charge of obscurantism, other analytic philosophers considered the actual content of Heidegger's work to be either faulty and meaningless, vapid or uninteresting.

Not all analytic philosophers, however, have been as hostile. Gilbert Ryle wrote a critical yet positive review of *Being and Time*. Ludwig Wittgenstein made a remark recorded by Friedrich Waismann: "To be sure, I can imagine what Heidegger means by being and anxiety"^[77] which has been construed by some commentators as sympathetic to Heidegger's philosophical approach. These positive and negative analytic evaluations have been collected in Michael Murray (ed.), *Heidegger and Modern Philosophy: Critical Essays* (Yale University Press, 1978). Heidegger's reputation within English-language philosophy has slightly improved in philosophical terms in some part through the efforts of Hubert Dreyfus, Richard Rorty, and a recent generation of analytically oriented phenomenology scholars. Pragmatist Rorty claimed that Heidegger's approach to philosophy in the first half of his career has much in common with that of the latter-day Ludwig Wittgenstein, a significant figure in analytic philosophy. Nevertheless, Rorty asserted that what Heidegger had constructed in his writings was a myth of being rather than an account of it.^[78]

Contemporary European reception

Even though Heidegger is considered by many observers to be the most influential philosopher of the 20th century in continental philosophy, aspects of his work have been criticised by those who nevertheless acknowledge this influence, such as Hans-Georg Gadamer and Jacques Derrida. Some questions raised about Heidegger's philosophy include the priority of ontology, the status of animals, the nature of the religious, Heidegger's supposed neglect of ethics (Emmanuel Levinas), the body (Maurice Merleau-Ponty), or sexual difference (Luce Irigaray).

Emmanuel Levinas was deeply influenced by Heidegger yet became one of his fiercest critics, contrasting the infinity of the good beyond being with the immanence and totality of ontology. Levinas also condemned Heidegger's

involvement with National Socialism, stating "One can forgive many Germans, but there are some Germans it is difficult to forgive. It is difficult to forgive Heidegger."^[79]

Cinema

- *The Ister* (2004) is a film based on Heidegger's 1942 lecture course on Friedrich Hölderlin, and features Jean-Luc Nancy, Philippe Lacoue-Labarthe, Bernard Stiegler, and Hans-Jürgen Syberberg.^[80]
- The film director Terrence Malick translated Heidegger's 1929 essay "Vom Wesen des Grundes" into English. It was published under the title *The Essence of Reasons* (Evanston: Northwestern University Press, 1969, bilingual edition). It is also frequently said of Malick that his cinema has Heideggerian sensibilities. See for instance: Marc Furstenau and Leslie MacAvoy, "Terrence Malick's Heideggerian Cinema: War and the Question of Being in The Thin Red Line" In *The cinema of Terrence Malick: Poetic visions of America*, 2nd ed. Edited by Hanna Patterson (Londen: Wallflower Press 2007): 179-91. See also: Stanley Cavell, *The World Viewed: Reflections on the Ontology of Film* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press 1979): XV.
- The 2006 experimental short *Die Entnazifizierung des MH* by James T. Hong imagines Heidegger's denazification proceedings.^[81]
- in the 1981 film *My dinner with Andre* Heidegger's theory of "experiencing ones being to the fullest, is like experiencing the decay of that being towards ones death, as a part of your experience." is quoted by the actor *Wallace Shawn'' who plays himself.*

Bibliography

Gesamtausgabe

Heidegger's collected works are published by Vittorio Klostermann. ^[82] The *Gesamtausgabe* was begun during Heidegger's lifetime. He defined the order of publication and dictated that the principle of editing should be "ways not works." Publication has not yet been completed.

The contents are listed here: Heidegger Gesamtausgabe.

Selected works

A complete list of English translations of Heidegger's work is available here. ^[83]

Year	Original German	English Translation
1927	Sein und Zeit, Gesamtausgabe Volume 2	<i>Being and Time</i> , trans. by John Macquarrie and Edward Robinson (London: SCM Press, 1962); re-translated by Joan Stambaugh (Albany: State University of New York Press, 1996)
1929	Kant und das Problem der Metaphysik, Gesamtausgabe Volume 3	<i>Kant and the Problem of Metaphysics</i> , trans. by Richard Taft (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1990)
1935	<i>Einführung in die Metaphysik</i> (1935, published 1953), Gesamtausgabe Volume 40	<i>Introduction to Metaphysics</i> , trans. by Gregory Fried and Richard Polt (New Haven: Yale University Press, 2000)
1936–8	Beiträge zur Philosophie (Vom Ereignis) (1936–1938, published 1989), Gesamtausgabe Volume 65	Contributions to Philosophy (From Enowning), trans. by Parvis Emad and Kenneth Maly (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1999)
1942	Hölderlins Hymne »Der Ister« (1942, published 1984), Gesamtausgabe Volume 53	Hölderlin's Hymn "The Ister", trans. by William McNeill and Julia Davis (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1996)
1949	"Die Frage nach der Technik", in Gesamtausgabe Volume 7	"The Question Concerning Technology", in Heidegger, Martin, <i>Basic Writings</i> : Second Edition, Revised and Expanded, ed. David Farrell Krell (New York: Harper Collins, 1993)

1950	<i>Holzwege</i> , Gesamtausgabe Volume 5. This collection includes "Der Ursprung des Kunstwerkes" (1935–1936)	Off the Beaten Track. This collection includes "The Origin of the Work of Art"
1955–56	Der Satz vom Grund, Gesamtausgabe Volume 10	<i>The Principle of Reason</i> , trans. Reginald Lilly (Bloomington, Indiana University Press, 1991)
1955–57	Identität und Differenz, Gesamtausgabe Volume 11	<i>Identity and Difference</i> , trans. by Joan Stambaugh (New York: Harper & Row, 1969)
1959	Gelassenheit, in Gesamtausgabe Volume 16	Discourse On Thinking
1959	Unterwegs zur Sprache, Gesamtausgabe Volume 12	On the Way To Language, published without the essay "Die Sprache" ("Language") by arrangement with Heidegger

Academic Genealogy		
Notable teachers	Notable students	
Edmund Husserl	Hannah Arendt	
Nicolai Hartmann	Hans-Georg	
Heinrich Rickert	Gadamer	
	Hans Jonas	
	Kuki Shūzō	
	Karl Löwith	
	Herbert Marcuse	
	Leo Strauss	
	Jan Patočka	
	Xavier Zubiri	
	Karl Rahner	

Further reading

On Being and Time

- William Blattner, Heidegger's Temporal Idealism
- Taylor Carman, Heidegger's Analytic: Interpretation, Discourse, and Authenticity in "Being and Time"
- Hubert Dreyfus, Being-in-the-World: A Commentary on Heidegger's Being and Time, Division I
- Graham Harman, Tool-Being: Heidegger and the Metaphysics of Objects
- Michael Gelven, A Commentary on Heidegger's Being and Time, Revised Edition
- E.F. Kaelin, "Heidegger's Being & Time: A Reading for Readers"
- Magda King, A Guide to Heidegger's Being and Time
- Theodore Kisiel, The Genesis of Heidegger's Being and Time
- Stephen Mulhall, Heidegger and Being and Time
- James Luchte, Heidegger's Early Philosophy: The Phenomenology of Ecstatic Temporality

Biographies

- Victor Farias, Heidegger and Nazism, ed. by Joseph Margolis and Tom Rockmore
- Hugo Ott, Martin Heidegger: A Political Life
- Otto Poeggeler, *Martin Heidegger's Path of Thinking*, trans. by D. Magurshak and S. Barber, Humanities Press, 1987.
- Rüdiger Safranski, Martin Heidegger: Between Good and Evil
- John van Buren, The Young Heidegger: Rumor of the Hidden King

Politics and National Socialism

- Pierre Bourdieu, The Political Ontology of Martin Heidegger
- Miguel de Beistegui, Heidegger and the Political: Dystopias
- Jacques Derrida, Of Spirit: Heidegger and the Question
- Victor Farías, Heidegger and nazism, Philadelphia, Temple University Press, 1989.
- Emmanuel Faye, Heidegger, l'introduction du nazisme dans la philosophie : autour des séminaires inédits de 1933–1935, Paris, Albin Michel, 2005. ISBN 2-226-14252-5 in French language
- Annemarie Gethmann-Siefert & Otto Pöggeler (eds.), *Heidegger und die praktische Philosophie*, Frankfurt a. M., Suhrkamp, 1989. in German language
- Dominique Janicaud, The Shadow of That Thought
- Philippe Lacoue-Labarthe, "Transcendence Ends in Politics", in Typography: Mimesis, Philosophy, Politics
- Philippe Lacoue-Labarthe, Heidegger, Art, and Politics: The Fiction of the Political
- George Leaman, *Heidegger im Kontext: Gesamtüberblick zum NS-Engagement der Universitätsphilosophen*, Argument Verlag, Hamburg, 1993. ISBN 3-88619-205-9
- Karl Löwith, Martin Heidegger and European Nihilism
- Karl Löwith Heidegger's Existentialism ^[84]
- Jean-François Lyotard, Heidegger and "the jews"
- Günther Neske & Emil Kettering (eds.), Martin Heidegger and National Socialism: Questions and Answers
- Political Texts Rectoral Addresses ^[85]
- Tom Rockmore and Joseph Margolis (ed.), The Heidegger Case
- Daniel Ross, Heidegger and the Question of the Political^[86]
- Hans Sluga, Heidegger's Crisis: Philosophy and Politics in Nazi Germany
- Iain Thomson, Heidegger on Ontotheology: Technology and the Politics of Education
- Dana Villa, Arendt and Heidegger: the Fate of the Political
- Richard Wolin (ed.), The Heidegger Controversy ISBN 0-262-23166-2.
- Julian Young, Heidegger philosophy Nazism

Other secondary literature

- Robert Bernasconi, Heidegger in Question: The Art of Existing
- Lee Braver. A Thing of This World: a History of Continental Anti-Realism. Northwestern University Press: 2007.
- Walter A. Brogan, Heidegger and Aristotle: The Twofoldness of Being
- Richard Capobianco, *Engaging Heidegger* with a Foreword by William J. Richardson. University of Toronto Press, 2010.
- Maxence Caron, *Heidegger Pensée de l'être et origine de la subjectivité*, 1760 pages, first and only book on Heidegger awarded by the Académie française.
- Gabriel Cercel / Cristian Ciocan (eds), *The Early Heidegger (Studia Phaenomenologica* I, 3–4), Bucharest: Humanitas, 2001, 506 p., including letters by Heidegger and Pöggeler, and articles by Walter Biemel, Friedrich-Wilhelm von Herrmann, Theodore Kisiel, Marion Heinz, Alfred Denker

- Steven Galt Crowell, Husserl, Heidegger, and the Space of Meaning: Paths toward Transcendental Phenomenology
- Jacques Derrida, "Ousia and Gramme: Note on a Note from Being and Time", in Margins of Philosophy
- Paul Edwards, Heidegger's Confusions
- Christopher Fynsk, Heidegger: Thought and Historicity
- Graham Harman, Heidegger Explained
- Philippe Lacoue-Labarthe, Poetry as Experience
- Philippe Lacoue-Labarthe, Heidegger and the Politics of Poetry
- S. J. McGrath, Heidegger. A (Very) Critical Introduction
- William McNeill, The Glance of the Eye: Heidegger, Aristotle, and the Ends of Theory
- William McNeill, The Time of Life: Heidegger and Ethos
- Jean-Luc Nancy, "The Decision of Existence", in The Birth to Presence
- Herman Philipse, Heidegger's Philosophy of Being: A Critical Interpretation
- Richard Polt, Heidegger: An Introduction
- François Raffoul, Heidegger and the Subject
- Patricia Altenbernd Johnson, On Heidegger (Wadsworth Philosophers Series), Wadsworth Publishing, 1999
- François Raffoul & David Pettigrew (ed), Heidegger and Practical Philosophy
- William J. Richardson, Heidegger: Through Phenomenology to Thought.
- John Sallis, Echoes: After Heidegger
- John Sallis (ed), *Reading Heidegger: Commemorations*, including articles by Robert Bernasconi, Jacques Derrida, Rodolphe Gasché, and John Sallis, among others.
- Reiner Schürmann, Heidegger on Being and Acting: From Principles to Anarchy
- Tony See, Community without Identity: The Ontology and Politics of Heidegger
- Adam Sharr, Heidegger's Hut
- Bernard Stiegler, Technics and Time, 1: The Fault of Epimetheus
- Leo Strauss, "An Introduction to Heideggerian Existentialism," in *The Rebirth of Classical Political Rationalism* (University of Chicago: 1989).
- Andrzej Warminski, Readings in Interpretation: Hölderlin, Hegel, Heidegger
- Julian Young, Heidegger's Philosophy of Art
- Julian Young, Heidegger's Later Philosophy
- Bastian Zimmermann, Die Offenbarung des Unverfügbaren und die Würde des Fragens. Ethische Dimensionen der Philosophie Martin Heideggers (London: 2010) ISBN 978-1-84790-037-1

Reception in France

- Jean Beaufret, *Dialogue avec Heidegger*, 4 vols.
- Dominique Janicaud, Heidegger en France, 2 vols.
- Ethan Kleinberg, Generation Existential: Heidegger's Philosophy in France, 1927–1961
- David Pettigrew and François Raffoul (eds.), *French Interpretations of Heidegger : An Exceptional Reception*, Albany : SUNY Press, 2006.

Influence on Japanese philosophy

 Mayeda, Graham. 2006. Time, space and ethics in the philosophy of Watsuji Tetsurō, Kuki Shūzō, and Martin Heidegger (New York: Routledge, 2006). ISBN 0-415-97673-1 (alk. paper).

Influence on Asian philosophy

Parkes, Graham. 1987. *Heidegger and Asian Thought*. ^[87] Honolulu: University of Hawaii Press. ISBN 0-8248-1064-3.

References

- [1] www.mapageweb.umontreal.ca/grondinj/textes_html/Being.doc
- [2] Lackey, Douglas. 1999. "What Are the Modern Classics? The Baruch Poll of Great Philosophy in the Twentieth Century". *Philosophical Forum*. 30 (4): 329-46
- [3] http://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=ABCRPyPVI0IC&oi=fnd&pg=PR11&dq=heidegger+literature&ots=FHI7rZzdtE& sig=3EpXpsg4iE1cMD_1onzH6eGf6DY#v=onepage&q&f=false
- [4] http://tap.sagepub.com/content/8/1/59.abstract
- [5] Introduction to Metaphysics, trans. by Gregory Fried and Richard Polt (New Haven: Yale University Press, 2000) p 133 ff
- [6] http://leidlmair.at/doc/WhyHeideggerianAIFailed.pdf
- [7] For critical readings of the interview (published in 1966 as "Only a God Can Save Us", *Der Spiegel*), see the "Special Feature on Heidegger and Nazism" in *Critical Inquiry* 15:2 (Winter 1989), particularly the contributions by Jürgen Habermas and Blanchot. The issue includes partial translations of Derrida's *Of Spirit* and Lacoue-Labarthe's *Of Spirit* and *Heidegger*, *Art*, *and Politics: the Fiction of the Political*.
- [8] Martin Heidegger, *Being and Time*, pp. 25–26.
- [9] http://www.iep.utm.edu/heidegge/#SH8a
- [10] Martin Heidegger, Contributions to Philosophy (From Enowning) (Bloomington & Indianapolis: Indiana University Press, 1999), p. 307.
- [11] Source: Hannah Arendt / Martin Heidegger by Elzbieta Ettinger, Yale University Press, New Haven, 1995, page 10
- [12] Hannah Arendt, Martin Heidegger At 80, New York Review of Books, 17/6, (Oct. 21, 1971), 50–54; repr. in Heidegger and Modern Philosophy ed. M. Murray (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1978), 293–303
- [13] "Martin Heidegger, Emmanuel Levinas\, and the Politics of Dwelling" (http://etd.lsu.edu/docs/available/etd-11052004-163310/ unrestricted/Gauthier_dis.pdf) by David J. Gauthier, Ph.D dissertation, Louisiana State University, 2004, page 156
- [14] Karl Löwith, Mein Leben in Deutschland vor und nach 1933: ein Bericht (Stuttgart: Metzler, 1986), p. 57, translated by Paula Wissing as cited by Maurice Blanchot in "Thinking the Apocalypse: a Letter from Maurice Blanchot to Catherine David", in Critical Inquiry 15:2, pp. 476–477.
- [15] "Emmanuel Faye,[in his "Heidegger: The Introduction of Nazism Into Philosophy,"] argues fascist and racist ideas are so woven into the fabric of Heidegger's theories that they no longer deserve to be called philosophy.... Richard Wolin, the author of several books on Heidegger and a close reader of the Faye book, said he is not convinced Heidegger's thought is as thoroughly tainted by Nazism as Mr. Faye argues. Nonetheless he recognizes how far Heidegger's ideas have spilled into the larger culture." An Ethical Question: Does a Nazi Deserve a Place Among Philosophers? by Patricia Cohen. New York Times. Published: November 8, 2009. (http://www.nytimes.com/2009/11/09/ books/09philosophy.html?scp=1&sq=Does a Nazi Deserve a Place Among Philosophers? &st=cse)
- [16] Hermann Philipse, *Heidegger's Philosophy of Being* p. 173, Notes to Chapter One, Martin Heidegger, *Supplements*, trans. John Van Buren p. 183.
- [17] Die Lehre vom Urteil im Psychologismus. Ein kritisch-theoretischer Beitrag zur Logik (1914). Source: Annemarie Gethmann-Siefert, "Martin Heidegger", Theologische Realenzyklopädie, XIV, 1982, p. 562
- [18] Note, however, that it was discovered later that one of the two main sources used by Heidegger was not by Scotus, but by Thomas of Erfurt. Thus Heidegger's 1916 doctoral thesis, *Die Kategorien- und Bedeutungslehre des Duns Scotus*, should have been entitled, *Die Kategorienlehre des Duns Scotus und die Bedeutungslehre des Thomas von Erfurt*. Source: Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy (http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/erfurt).
- [19] Gethmann-Siefert, 1982, p. 563
- [20] Charles Bambach, Heidegger's Roots (Cornell University Press, 2003, page 82)
- [21] Julian Young, Heidegger, Philosophy, Nazism (Cambridge University Press, 1997, page 3, page 11).
- [22] Julian Young, Heidegger, Philosophy, Nazism (Cambridge University Press, 1997, page 3)
- [23] Provisional ruling October 5, 1946; final ruling December 28, 1946; Hugo Ott, Martin Heidegger: A Political Life, (Harper Collins, 1993, page 348)
- [24] Rüdiger Safranski, Martin Heidegger: Between Good and Evil (Harvard University Press, 1998, page 373)
- [25] Heidegger, Martin; Heidegger, Gertrud (September 2005), Mein liebes Seelchen! Briefe von Martin Heidegger an seine Frau Elfride: 1915–1970, Munich: DVA, ISBN 978-3421058492
- [26] Martin Heidegger / Elisabeth Blochmann. Briefwechsel 1918–1969. Joachim W. Storck, ed. Marbach am Neckar: Deutsches Literatur-Archiv, 1989, 2nd edn. 1990.

- [27] Being There (http://cabinetmagazine.org/issues/25/durantaye.php), a Spring 2007 article on Heidegger's vacation home for *Cabinet* magazine.
- [28] For a study on Heidegger's reading of the Sophist and his less central interest in Plato's Timaeus and its conception of space qua khôra: see: Nader El-Bizri, "On Kai khôra: Situating Heidegger between the Sophist and the Timaeus", Studia Phaenomenologica, Vol. IV, Issue 1–2 (2004), pp. 73–98
- [29] In everyday German, "Dasein" means "existence." It is composed of "Da" (here/there) and "Sein" (being). Dasein is transformed in Heidegger's usage from its everyday meaning to refer, rather, to that being that is *there* in its world, that is, the being for whom being matters. In later publications Heidegger writes the term in hyphenated form as Da-sein, thus emphasizing the distance from the word's ordinary usage.
- [30] Jacques Derrida describes this in the following terms: "We can see then that Dasein, though not man, is nevertheless nothing other than man." Jacques Derrida, "The Ends of Man", Margins of Philosophy (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1982), p. 127.
- [31] Cf. Bernard Stiegler, "Technics of Decision: An Interview", Angelaki 8 (2003), pp. 154–67, and cf. the discussion of Stiegler's reading of Heidegger in the sub-section "Bernard Stiegler" below.
- [32] William J. Richardson Heidegger: Through Phenomenology to Thought (1963)
- [33] Wrathall, Mark: Heidegger and Unconcealment: Truth, Language, and History, Cambridge University Press, 2011
- [34] http://ndpr.nd.edu/review.cfm?id=24212
- [35] Lyon, James K. Paul Celan and Martin Heidegger: an unresolved conversation, 1951-1970 (http://books.google.com/ books?id=vB_Tv7A9oI8C), pp.128-9
- [36] Philipse, Herman (1998) Heidegger's philosophy of being: a critical interpretation, p.205
- [37] Heidegger (1971) Poetry, Language, Thought, translation and introduction by Albert Hofstadter, pp.xxv and 187-ff
- [38] See The Influence of Augustine on Heidegger: The Emergence of an Augustinian Phenomenology, ed. Craig J. N. de Paulo (Lewiston: The Edwin Mellen Press, 2006.) and also Martin Heidegger's Interpretations of Augustine: Sein und Zeit und Ewigkeit, ed. Frederick Van Fleteren (Lewiston: The Edwin Mellen Press, 2005.)
- [39] Heidegger, What is Called Thinking? (New York: Harper & Row, 1968), p. 73.
- [40] Kelvin Knight, Aristotelian Philosophy: Ethics and Politics from Aristotle to MacIntyre (Cambridge: Polity Press, 2007).
- [41] Hans-Georg Gadamer, "Martin Heidegger's One Path", in Theodore Kisiel & John van Buren (eds.), Reading Heidegger from the Start: Essays in His Earliest Thought (Albany: SUNY Press, 1994), pp. 22–4.
- [42] In *The Genesis of Heidegger's Being and Time* (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1993), Theodor Kisiel designates the first version of the project that culminates in *Being and Time*, "the Dilthey draft" (p. 313). David Farrell Krell comments in *Daimon Life: Heidegger and Life-Philosophy* (Bloomington & Indianapolis: Indiana University Press, 1992) that "Heidegger's project sprouts (in part, but in *good* part) from the soil of Dilthey's philosophy of factical-historical life" (p. 35).
- [43] Hans-Georg Gadamer, "Martin Heidegger-75 Years", Heidegger's Ways (Albany: SUNY Press, 1994), p. 18.
- [44] Robert J. Dostal, "Time and Phenomenology in Husserl and Heidegger", in Charles Guignon (ed.), The Cambridge Companion to Heidegger (Cambridge & New York: Cambridge University Press, 1993), p. 142.
- [45] Daniel O. Dahlstrom, "Heidegger's Critique of Husserl", in Theodore Kisiel & John van Buren (eds.), Reading Heidegger from the Start: Essays in His Earliest Thought (Albany: SUNY Press, 1994), p. 244.
- [46] Dreyfus, Hubert. Being-in-the-world: A Commentary on Heidegger's Being and Time, Division I. (Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1991), Sec. Appendix.
- [47] Heidegger, "A Dialogue on Language between a Japanese and an Inquirer", in On the Way to Language (New York: Harper & Row, 1971).
- [48] Heidegger's hidden sources: East Asian influences on his work By Reinhard May, Graham Parkes
- [49] See for instance: Nader El-Bizri, The Phenomenological Quest between Avicenna and Heidegger (Binghamton, N.Y.: Global Publications SUNY, 2000)
- [50] "Political Islam, Iran, and the Enlightenment: Philosophies of Hope and Despair" (http://books.google.com/books?id=S95R7trHf9oC& dq), Ali Mirsepassi. Cambridge University Press, 2010. ISBN 052174590X, 9780521745901. p. 90
- [51] "Iran's Islamists Influenced By Western Philosophers, NYU's Mirsepassi Concludes in New Book" (http://www.nyu.edu/about/ news-publications/news/2011/01/11/irans-islamists-influenced-by-western-philosophers-nyus-mirsepassi-concludes-in-new-book.html), New York University. January 11, 2011. Accessed February 15, 2011
- [52] Source: "German Men and Women!", Freiburger Studentenzeitung, November 10, 1933, as quoted in //Introducing Heidegger// by Jeff Collins et al., Icon Books, Thriplow, Cambridge, p.e 96
- [53] Hans Sluga, *Heidegger's Crisis: Philosophy and Politics in Nazi Germany* (Cambridge, Massachusetts, & London: Harvard University Press, 1993), p. 149.
- [54] Heidegger, "The Rectorate 1933/34: Facts and Thoughts", in Günther Neske & Emil Kettering (eds.), Martin Heidegger and National Socialism: Questions and Answers (New York: Paragon House, 1990), p. 29.
- [55] Seyla Benhabib, The Reluctant Modernism Of Hannah Arendt (http://books.google.com/books?id=f3l7S-ZTK4YC&pg=PA120& lpg=PA120&dq="April+28,+1933"+Reich+Law+Jews&source=web&ots=QmAE0vPynq&sig=OEzV5jVxvhQ6DpSqIDfSWnscqrM& hl=en&sa=X&oi=book_result&resnum=1&ct=result) (Rowman and Littlefield, 2003, p. 120.)
- [56] Seyla Benhabib, The Personal is not the Political (http://www.bostonreview.net/BR24.5/benhabib.html#5) (October/November 1999 issue of Boston Review.)
- [57] Martin Heidegger, "Der Spiegel Interview", in Günther Neske & Emil Kettering (eds.), Martin Heidegger and National Socialism: Questions and Answers (New York: Paragon House, 1990), p. 48.

- [58] Rüdiger Safranski, Martin Heidegger: Between Good and Evil (Cambridge, Mass., & London: Harvard University Press, 1998), pp. 253-8.
- [59] Elzbieta Ettinger, Hannah Arendt Martin Heidegger, (New Haven, Conn., & London: Yale University Press, 1995), p. 37.
- [60] Jurgen Habermas, "Work and Weltanschauung: the Heidegger Controversy from a German Perspective", Critical Inquiry 15 (1989), pp. 452–54. See also J. Habermas, "Martin Heidegger: on the publication of the lectures of 1935", in R. Wolin, ed., The Heidegger Controversy (MIT Press, 1993). The controversial page of the 1935 manuscript is missing from the Heidegger Archives in Marbach; however, Habermas's scholarship leaves little doubt about the original wording.
- [61] Martin Heidegger, Mindfulness (Continuum, 2006), section 47.
- [62] Heidegger, Hölderlin's Hymn "The Ister" (Bloomington & Indianapolis: Indiana University Press, 1996), pp. 79-80.
- [63] Karl Löwith, "My last meeting with Heidegger in Rome", in R. Wolin, The Heidegger Conroversy (MIT Press, 1993).
- [64] Dominique Janicaud, Heidegger en France vol. 1 (Paris: Albin Michel, 2001).
- [65] Thomas Sheehan, "Heidegger and the Nazis" (http://www.stanford.edu/dept/relstud/faculty/sheehan/pdf/88-nazi.PDF), a review of Victor Farias' *Heidegger et le nazisme*, in *The New York Review of Books*, Vol. XXXV, n°10, June 16, 1988, pp.38-47
- [66] http://lacan.com/heidespie.html
- [67] For critical readings of the interview (published in 1966 as "Only a God Can Save Us", *Der Spiegel*), see the "Special Feature on Heidegger and Nazism" in *Critical Inquiry* 15:2 (Winter 1989), particularly the contributions by Jürgen Habermas and Blanchot. The issue includes partial translations of Derrida's *Of Spirit* and Lacoue-Labarthe's *Of Spirit* and *Heidegger, Art, and Politics: the Fiction of the Political*.
- [68] On the history of the French translation of Heidegger's "What is Metaphysics?", and on its importance to the French intellectual scene, cf. Denis Hollier, "Plenty of Nothing", in Hollier (ed.), A New History of French Literature (Cambridge, Massachusetts, Harvard University Press, 1989), pp. 894–900.
- [69] Heidegger, "Letter on 'Humanism'", Pathmarks (Cambridge & New York: Cambridge University Press, 1998), pp. 250-1.
- [70] Richard Rorty, review of *Heidegger and Nazism* in the New Republic, quoted on the Temple University Press promotional page for *Heidegger and Nazism* (http://www.temple.edu/tempress/titles/618_reg_print.html)
- [71] Bernard Stiegler, Technics and Time, 1: The Fault of Epimetheus (Stanford: Stanford University Press, 1998), part 2.
- [72] See Edmund Husserl, *Psychological and transcendental phenomenology and the confrontation with Heidegger (1927–1931)* (Dordrecht: Kluwer, 1997).
- [73] Nikolas Kompridis, Critique and Disclosure: Critical Theory between Past and Future MIT Press, 2006.
- [74] Nikolas Kompridis, "Disclosing Possibility: The Past and Future of Critical Theory", International Journal of Philosophical Studies, Volume 13, Issue September 3, 2005, pages 325 – 351. (http://www.informaworld.com/smpp/content~db=all~content=a723657914)
- [75] Bertrand Russell, Wisdom of the West (New York: Crescent Books, 1989), p. 303.
- [76] Jeff Collins, Introducing Heidegger (Thriplow, Cambridge: Icon Books, 1998), p. 7.
- [77] Wittgenstein and the Vienna Circle: Conversations Recorded by Friedrich Waismann, Basil Blackwell, Oxford, 1979, p.68
- [78] Jeff Collins, Introducing Heidegger (Thriplow, Cambridge: Icon Books, 1998), p. 170.
- [79] Emmanuel Levinas, Nine Talmudic Readings (Indiana University Press, 1990), p. xxv, translated by Annette Aronowicz
- [80] http://www.theister.com/
- [81] http://www.zukunftsmusik.com/zm/mh.html
- [82] http://www.klostermann.de/philo/phi_hei.htm
- [83] http://think.hyperjeff.net/Heidegger
- [84] http://www.lacan.com/symptom/?p=55
- [85] http://www.lacan.com/symptom/?p=63
- [86] http://arrow.monash.edu.au/vital/access/manager/Repository/monash:6201?start=61&expert=title%3a%22Heidegger+and+the+ question+of+the+political%22
- [87] http://books.google.com/books?id=bUa8ctgqeC8C&pg=PP1&dq=Heidegger+and+Asian+Thought&client=firefox-aasta and the standard standard

External links

General information

- German Heidegger Society (http://www.heidegger-gesellschaft.de/) (German)
- Der Spiegel Interview (http://lacan.com/heidespie.html)
- Timeline of German Philosophers (http://www.weple.org/timeline. html#ids=14631,12007,12598,700,10671,9518,37304,95184,&title=8 German Philosophers)
- Human, all too human: a BBC film of his early life, with a focus on his political involvement (http://www. filmsdocumentary.com/design-for-living-martin-heidegger)

Works by Heidegger

- English translations of Heidegger's works (http://think.hyperjeff.net/Heidegger)
- Heidegger works on archive.org (http://www.archive.org/search.php?query=creator:"Martin Heidegger")
- Some volumes of *Gesamtausgabe* (Klostermann) in German (http://rutracker.org/forum/viewtopic. php?t=2947365)

Phenomenology (philosophy)

Phenomenology (from Greek: *phainómenon* "that which appears"; and *lógos* "study") is a broad philosophical movement emphasizing the study of conscious experience. It was founded in the early years of the 20th century by Edmund Husserl, expanded together with a circle of his followers at the universities of Göttingen and Munich in Germany, and spread across to France, the United States, and elsewhere, often in contexts far removed from Husserl's early work.

Phenomenology, in Husserl's conception, is primarily concerned with the systematic reflection on and study of the structures of consciousness, and the phenomena that appear in acts of consciousness. This Phenomenological Ontology, or understanding of being, can be clearly differentiated from the Cartesian method of analysis which sees the world as objects, sets of objects, and objects acting and reacting upon one an other. The antithetical nature of Phenomenology to the Cartesian World-view makes Phenomenology an analog to mystical non-theistic religion, such as Buddhism. The explicit embrace of mysticism in Phenomenology, especially with in the subclass Ecological Phenomenology, rests in large part upon the work of Neil Evernden, who coined the notion of "Nature as miracle" (Evernden, Nature in Industrial Society, 159), a corner stone in the Phenomenological rejection of empiricism.

Husserl's conception of phenomenology has been criticised and developed not only by himself but also by his students Edith Stein and Martin Heidegger, by existentialists, such as Max Scheler, Nicolai Hartmann, Maurice Merleau-Ponty, Jean-Paul Sartre, and by other philosophers, such as Paul Ricoeur, Emmanuel Levinas, and sociologists Alfred Schütz and Eric Voegelin.

Overview

Stephen Hicks^[1] writes that to understand phenomenology, one must identify its roots in the philosophy of Immanuel Kant (1724-1804). In his *the Critique of Pure Reason*, Kant distinguished between "phenomenon", (objects as interpreted by human sensibility and understanding), and "noumena" (objects as *things-in-themselves*, which humans cannot directly experience). According to Hicks, 19th Century Kantiansim could be classified in two broad camps: structural linguistics and phenomenology. Hicks writes, "In effect, the Structuralists were seeking subjective noumenal categories, and the Phenomenologists were content with describing the phenomena without asking what connection to an external reality those experiences might have."^[2]

In its most basic form, phenomenology thus attempts to create conditions for the objective study of topics usually regarded as subjective: consciousness and the content of conscious experiences such as judgments, perceptions, and emotions. Although phenomenology seeks to be scientific, it does not attempt to study consciousness from the perspective of clinical psychology or neurology. Instead, it seeks through systematic reflection to determine the essential properties and structures of consciousness and conscious experience.

Husserl derived many important concepts central to phenomenology from the works and lectures of his teachers, the philosophers and psychologists Franz Brentano and Carl Stumpf.^[3] An important element of phenomenology that Husserl borrowed from Brentano is intentionality (often described as "aboutness"), the notion that consciousness is always consciousness *of* something. The object of consciousness is called the *intentional object*, and this object is constituted for consciousness in many different ways, through, for instance, perception, memory, retention and protention, signification, etc. Throughout these different intentionalities, though they have different structures and

different ways of being "about" the object, an object is still constituted as the same identical object; consciousness is directed at the same intentional object in direct perception as it is in the immediately following retention of this object and the eventual remembering of it.

Though many of the phenomenological methods involve various reductions, phenomenology is, in essence, anti-reductionistic; the reductions are mere tools to better understand and describe the workings of consciousness, not to reduce any phenomenon to these descriptions. In other words, when a reference is made to a thing's *essence* or *idea*, or when one details the constitution of an identical coherent thing by describing what one "really" sees as being only these sides and aspects, these surfaces, it does not mean that the thing is only and exclusively what is described here: The ultimate goal of these reductions is to understand *how* these different aspects are constituted into the actual thing as experienced by the person experiencing it. Phenomenology is a direct reaction to the psychologism and physicalism of Husserl's time.

Although previously employed by Hegel in his *Phenomenology of Spirit*, it was Husserl's adoption of this term (circa 1900) that propelled it into becoming the designation of a philosophical school. As a philosophical perspective, phenomenology is its method, though the specific meaning of the term varies according to how it is conceived by a given philosopher. As envisioned by Husserl, phenomenology is a method of philosophical inquiry that rejects the rationalist bias that has dominated Western thought since Plato in favor of a method of reflective attentiveness that discloses the individual's "lived experience."^[4] Loosely rooted in an epistemological device, with Sceptic roots, called epoché, Husserl's method entails the suspension of judgment while relying on the intuitive grasp of knowledge, free of presuppositions and intellectualizing. Sometimes depicted as the "science of experience," the phenomenological method is rooted in intentionality, Husserl's theory of consciousness (developed from Brentano). Intentionality represents an alternative to the representational theory of consciousness, which holds that reality cannot be grasped directly because it is available only through perceptions of reality that are representations of it in the mind. Husserl countered that consciousness is not "in" the mind but rather conscious of something other than itself (the intentional object), whether the object is a substance or a figment of imagination (i.e., the real processes associated with and underlying the figment). Hence the phenomenological method relies on the description of phenomenological method relies on the description of phenomenological method relies on the consciousness, in their immediacy.

According to Maurice Natanson (1973, p. 63), "The radicality of the phenomenological method is both continuous and discontinuous with philosophy's general effort to subject experience to fundamental, critical scrutiny: to take nothing for granted and to show the warranty for what we claim to know."

In practice, it entails an unusual combination of discipline and detachment to suspend, or bracket, theoretical explanations and second-hand information while determining one's "naive" experience of the matter. The phenomenological method serves to momentarily erase the world of speculation by returning the subject to his or her primordial experience of the matter, whether the object of inquiry is a feeling, an idea, or a perception. According to Husserl the suspension of belief in what we ordinarily take for granted or infer by conjecture diminishes the power of what we customarily embrace as objective reality. According to Safranski (1998, 72), "[Husserl and his followers'] great ambition was to disregard anything that had until then been thought or said about consciousness or the world [while] on the lookout for a new way of letting the things [they investigated] approach them, without covering them up with what they already knew."

Heidegger modified Husserl's conception of phenomenology because of (what Heidegger perceived as) Husserl's subjectivist tendencies. Whereas Husserl conceived humans as having been constituted by states of consciousness, Heidegger countered that consciousness is peripheral to the primacy of one's existence (i.e., the mode of being of Dasein), which cannot be reduced to one's consciousness of it. From this angle, one's state of mind is an "effect" rather than a determinant of existence, including those aspects of existence that one is not conscious of. By shifting the center of gravity from consciousness (psychology) to existence (ontology), Heidegger altered the subsequent direction of phenomenology, making it at once both personal and mysterious. One of the consequences of Heidegger's modification of Husserl's conception of phenomenology was its increased relevance to psychoanalysis.

Whereas Husserl gave priority to a depiction of consciousness that was fundamentally alien to the psychoanalytic conception of the unconscious, Heidegger offered a way to conceptualize experience that could accommodate those aspects of one's existence that lie on the periphery of sentient awareness.^[5] ^[6]

Special terminology

Intentionality

Intentionality refers to the notion that consciousness is always consciousness *of* something. The word itself should not be confused with the "ordinary" use of the word intentional, but should rather be taken as playing on the etymological roots of the word. Originally, intention referred to a "stretching out" ("in tension," lat. *intendere*[7][8]), and in this context it refers to consciousness "*stretching out*" towards its object (although one should be careful with this image, seeing as there is not some consciousness first that, subsequently, stretches out to its object. Rather, consciousness *occurs as* the simultaneity of a conscious act and its object.) Intentionality is often summed up as "aboutness."

Whether this *something* that consciousness is about is in direct perception or in fantasy is inconsequential to the concept of intentionality itself; whatever consciousness is directed at, *that* is what consciousness is consciousness of. This means that the object of consciousness doesn't *have* to be a *physical* object apprehended in perception: it can just as well be a fantasy or a memory. Consequently, these "structures" of consciousness, i.e., perception, memory, fantasy, etc., are called *intentionalities*.

The cardinal principle of phenomenology, the term intentionality originated with the Scholastics in the medieval period and was resurrected by Brentano who in turn influenced Husserl's conception of phenomenology, who refined the term and made it the cornerstone of his theory of consciousness. The meaning of the term is complex and depends entirely on how it is conceived by a given philosopher. The term should not be confused with "intention" or the psychoanalytic conception of unconscious "motive" or "gain."

Intuition

Intuition in phenomenology refers to those cases where the intentional object is directly present to the intentionality at play; if the intention is "filled" by the direct apprehension of the object, you have an intuited object. Having a cup of coffee in front of you, for instance, seeing it, feeling it, or even imagining it - these are all filled intentions, and the object is then *intuited*. The same goes for the apprehension of mathematical formulae or a number. If you do not have the object as referred to directly, the object is not intuited, but still intended, but then *emptily*. Examples of empty intentions can be signifive intentions - intentions that only *imply* or *refer to* their objects.

Evidence

In everyday language, we use the word evidence to signify a special sort of relation between a state of affairs and a proposition: State A is evidence for the proposition "A is true." In phenomenology, however, the concept of evidence is meant to signify the "subjective achievement of truth." ^[9] This is not an attempt to reduce the objective sort of evidence to subjective "opinion," but rather an attempt to describe the structure of having something present in intuition with the addition of having it present as *intelligible*: "Evidence is the successful presentation of an intelligible object, the successful presentation of something whose truth becomes manifest in the evidencing itself." ^[10]

Noesis and Noema

In Husserl's phenomenology, which is quite common, this pair of terms, derived from the Greek *nous* (mind), designate respectively the real content, noesis, and the ideal content, noema, of an intentional act (an act of consciousness). The Noesis is the part of the act that gives it a particular sense or character (as in judging or perceiving something, loving or hating it, accepting or rejecting it, and so on). This is real in the sense that it is actually part of what takes place in the consciousness (or psyche) of the subject of the act. The Noesis is always correlated with a Noema; for Husserl, the full Noema is a complex ideal structure comprising at least a noematic sense and a noematic core. The correct interpretation of what Husserl meant by the Noema has long been controversial, but the noematic sense is generally understood as the ideal meaning of the act ^[11] and the noematic core as the act's referent or object *as it is meant in the act*. One element of controversy is whether this noematic object is the same as the actual object of the act (assuming it exists) or is some kind of ideal object.^[12]

Empathy and Intersubjectivity

In phenomenology, empathy refers to the experience of another human body *as* another. While we often identify others with their physical bodies, this type of phenomenology requires that we focus on the subjectivity of the other, as well as our intersubjective engagement with them. In Husserl's original account, this was done by a sort of apperception built on the experiences of your own lived-body. The lived body is your own body as experienced by yourself, *as* yourself. Your own body manifests itself to you mainly as your possibilities of acting in the world. It is what lets you reach out and grab something, for instance, but it also, and more importantly, allows for the possibility of changing your point of view. This helps you differentiate one thing from another by the experience of moving around it, seeing new aspects of it (often referred to as making the absent present and the present absent), and still retaining the notion that this is the same thing that you saw other aspects of just a moment ago (it is identical). Your body is also experienced as a duality, both as object (you can touch your own hand) and as your own subjectivity (you experience being touched).

The experience of your own body as your own subjectivity is then applied to the experience of another's body, which, through apperception, is constituted as another subjectivity. You can thus recognise the Other's intentions, emotions, etc. This experience of empathy is important in the phenomenological account of intersubjectivity. In phenomenology, intersubjectivity constitutes objectivity (i.e., what you experience as objective is experienced as being intersubjectively available - available to all other subjects. This does not imply that objectivity is reduced to subjectivity nor does it imply a relativist position, cf. for instance intersubjective verifiability).

In the experience of intersubjectivity, one also experiences oneself as being a subject among other subjects, and one experiences oneself as existing objectively *for* these Others; one experiences oneself as the noema of Others' noeses, or as a subject in another's empathic experience. As such, one experiences oneself as objectively existing subjectivity. Intersubjectivity is also a part in the constitution of one's lifeworld, especially as "homeworld."

Lifeworld

The lifeworld (German: *Lebenswelt*) is the "world" each one of us *lives* in. One could call it the "background" or "horizon" of all experience, and it is that on which each object stands out as itself (as different) and with the meaning it can only hold for us. The lifeworld is both personal and intersubjective (it is then called a "homeworld"), and, as such, it does not enclose each one of us in a solus ipse.

Husserl's Logische Untersuchungen (1900/1901)

In the first edition of the *Logical Investigations*, still under the influence of Brentano, Husserl describes his position as "descriptive psychology." Husserl analyzes the intentional structures of mental acts and how they are directed at both real and ideal objects. The first volume of the *Logical Investigations*, the *Prolegomena to Pure Logic*, begins

with a devastating critique of psychologism, i.e., the attempt to subsume the *a priori* validity of the laws of logic under psychology. Husserl establishes a separate field for research in logic, philosophy, and phenomenology, independently from the empirical sciences.^[13]

Transcendental phenomenology after the Ideen (1913)

Some years after the publication of the *Logical Investigations*, Husserl made some key elaborations that led him to the distinction between the act of consciousness (*noesis*) and the phenomena at which it is directed (the *noemata*).

- "noetic" refers to the intentional act of consciousness (believing, willing, etc.)
- "noematic" refers to the object or content (noema), which appears in the noetic acts (the believed, wanted, hated, and loved ...).

What we observe is not the object as it is in itself, but how and inasmuch it is given in the intentional acts. Knowledge of essences would only be possible by "bracketing" all assumptions about the existence of an external world and the inessential (subjective) aspects of how the object is concretely given to us. This procedure Husserl called *epoché*.

Husserl in a later period concentrated more on the ideal, essential structures of consciousness. As he wanted to exclude any hypothesis on the existence of external objects, he introduced the method of phenomenological reduction to eliminate them. What was left over was the pure transcendental ego, as opposed to the concrete empirical ego. Now Transcendental Phenomenology is the study of the essential structures that are left in pure consciousness: This amounts in practice to the study of the noemata and the relations among them. The philosopher Theodor Adorno criticised Husserl's concept of phenomenological epistemology in his metacritique *Against Epistemology*, which is anti-foundationalist in its stance.

Transcendental phenomenologists include Oskar Becker, Aron Gurwitsch, and Alfred Schutz.

Realist phenomenology

After Husserl's publication of the *Ideen* in 1913, many phenomenologists took a critical stance towards his new theories. Especially the members of the Munich group distanced themselves from his new transcendental phenomenology and preferred the earlier realist phenomenology of the first edition of the *Logical Investigations*.

Realist phenomenologists include Adolf Reinach, Alexander Pfänder, Johannes Daubert, Max Scheler, Roman Ingarden, Nicolai Hartmann, Dietrich von Hildebrand.

Existential phenomenology

Existential phenomenology differs from transcendental phenomenology by its rejection of the transcendental ego. Merleau-Ponty objects to the ego's transcendence of the world, which for Husserl leaves the world spread out and completely transparent before the conscious. Heidegger thinks of a conscious being as always already in the world. Transcendence is maintained in existential phenomenology to the extent that the method of phenomenology must take a presuppositionless starting point - transcending claims about the world arising from, for example, natural or scientific attitudes or theories of the ontological nature of the world.

While Husserl thought of philosophy as a scientific discipline that had to be founded on a phenomenology understood as epistemology, Heidegger held a radically different view. Heidegger himself states their differences this way:

For Husserl, the phenomenological reduction is the method of leading phenomenological vision from the natural attitude of the human being whose life is involved in the world of things and persons back to the transcendental life of consciousness and its noetic-noematic experiences, in which objects are constituted as correlates of consciousness. For us, phenomenological reduction means leading phenomenological vision

back from the apprehension of a being, whatever may be the character of that apprehension, to the understanding of the Being of this being (projecting upon the way it is unconcealed).^[14]

According to Heidegger, philosophy was not at all a scientific discipline, but more fundamental than science itself. According to him science is only one way of knowing the world with no special access to truth. Furthermore, the scientific mindset itself is built on a much more "primordial" foundation of practical, everyday knowledge. Husserl was skeptical of this approach, which he regarded as quasi-mystical, and it contributed to the divergence in their thinking.

Instead of taking phenomenology as *prima philosophia* or a foundational discipline, Heidegger took it as a metaphysical ontology: "*being is the proper and sole theme of philosophy...* this means that philosophy is not a science of beings but of being.".^[14] Yet to confuse phenomenology and ontology is an obvious error. Phenomena are not the foundation or Ground of Being. Neither are they appearances, for, as Heidegger argues in *Being and Time*, an appearance is "that which shows itself in something else," while a phenomenon is "that which shows itself in itself."

While for Husserl, in the epochè, being appeared only as a correlate of consciousness, for Heidegger being is the starting point. While for Husserl we would have to abstract from all concrete determinations of our empirical ego, to be able to turn to the field of pure consciousness, Heidegger claims that "the possibilities and destinies of philosophy are bound up with man's existence, and thus with temporality and with historicality."^[14]

However, ontological being and existential being are different categories, so Heidegger's conflation of these categories is, according to Husserl's view, the root of Heidegger's error. Husserl charged Heidegger with raising the question of ontology but failing to answer it, instead switching the topic to the Dasein, the only being for whom Being is an issue. That is neither ontology nor phenomenology, according to Husserl, but merely abstract anthropology. To clarify, perhaps, by abstract anthropology, as a non-existentialist searching for essences, Husserl rejected the existentialism implicit in Heidegger's distinction between being (sein) as things in reality and Being (Da-sein) as the encounter with being, as when being becomes present to us, that is, is unconcealed.^[15]

Existential phenomenologists include: Martin Heidegger (1889–1976), Hannah Arendt (1906–1975), Emmanuel Levinas (1906–1995), Gabriel Marcel (1889–1973), Jean-Paul Sartre (1905–1980), Paul Ricoeur (1913–2005) and Maurice Merleau-Ponty (1908–1961).

Phenomenology and Eastern thought

Some researchers in phenomenology (in particular in reference to Heidegger's legacy) see possibilities of establishing dialogues with traditions of thought outside of the so-called Western philosophy, particularly with respect to East-Asian thinking, and despite perceived differences between "Eastern" and "Western".^[16] Furthermore, it has been claimed that a number of elements within phenomenology (mainly Heidegger's thought) have some resonance with Eastern philosophical ideas, particularly with Zen Buddhism and Taoism.^[17] According to Tomonubu Imamichi, the concept of *Dasein* was inspired — although Heidegger remains silent on this — by Okakura Kakuzo's concept of *das-in-der-Welt-sein* (being in the world) expressed in *The Book of Tea* to describe Zhuangzi's philosophy, which Imamichi's teacher had offered to Heidegger in 1919, after having studied with him the year before.^[18]

There are also recent signs of the reception of phenomenology (and Heidegger's thought in particular) within scholarly circles focused on studying the impetus of metaphysics in the history of ideas in Islam and Early Islamic philosophy;^[19] perhaps under the indirect influence of the tradition of the French Orientalist and philosopher Henri Corbin.^[20]

In addition, the work of Jim Ruddy in the field of comparative philosophy, combined the concept of Transcendental Ego in Husserl's phenomenology with the concept of the primacy of self-consciousness in the work of Sankaracharya. In the course of this work, Ruddy uncovered a wholly new eidetic phenomenological science, which he called "convergent phenomenology." This new phenomenology takes over where Husserl left off, and deals with

the constitution of relation-like, rather than merely thing-like, or "intentional" objectivity.^[21]

Historical overview of the use of the term

Phenomenology has at least three main meanings in philosophical history: one in the writings of G.W.F. Hegel, another in the writings of Edmund Husserl in 1920, and a third, deriving from Husserl's work, in the writings of his former research assistant Martin Heidegger in 1927.

- For G.W.F. Hegel, phenomenology is an approach to philosophy that begins with an exploration of phenomena (what presents itself to us in conscious experience) as a means to finally grasp the absolute, logical, ontological and metaphysical Spirit that is behind phenomena. This has been called a "*dialectical phenomenology*".
- For Edmund Husserl, phenomenology is "the reflective study of the essence of consciousness as experienced from the first-person point of view."^[22] Phenomenology takes the intuitive experience of phenomena (what presents itself to us in phenomenological reflexion) as its starting point and tries to extract from it the essential features of experiences and the essence of what we experience. When generalized to the essential features of any possible experience, this has been called "*Transcendental Phenomenology*". Husserl's view was based on aspects of the work of Franz Brentano and was developed further by philosophers such as Maurice Merleau-Ponty, Max Scheler, Edith Stein, Dietrich von Hildebrand and Emmanuel Levinas.
- Martin Heidegger believed that Husserl's approach overlooked basic structural features of both the subject and object of experience (what he called their "being"), and expanded phenomenological enquiry to encompass our understanding and experience of Being itself, thus making phenomenology the method (in the first phase of his career at least) of the study of being, ontology.

The difference in approach between Husserl and Heidegger influenced the development of existential phenomenology and existentialism in France, as is seen in the work of Jean-Paul Sartre and Simone de Beauvoir. Munich phenomenologists (Johannes Daubert, Adolf Reinach, Alexander Pfänder in Germany and Alfred Schütz in Austria), and Paul Ricoeur have all been influenced. Readings of Husserl and Heidegger have also been crucial elements of the philosophies of Jacques Derrida and Bernard Stiegler.

Although the term "phenomenology" was used occasionally in the history of philosophy before Husserl, modern use ties it more explicitly to his particular method. Following is a list of thinkers in rough chronological order who used the term "phenomenology" in a variety of ways, with brief comments on their contributions: ^[23]

- Friedrich Christoph Oetinger (1702–1782) German pietist, for the study of the "divine system of relations"^[24]
- Johann Heinrich Lambert (1728–1777) (mathematician, physician and philosopher) known for the theory of appearances underlying empirical knowledge.^[25]
- Immanuel Kant (1724–1804), in the Critique of Pure Reason, distinguished between objects as phenomena, which are objects as shaped and grasped by human sensibility and understanding, and objects as *things-in-themselves* or noumena, which do not appear to us in space and time and about which we can make no legitimate judgments.
- G.W.F. Hegel (1770–1831) challenged Kant's doctrine of the unknowable thing-in-itself, and declared that by
 knowing phenomena more fully we can gradually arrive at a consciousness of the absolute and spiritual truth of
 Divinity. Hegel's *Phenomenology of Spirit*, published in 1807, prompted many opposing views, including the
 existential work of Søren Kierkegaard, Martin Heidegger, and Jean-Paul Sartre, as well as the materialist work of
 Marx and his many followers.
- Carl Stumpf (1848–1936), student of Brentano and mentor to Husserl, used "phenomenology" to refer to an ontology of sensory contents.
- Edmund Husserl (1859–1938) established phenomenology at first as a kind of "descriptive psychology" and later as a transcendental and eidetic science of consciousness. He is considered to be the founder of contemporary phenomenology.
- Max Scheler (1874–1928) developed further the phenomenological method of Edmund Husserl and extended it to include also a reduction of the scientific method. He influenced the thinking of Pope John Paul II, Dietrich von

Hildebrand, and Edith Stein.

- Martin Heidegger (1889–1976) criticized Husserl's theory of phenomenology and attempted to develop a theory of ontology that led him to his original theory of Dasein, the non-dualistic human being.
- Alfred Schütz (1899–1959) developed a phenomenology of the social world on the basis of everyday experience that has influenced major sociologists such as Harold Garfinkel, Peter Berger, and Thomas Luckmann.
- Francisco Varela (1946–2001) Chilean philosopher and biologist. Developed the basis for experimental phenomenology and neurophenomenology.
- Graham Harman (1968) Although working from within phenomenology, Harman finds the broad history of phenomenology to be deficient in that it constantly subordinates the independent life of objects to our (human) access to them. His radical break with the traditional use of terms such as intentionality as well as a fresh approach to metaphysics, stems from his greatest influences by such as the great phenomenologists Alphonso Lingis, Husserl, Ortega y Gasset, Zubiri, and Heidegger. Harman's thought is perhaps the first to combine phenomenology with speculative philosophers such as Whitehead, Leibniz, and the sort of radical thinking typified by Speculative Realism.

Later usage is mostly based on or (critically) related to Husserl's introduction and use of the term. This branch of philosophy differs from others in that it tends to be more "descriptive" than "prescriptive".

Further reading

- Handbook of Phenomenological Aesthetics. Edited by Hans Rainer Sepp and Lester Embree. (Series: Contributions To Phenomenology, Vol. 59) Springer, Dordrecht / Heidelberg / London / New York 2010. ISBN 978-90-481-2470-1
- The IAP LIBRARY ^[26] offers very fine sources for Phenomenology.
- The London Philosophy Study Guide ^[27] offers many suggestions on what to read, depending on the student's familiarity with the subject: Phenomenology ^[28]
- Dermot Moran, *Introduction to Phenomenology* (Oxford: Routledge, 2000) Charting phenomenology from Brentano, through Husserl and Heidegger, to Gadamer, Arendt, Levinas, Sartre, Merleau-Ponty and Derrida.
- Robert Sokolowski, "Introduction to Phenomenology (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press 2000) An excellent non-historical introduction to phenomenology.
- Herbert Spiegelberg, "The Phenomenological Movement: A Historical Introduction," 3rd ed. (The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff, 1983). The most comprehensive source on the development of the phenomenological movement.
- David Stewart and Algis Mickunas, "Exploring Phenomenology: A Guide to the Field and its Literature" (Athens: Ohio University Press 1990)
- Michael Hammond, Jane Howarth, and Russell Kent, "Understanding Phenomenology" (Oxford: Blackwell 1995)
- Christopher Macann, *Four Phenomenological Philosophers: Husserl, Heidegger, Sartre, Merleau-Ponty* (New York: Routledge: 1993)
- Jan Patočka, "Qu'est-ce que la phénoménologie?" In: *Qu'est-ce que la phénoménologie?*, ed. and trans. E. Abrams (Grenoble: J. Millon 1988), pp. 263–302. An answer to the question, What is phenomenology?, from a student of both Husserl and Heidegger and one of the most important phenomenologists of the latter half of the twentieth century.
- William A. Luijpen and Henry J. Koren, "A First Introduction to Existential Phenomenology" (Pittsburgh: Duquesne University Press 1969)
- Richard M. Zaner, "The Way of Phenomenology" (Indianapolis: Pegasus 1970)
- Hans Köchler, Die Subjekt-Objekt-Dialektik in der transzendentalen Phänomenologie. Das Seinsproblem zwischen Idealismus und Realismus. (Meisenheim a. G.: Anton Hain, 1974) (German)
- Hans Köchler, Phenomenological Realism: Selected Essays (Frankfurt a. M./Bern: Peter Lang, 1986)
- Mark Jarzombek, The Psychologizing of Modernity (Cambridge University Press, 2000).
- Seidner, Stanley S. (1989). "Köhler's Dilemma", In *Issues of Language Assessment*. vol 3. Ed., Stanley S.Seidner. Springfield, Il.: State Board of Education. pp. 5–6.
- Pierre Thévenaz, "What is Phenomenology?" (Chicago: Quadrangle Books 1962)
- ed. James M. Edie, "An Invitation to Phenomenology" (Chicago: Quadrangle Books 1965) A collection of seminal phenomenological essays.
- ed. R. O. Elveton, "The Phenomenology of Husserl: Selected Critical Readings" (Seattle: Noesis Press 2000) -Key essays about Husserl's phenomenology.
- ed. Laura Doyle, *Bodies of Resistance: New Phenomenologies of Politics, Agency, and Culture*. Evanston, Illinois: Northwestern University Press, 2001.
- eds. Richard Zaner and Don Ihde, "Phenomenology and Existentialism" (New York: Putnam 1973) Contains many key essays in existential phenomenology.
- Robert Magliola, *Phenomenology and Literature* (Purdue University Press, 1977; 1978) systematically describes, in Part One, the influence of Husserl, Heidegger, and the French Existentialists on the Geneva School and other forms of what becomes known as "phenomenological literary criticism"; and in Part Two describes phenomenological literary theory in Roman Ingarden and Mikel Dufrenne.
- Albert Borgmann and his work in philosophy of technology.
- eds. Natalie Depraz, Francisco Varela, Pierre Vermersch, *On Becoming Aware: A Pragmatics of Experiencing* (Amsterdam: John Benjamins 2003) searches for the sources and the means for a disciplined practical approach to exploring human experience.
- Don Ihde, "Experimental Phenomenology: An Introduction" (Albany, NY: SUNY Press)
- Sara Ahmed, "Queer Phenomenology: Orientations, Objects Others" (Durham: Duke University Press 2006)
- Michael Jackson, *Existential Anthropology*
- Sartre, Jean-Paul, Being and Nothingness
- Shaun Gallagher and Dan Zahavi, The Phenomenological Mind. London: Routledge, 2007.
- Steinbock, A. J. (1995). Home and Beyond, Generative Phenomenology After Husserl. Northwestern University Studies in Phenomenology and Existential Philosophy. [29]
- Espen Dahl, Phenomenology and the Holy: Religious experience after Husserl (London, SCM Press, 2010).

Journals

- Bulletin d'analyse phénoménologique ^[30]
- Janus Head: Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies in Literature, Continental Philosophy, Phenomenological Psychology, and the Arts ^[31]
- Journal of the British Society for Phenomenology^[32]
- Research in Phenomenology ^[33]
- Newsletter of Phenomenology ^[34] (online-newsletter)
- Studia Phaenomenologica ^[35] ISSN 1582-5647
- Indo-Pacific Journal of Phenomenology ^[36]
- The Roman Ingarden Philosophical Research Centre^[37]
- Phenomenology and the Cognitive Sciences ^[38]
- Continental Philosophy Review ^[39]
- Human Studies ^[40]
- Husserl Studies ^[41]
- Phenomenology & Practice ^[42]
- Journal Phaenomenologie ^[43]

Book Series

- Edmund Husserl: Gesammelte Werke ^[44]
- Edmund Husserl: Collected Works ^[45]
- Edmund Husserl: Dokumente ^[46]
- Edmund Husserl: Materialien ^[47]
- Analecta Husserliana ^[48]
- Phaenomenologica ^[49]
- Contributions to Phenomenology^[50]
- Studies in German Idealism ^[51]

References

- [1] Hicks, Stephen (2004). Understanding Postmodernism: Skepticism and Socialism from Rousseau to Foucault, Tempe, AZ: Scholargy.
- [2] Hicks, p. 43-44
- [3] Rollinger, Robin (1999), Husserl's Position in the School of Brentano, Dordrecht / Boston / London: Kluwer
- [4] Husserl, Edmund. The Crisis of the European Sciences and Transcendental Phenomenology. Evanston: Northwestern University Press, 1970, pg. 240.
- [5] Natanson, M. (1973) Edmund Husserl: Philosopher of infinite tasks. Evanston: Northwestern University Press.
- [6] Safranski, R. (1998) Martin Heidegger: Between good and evil. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- [7] http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/intentionality/
- [8] http://www.etymonline.com/index.php?term=intent
- [9] Robert Sokolowski, Introduction to Phenomenology, Cambridge University Press (2000). Pp. 159-160. This use of the word evidence may seem strange in English, but is more common in German, which is the language Husserl wrote in.
- [10] Sokolowski, Introduction, pp. 160-161.
- [11] I.e. if A loves B, loving is a real part of A's conscious activity Noesis but gets its sense from the general concept of loving, which has an abstract or ideal meaning, as "loving" has a meaning in the English language independently of what an individual means by the word when they use it.
- [12] For a full account of the controversy and a review of positions taken, see David Woodruff Smith, Husserl, Routledge, 2007, pp304-311.
- [13] On the Logical Investigations, see Zahavi, Dan; Stjernfelt, Frederik, eds. (2002), One Hundred Years of Phenomenology (Husserl's Logical Investigations Revisited), Dordrecht / Boston / London: Kluwer; and Mohanty, Jitendra Nath, ed. (1977), Readings on Edmund Husserl's Logical Investigations, Den Haag: Nijhoff
- [14] Heidegger, Martin (1975), "Introduction" (http://www.marxists.org/reference/subject/philosophy/works/ge/heidegge.htm), The Basic Problems of Phenomenology, Indiana University Press,
- [15] I have attempted to respond to the request for clarification of Heidegger's distinction between being and Being. My info source was http:// www.uni.edu/boedeker/NNhHeidegger2.doc.It was not copied and pasted but rephrased for copyright reasons.
- [16] See for instance references to Heidegger's "A Dialogue on Language between a Japanese and an Inquirer," in On the Way to Language (New York: Harper & Row, 1971). Heidegger himself had contacts with some leading Japanese intellectuals, including members of the Kyoto School, notably Hajime Tanabe, Kuki Shūzō and Kiyoshi Miki.
- [17] An account given by Paul Hsao (in *Heidegger and Asian Thought*) records a remark by Chang Chung-Yuan claiming that "Heidegger is the only Western Philosopher who not only intellectually understands but has intuitively grasped Taoist thought"
- [18] Tomonubu Imamichi, In Search of Wisdom. One Philosopher's Journey, Tokyo, International House of Japan, 2004 (quoted by Anne Fagot-Largeau during her lesson (http://www.college-de-france.fr/default/EN/all/phi_sci/p1184676830986.htm) at the Collège de France on December 7, 2006).
- [19] See for instance: Nader El-Bizri, The Phenomenological Quest between Avicenna and Heidegger (Binghamton, N.Y.: Global Publications SUNY, 2000) ISBN 1586840053
- [20] A book-series under the title: Islamic Philosophy and Occidental Phenomenology in Dialogue (http://www.springer.com/series/6137) has been recently established by Springer (Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht) in association with the World Phenomenology Institute (http://www.phenomenology.org/). This initiative has been initiated by the Polish phenomenologist Anna-Teresa Tymieniecka, editor of Analecta Husserliana.
- [21] See the thesis, "Convergent Phenomenology," presented to the University of Madras, June, 1979.
- [22] Smith, David Woodruff (2007), Husserl, London-New York: Routledge
- [23] Partially based on Schuhmann, Karl (2004), ""Phänomenologie": Eine Begriffsgeschichtilche Reflexion", in Leijenhorst, Cees; Steenbakkers, Piet, Karl Schuhmann. Selected Papers on Phenomenology, Dordrecht / Boston / London: Kluwer, pp. 1–33
- [24] Ernst Benz, Christian Kabbalah: Neglected Child of Theology
- [25] Lambert, Johann Heinrich (1772). Anmerkungen und Zusätze zur Entwerfung der Land- und Himmelscharten. Von J. H. Lambert (1772.) Hrsg. von A. Wangerin. Mit 21 Textfiguren. (xml). W. Engelmann, reprint 1894.

- [26] http://iap.li/default.php
- [27] http://www.ucl.ac.uk/philosophy/LPSG/
- [28] http://www.ucl.ac.uk/philosophy/LPSG/Phenomenology.htm
- $\label{eq:combooks} [29] \ http://books.google.com/books?id=0IPtMDR3oX8C\&dq=\%22Home+and+Beyond,+Generative+Phenomenology+After+and+Beyond,+Generative+Beyond,+Generative+Beyond,+B$
- $Husserl\%22\& printsec=frontcover\& source=bn\&hl=en\&sa=X\&oi=book_result\& resnum=4\&ct=result\#PPA21, M1bergering and the state of the stat$
- [30] http://popups.ulg.ac.be/bap.htm
- [31] http://www.janushead.org
- [32] http://www.britishphenomenology.com
- [33] http://www.brill.nl/m_catalogue_sub6_id9390.htm
- [34] http://www.phenomenology.ro/newsletter/newsletter_all.htm
- [35] http://www.studia-phaenomenologica.com/
- [36] http://www.ipjp.org/
- [37] http://www.roman-ingarden.phils.uj.edu.pl/ang/index.php
- [38] http://www.springer.com/11097
- [39] http://www.springer.com/11007
- [40] http://www.springer.com/10746
- [41] http://www.springer.com/10743
- [42] http://www.phandpr.org/
- [43] http://www.journal-phaenomenologie.ac.at/jphhome.html
- [44] http://www.springer.com/series/6062
- [45] http://www.springer.com/series/6059
- [46] http://www.springer.com/series/6060
- [47] http://www.springer.com/series/6061
- [48] http://www.springer.com/series/5621
- [49] http://www.springer.com/series/6409
- [50] http://www.springer.com/series/5811
- [51] http://www.springer.com/series/6545

External links

- What is Phenomenology? (http://www.phenomenologycenter.org/phenom.htm)
- About Edmund Husserl (http://www.husserlpage.com/)
- Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy entry (http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/phenomenology/)
- Organization of Phenomenology Organizations (http://www.o-p-o.net/)
- Romanian Society for Phenomenology (http://www.phenomenology.ro)
- Phenomenology Online (http://www.phenomenologyonline.com/)
- Dialectical Phenomenology (http://www.thenewdialectics.org)
- The New Phenomenology (http://www.thenewphenomenology.org)
- Springer's academic Phenomenology program (http://www.springer.com/philosophy/phenomenology)
- Phenomenology and First Philosophy (http://www.fenomenologiayfilosofiaprimera.com/)
- Meta: Research in Hermeneutics, Phenomenology, and Practical Philosophy (http://www.metajournal.org/ display_page.php?title=home)
- Phenomenology Research Center (http://www.phenomenologyresearchcenter.org/)

Clark Moustakas

Dr. Moustakas (b. 1923) is an American psychologist and one of the leading experts on humanistic and clinical psychology. He helped establish the Association for Humanistic Psychology and the Journal for Humanistic Psychology. He is the author of numerous books and articles on humanistic psychology, education and human science research. His most recent books: *Phenomenological Research Methods; Heuristic Research; Existential Psychotherapy* and the *Interpretation of Dreams; Being-In, Being-For, Being-With* and *Relationship Play Therapy* are valuable additions to research and clinical literature. His current focus at MiSPP is the integration of philosophy, research and psychology in the education and training of humanistic clinical psychologists.

Biography

CLARK MOUSTAKAS, Ed.D., Ph.D. Educational and Clinical Psychology, Columbia University, President Emeritus and Co-Founder, CHS now known as the Michigan School of Professional Psychology MiSPP [1]. Moustakas co-found CHS-MiSPP with Cereta Perry, Ph.D, Bruce Douglass, Ph.D, and Diane Blau, Ph.D. The school has both an M.A. and PsyD program in Clinical Psychology.

In 1949 Dr. Moustakas joined the faculty at the Merrill-Palmer Institute (MPI) at Wayne State University in Detroit, MI. In 1953 he wrote his first book Children in Play Therapy. In 1956 he compiled Publication of The Self, the result of the dialogues between Abraham Maslow, Carl Rogers, Clark Moustakas and others, forging the Humanistic Psychology movement. Meetings were held at 40 E. Ferry Ave. in Detroit, MI. The publication of Dr. Moustakas's book Loneliness in 1961 was released to public acclaim and becomes the basis of heuristic research. In 1962 Dr. Moustakas participate in the formation of the American Association of Humanistic Psychology and the creation of the Journal of Humanistic Psychology.

In 1980-1981 Clark Moustakas, Cereta Perry, Diane Blau and Bruce Douglas co-created the Center for Humanistic Studies CHS, establishing an independence from the Merrill Palmer Institute MPI and in 1984 received full accreditation from the NCA.

From 1990-1994 Moustakas published *Heuristic Research: Design, Methodology and Applications* and *Phenomenological Research Methods*. In 2004 Dr. Moustakas and his daughter Kerry published *Loneliness, Creativity and Love: Awakening Meanings in Life*.

Bibliography

- Moustakas, C., & Moustakas, K. (2004). Loneliness, creativity and love: Awakening meanings in life. Philadelphia, PA: XLibris.
- Moustakas, C. (2002). Solitude and communion. Association for the Integration of the Whole Person, 2(2), 15.
- Moustakas, C. (2000). Heuristic research revisited. In K. J. Schneider, J. F. T. Bugental, & J. F. Pierson, Eds.), The handbook of humanistic psychology: Leading edges in theory, research, and practice (pp. 263-274). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Moustakas, C. (1999). Loneliness and self-disclosure. In A. C. Richards & T. Schumrun, (Eds.), Invitations to dialogue: The legacy of Sidney M. Jourard (pp. 107-112). Dubuque, IA: Kendall/Hunt Publishing.
- Moustakas, C. (1997). Relationship play therapy. Northvale, NJ: Jason Aronson.
- Moustakas, C. (1995). Being-in, being-for, being-with. Northvale, NJ: Jason Aronson.
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Existential psychotherapy and the interpretation of dreams. Northvale, NJ: Jason Aronson.
- Moustakas, C. (1994). The I and thou of evidence; A fusion of opposites. The Humanistic Psychologist, 22, 238-240.

- Moustakas, C. (1992). Firebrand: the experience of being different. The Humanistic Psychologist, 20(2-3), 175-188.
- Moustakas, C. & Mealy, J. (1992). Leaving home. ICIS Forum, 22(2), 65-66.
- Moustakas, C. (1991). An open letter to the members of the National Psychology Advisory Association. NPAA Communicator, 2(1), 1-3.
- Moustakas, C. (1990). Heuristic research: Design, methodology and applications. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Moustakas, C. (1988). Phenomenology, science and psychotherapy. Sydney, N.S: Family Life Institute, University College of Cape Breton.

Rev. 11/11/2010 2

- Moustakas, C. (1987). Phenomenology, discovery and meaning. Michigan Journal of Consulting and Development, 18(1), 21-24.
- Moustakas, C. (1986). Being in, being for, and being with. The Humanistic Psychologist, 14(2), 100-104.
- Moustakas, C. (1986). Origins of humanistic psychology. The Humanistic Psychologist, 14(2), 122-123.
- Moustakas, C. (1986). The nature and essence of poetry: A phenomenological view. Forum for Correspondence and Contact, 16(3), 3-5.
- Moustakas, C. (1985). Humanistic or humanism? Journal of Humanistic Psychology, 25(3), 5-12.
- Moustakas, C., & Douglass, B. (1985). Heuristic inquiry: The internal search to know. Journal of Humanistic Psychology, 25(3), 39-55.
- Moustakas, C. (1984). Clark Moustakas [Interview with Diane de Vienne and Stephanie Mevrin]. Therapy Now, 1(1), 26.
- Moustakas, C. (1982). Emotional adjustment and the play therapy process. In G.L. Landreth (Ed.), Play therapy: Dynamics of the process of counseling with

children (pp. 217-230). Springfield, IL: Thomas. (Reprinted from (1955) Journal of Genetic Psychology, 86, 79-99.)

- Moustakas, C. (1981). Rhythms, rituals and relationships. Detroit, MI: Center for Humanistic Studies.
- Moustakas, C. (1981). Heuristic research. In P. Reason & J. Rowan (Eds.), Human inquiry: A sourcebook new paradigm research (pp. 207-217). New York, NY: J.

Wiley. (Reprinted from Bugental, J. (Ed.). (1967). Challenges of humanistic psychology (pp. 100-107). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.)

- Moustakas, C. (1980). Authenticity or betrayal. In V. Hash (Ed.), Readings in human relations (pp. 2-16). Lexington, MA: Genn.
- Moustakas, C. (1977). Turning points. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Moustakas, C. (1977). Creative life. New York, NY: Van Nostrand.
- Moustakas, C. (1975). Who will listen?: Children and parents in play therapy. New Rev. 11/11/2010 3 York, NY: Ballantine Books.
- Moustakas, C. (1975). The touch of loneliness. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Moustakas, C. (1974). Conflict with a pupil. In L. Chamberlain & I. Carnot (Eds.), Improving school discipline. Springfield, IL: Charles C. Thomas.
- Moustakas, C. (1974). Alienation, education and existential life. In A. Kraft (Ed.), The human classroom. New York, NY: Harper & Row.
- Moustakas, C. (1974). Finding yourself, finding others. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Moustakas, C. (1974). Portraits of loneliness and love. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Moustakas, C., & Perry, C. (1973). I wish I knew how it would feel to be free: Humanizing learning in public schools. Detroit, MI: Merrill-Palmer Institute.
- Moustakas, C., & Perry, C. (1973). Learning to be free. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Moustakas, C. (1973). Loneliness. In F.T. Severin (Ed.), Discovering man in psychology. (pp. 50-52). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.

(Reprinted from Moustakas, C. (1961). Loneliness (pp. ix-xi). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.)

- Moustakas, C. (Ed.). (1973). The child's discovery of himself. New York, NY: Jason Aronson.
- Moustakas, C. (1972). Sex and self. In E. Eldridge (Ed.), Family relations. Dubuque, IA: Kendall/Hunt.
- Moustakas, C. (1972). Loneliness and love. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Moustakas, C. (1970). Loneliness and love. In B. Marshall (Ed.), Experience in being. Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks/Cole.
- Moustakas, C. (1969). Personal growth: The struggle for identity and human values. Cambridge, MA: H. A. Doyle.
- Moustakas, C. (1969). Confrontation and encounter. In L. Natalico, C. Hereford (Eds.), The teacher as a person. Dubuque, IA: W.C. Brown.

Rev. 11/11/2010 4

- Moustakas, C. (1968). Individuality and encounter. Cambridge, MA: Howard A. Doyle.
- Moustakas, C. (1967). Creativity and conformity. New York, NY: D. Van Nostrand.
- Moustakas, C. (1967). Heuristic research. In J. Bugental (Ed.), Challenges in humanistic Psychology (pp. 100-107). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Moustakas, C. (Ed.). (1966). Existential child therapy. New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Moustakas, C. (1966). The authentic teacher: Sensitivity and awareness in the classroom. Cambridge, MA: Howard A. Doyle.
- Moustakas, C. (1965). True experience and the self. In D. Hamacheck (Ed.), The self in growth, teaching and learning (pp. 40-48). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.

(Reprinted from The self, pp. 3-14, by Clark Moustakas, 1956, New York, NY: Harper & Row)

- Moustakas, C. (1965). The sense of self. In F.T. Severin (Ed.), Humanistic viewpoints in psychology (pp.349-356). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill. (Abridged from Journal of humanistic psychology, 1(1), 20-34, 1961)
- Moustakas, C. (1964). The burden of sensitivity and comparison in the onset of a brain seizure. Psychotherapy, 1(2), 67-74.
- Moustakas, C. (1963). Situational play therapy. In H. Peters, A. Riccio & J. Tuaranta (Eds.), Guidance in the elementary schools. New York, NY: MacMillan.
- Moustakas, C. (1963). Verbatim dialogue of a mother and child in therapy. Genetic Psychology Monographs, 67, 3-43.
- Moustakas, C. (1962). The sense of honesty. Psychologia, 5, 146-151.
- Moustakas, C. (1962). Honesty, idiocy and manipulation. Journal of Humanistic Psychology, 2(2), 1-15.
- Moustakas, C. (1962). Confrontation and encounter. Journal of Existential Psychiatry, 2(7), 263-290.
- Moustakas, C. (1961). The sense of self. Journal of Humanistic Psychology, 1(1), 20-34.
- Moustakas, C. (1961). Loneliness. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Moustakas, C. (1960). Communal loneliness. Psychologia, 3(3), 186-190. Rev. 11/11/2010 5
- Moustakas, C. (1959). Preface. In M.P. Berson, Kindergarten: Your child's big step (pp.7-9). New York, NY: Dutton.
- Moustakas, C. (1959). The alive and growing teacher. New York, NY: Philosophical Library.
- Moustakas, C. (1959). Psychotherapy with children: The living relationship. New York, NY: Ballantine Books.
- Moustakas, C. (1959). Creativity, conformity and the self. In M. Andrews (Ed.), Creativity and mental health. New York, NY: Syracuse University Press.
- Moustakas, C. (1958). Dimensions of the human relationship. Main Currents in Modern Thought, 14, 109-110.
- Moustakas, C., & Smillie, D. (1957). The significance of individual creativity for psychotherapy. Journal of Individual Psychology, 13, 159-164.
- Moustakas, C. (1957). Spoiled behavior in the school-age child. Child Study, 35, 16-21.

- Moustakas, C. (Ed.). (1956). The self: Explorations in personal growth. New York, NY:Harper & Row.
- Moustakas, C. (1956). The teacher and the child: Personal interaction in the classroom. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Moustakas, C., & Berson, M. (1956). The young child in school. New York, NY:Whiteside.
- Moustakas, C., & Callahan, R. (1956). Reflections on reflection of feelings. Journal of Social Psychology, 43, 323-331.
- Moustakas, C., & Schalock, H. (1955). An analysis of therapist-child interaction in play therapy. Child Development, 26, 143-157.
- Moustakas, C. (1955). The frequency and intensity of negative attitudes expressed in play therapy: A comparison of well-adjusted and disturbed young children. Journal of General Psychology, 86, 79-99.
- Moustakas, C., & Berson, M. (1955). The nursery school and the child care center. New York, NY: William Morrow.Rev. 11/11/2010 6
- Moustakas, C. (1953). Children in play therapy. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Moustakas, C., & Makowsky, C. (1952). Client-centered therapy with parents. Journal of Consulting Psychology, 16, 338-342.
- Moustakas, C. (1952). Personality studies conducted in nursery schools. Journal of Educational Research, 46, 161-177.
- Moustakas, C. (1951). A directory of nursery schools and child care centers in the United States. Detroit, MI: Merrill-Palmer School.

Foreign Language Publications: Chinese

• Moustakas, C. (1975). Ji mo yu ai [Loneliness and love]. Taibei Shi: Jing xiang chu ban she.

Dutch

- Moustakas, C. (1974). Liefde en eenzaamheid [Loneliness and love]. Rotterdam:Lemniscaat.
- Moustakas, C. (1973). Speltherapie: voor het gefrustreerde kind, het gestoorde kind, de gehandicapte [Psychotherapy with children]. Rotterdam: Lemniscaat.
- Moustakas, C. (1971). Creativiteit en conformisme [Creativity and conformity]. Rotterdam: Lemniscaat.
- Moustakas, C. (1976). Eenzaamheid [Loneliness]. Baarn: Ambo.

German

• Moustakas, C. (1984). Einsamkeit [Loneliness]. Düsseldorf: Patmos-Verlag.

Greek

- Moustakas, C. (1979). MONAXIKOTHTA και ΑΓΑΠΗ [Loneliness and love]. [Greece?]: Ekdoseis Georgiadi.
- Monstakas, C. (1990). Monaxia: He empeiria tou na eisai monos [Loneliness]. [Athena]: Diodos. Rev. 11/11/2010
 7

Italian

• Moustakas, C. (1969). Creativita e conformismo [Creativity and conformity]. Rome: Ubaldini.

Japanese

- Moustakas, C. (1997). Genshogakuteki shinri ryoho [Phenomenology, science and psychotherapy]. Kyoto: Mineruva Shobo.
- Moustakas, Clark E. (1992). Ningen sonzai no shinri ryoho [Rhythms, rituals and relationships]. Tokyo: Seishinryoho.
- Moustakas, Clark (1984). Ai to kodoku [Loneliness and Love]. Tokyo: Sogensha.
- Moustakas, Clark, (Ed.). (1980). Shishunki no jitsuzonteki kiki [Existential child therapy].

Tokyo: Iwasaki Gakujutsu Shuppansha.

• Moustakas, Clark. (1970). Kosei to deai. [Individuality and Encounter].

- Moustakas, C. (1968). Kodoku [Loneliness]. Tokyo: Iwasaki Gakujutsu Shuppansha.
- Moustakas, C. (1968). Jidoushinrigaku: suru anjuu ruienkankei. [Psychotherapy with Children: the Living Relationship]. Tokyo: Iwasaki Gakujutsu Shuppsha.
- Moustakas, C. (1968). Mondaiji no seicho to ningen kankei [The teacher and the child: Personal interaction in the classroom]. Tokyo: Iwasaki Gakujutsu Shuppansha.

Korean

 Moustakas, C. (1982). Inganjok songjang: Chongch`egam kwa ingan kach`i ui t`amgu [Personal growth]. Soul T`ukpyolsi: Ihwa Yoja Taehakkyo Ch`ulp`anbu.

Lithuanian

• Moustakas, C. (2008). Vienatve [Loneliness]. Kaunas: Zmogaus psichologijos studija.

Polish

• Moustakas, C. (2001). Fenomenologiczne metody badan [Phenomenological research Methods]. Białystok: Trans Humana.

Portuguese

• Moustakas, C. (1994). Descobrindo o eu e o outro [Finding yourself, finding others].

Minas Gerais, Brazil: Belo Horizonte. Rev.

References

 Guide to the Clark Moustakas Collection. http://cdn.calisphere.org/data/13030/sv/ft700007sv/files/ ft700007sv.pdf

References

[1] http://www.mispp.edu

Humanistic psychology

Humanistic psychology is a psychological perspective which rose to prominence in the mid-20th century, drawing on the work of early pioneers like Carl Rogers and the philosophies of existentialism and phenomenology. It adopts a holistic approach to human existence through investigations of meaning, values, freedom, tragedy, personal responsibility, human potential, spirituality, and self-actualization.^[1] ^[2] It believes that people are inherently good.

Conceptual origins

The humanistic approach has its roots in phenomenological and existentialist thought ^[3] (see Kierkegaard, Nietzsche, Heidegger, Merleau-Ponty and Sartre). Eastern philosophy and psychology also play a central role in humanistic psychology, as well as Judeo-Christian philosophies of personalism, as each shares similar concerns about the nature of human existence and consciousness.^[2]

For further information on influential figures in personalism, see: Emmanuel Mounier, Gabriel Marcel, Denis de Rougemont, Jacques Maritain, Martin Buber, Emmanuel Levinas, Max Scheler, Karol Wojtyla and Martin Luther King, Jr..

It is also sometimes understood within the context of the three different forces of psychology: behaviorism, psychoanalysis and humanism. Behaviorism grew out of Ivan Pavlov's work with the conditioned reflex, and laid the foundations for academic psychology in the United States associated with the names of John B. Watson and B.F. Skinner. This school was later called the science of behavior. Abraham Maslow later gave behaviorism the name "the second force". The "first force" came out of Freud's research of psychoanalysis, and the psychologies of Alfred Adler, Erik Erikson, Carl Jung, Erich Fromm, Karen Horney, Otto Rank, Melanie Klein, Harry Stack Sullivan, and others. These theorists and practitioners, although basing their observations on extensive clinical data, primarily focused on the depth or "unconscious" aspects of human existence ^[4]

In the late 1950s, psychologists concerned with advancing a more holistic vision of psychology convened two meetings in Detroit, Michigan. These psychologists, including Abraham Maslow, Carl Rogers, and Clark Moustakas, were interested in founding a professional association dedicated to a psychology that focused on uniquely human issues, such as the self, self-actualization, health, hope, love, creativity, nature, being, becoming, individuality, and meaning—that is, a concrete understanding of human existence. However, humanistic psychologists generally do not believe that we will understand human consciousness and behavior through scientific research.^[5]

Development of the field

These preliminary meetings eventually led to other developments, which culminated in the description of humanistic psychology as a recognizable "third force" in psychology (along with behaviorism and psychoanalysis). Significant developments included the formation of the Association for Humanistic Psychology (AHP) in 1961 and the launch of the *Journal of Humanistic Psychology* (originally "The Phoenix") in 1961.

Subsequently, graduate programs in Humanistic Psychology at institutions of higher learning grew in number and enrollment. In 1971, humanistic psychology as a field was recognized by the American Psychological Association (APA) and granted its own division (Division 32) within the APA. Division 32 publishes its own academic journal called *The Humanistic Psychologist*.^[2]

The major theorists considered to have prepared the ground for Humanistic Psychology are Abraham Maslow, Carl Rogers and Rollo May. Maslow was heavily influenced by Kurt Goldstein during their years together at Brandeis University. Psychoanalytic writers also influenced humanistic psychology. Maslow himself famously acknowledged his "indebtedness to Freud" in *Towards a Psychology of Being*^[6] Other psychoanalytic influences include the work of Wilhelm Reich, who discussed an essentially 'good', healthy core self and *Character Analysis* (1933), and Carl Gustav Jung's mythological and archetypal emphasis. Other noteworthy inspirations for and leaders of the movement

include Roberto Assagioli, Gordon Allport, Medard Boss, Martin Buber (close to Jacob L. Moreno), James Bugental, Victor Frankl, Erich Fromm, Hans-Werner Gessmann, Amedeo Giorgi, Kurt Goldstein, Sidney Jourard, R. D. Laing, Clark Moustakas, Lewis Mumford, Fritz Perls, Anthony Sutich, Thomas Szasz, Kirk J. Schneider, and Ken Wilber.^{[2] [7]}

A human science view is not opposed to quantitative methods, but, following Edmund Husserl:

- 1. favors letting the methods be derived from the subject matter and not uncritically adopting the methods of natural science,^[8] and
- 2. advocates for methodological pluralism. Consequently, much of the subject matter of psychology lends itself to qualitative approaches (e.g., the lived experience of grief), and quantitative methods are mainly appropriate when something can be counted without leveling the phenomena (e.g., the length of time spent crying).

Counseling and therapy

Humanistic psychology includes several approaches to counseling and therapy. Among the earliest approaches we find the developmental theory of Abraham Maslow, emphazising a hierarchy of needs and motivations; the existential psychology of Rollo May acknowledging human choice and the tragic aspects of human existence; and the person-centered or client-centered therapy of Carl Rogers, which is centered on the clients' capacity for self-direction and understanding of his/her own development.^[9]

Other approaches to humanistic counseling and therapy include Gestalt therapy, humanistic psychotherapy, depth therapy, holistic health, encounter groups, sensitivity training, marital and family therapies, body work, and the existential psychotherapy of Medard Boss.^[2] Existential-integrative psychotherapy, developed by Kirk Schneider (2008), is a relatively new development within humanistic and existential therapy.

Self-help is also included in humanistic psychology: Sheila Ernst and Lucy Goodison have described using some of the main humanistic approaches in self-help groups.^[10] Co-counselling, which is a purely self-help approach, is regarded as coming within humanistic psychology ^[11]. Humanistic theory has had a strong influence on other forms of popular therapy, including Harvey Jackins' Re-evaluation Counselling and the work of Carl Rogers.

Humanistic psychology tends to look beyond the medical model of psychology in order to open up a nonpathologizing view of the person.^[9] This usually implies that the therapist downplays the pathological aspects of a person's life in favour of the healthy aspects. A key ingredient in this approach is the meeting between therapist and client and the possibilities for dialogue. The aim of much humanistic therapy is to help the client approach a stronger and more healthy sense of self, also called self-actualization.^[2] ^[9] All this is part of humanistic psychology's motivation to be a science of human experience, focusing on the actual lived experience of persons.^[2]

Humanistic psychology and social issues

Although social transformation may not have been the primary focus in the past, a large percentage of contemporary humanistic psychologists currently investigate pressing social, cultural, and gender issues.^[12] Even the earliest writers who were associated with and inspired psychological humanism^[2] explored topics as diverse as the political nature of "normal" and everyday experience (RD Laing), the disintegration of the capacity to love in modern consumerist society (Erich Fromm),^[13] the growing technological dominance over human life (Medard Boss), and the question of evil (Rollo May-Carl Rogers debate). In addition, Maureen O'Hara, who worked with both Carl Rogers and Paolo Freire, has pointed to a convergence between the two thinkers given their distinct but mutually related focus on developing critical consciousness of situations which oppress and dehumanize.^[14]

Criticism

Critics of the field point out that it tends to ignore social change research. Isaac Prilleltensky, a self-described radical who champions community and feminist psychology, has argued for years that humanistic psychology inadvertently contributes to systemic injustice.^[15]

Further, it has been argued that the early incarnations of humanistic psychology lacked a cumulative empirical base,^[16] and the architects of the movement endorsed an "unembarrassed denial of human reciprocity and community."^[17] However, according to contemporary humanistic thinkers, humanistic psychology need not be understood to promote such ideas as narcissism, egotism, or selfishness.^[18]

The association of humanistic discourse with narcissistic and overly optimistic worldviews is a misreading of humanistic theory. In their response to Seligman & Csikszentmihalyi (2000), Bohart and Greening (2001) note that along with pieces on self-actualization and individual fulfillment, humanistic psychologists have also published papers on a wide range of social issues and topics, such as the promotion of international peace and understanding, awareness of the holocaust, the reduction of violence, and the promotion of social welfare and justice for all.^[18]

Criticisms that humanistic psychology lacks an "empirical base" have tended to rely on allegedly "restricted views" of what constitutes "empirical," an uncritical adoption of natural science methods (as opposed to human science methods), and an outright neglect of Rogers' own empirical work.^[19] To the contrary, humanistic psychology has a long history of empirical research,^[20] including but not limited to the work of Maslow, Amedeo Giorgi and David Elkins.^[21] In fact, humanistic psychology research traces its origins all the way back to American psychology pioneer William James' masterpiece, "Varieties of Religious Experience"^[20]

References

- "humanistic psychology n." A Dictionary of Psychology. Edited by Andrew M. Colman. Oxford University Press 2009. Oxford Reference Online. Oxford University Press. 25 May 2010 (http://www.oxfordreference.com/views/ENTRY.html?subview=Main&entry=t87.e3862)
- [2] Aanstoos, C. Serlin, I., & Greening, T. (2000). A History of Division 32 (Humanistic Psychology) of the American Psychological Association (http://www.apa.org/divisions/Div32/pdfs/history.pdf). In D. Dewsbury (Ed.), Unification through division: Histories of the divisions of the American Psychological Association, Vol. V. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- [3] Humanistic Psychology, APA (http://www.apa.org/about/division/div32.aspx)
- [4] AHP History, About Humanistic Psychology (http://www.ahpweb.org/aboutahp/whatis.html)
- [5] Carlson, Neil R. (2010). Psychology the Science of Behaviour. Canada: Pearson Canada Inc., pp. 22. ISBN 0205645240.
- [6] Maslow, A. (1998). Towards a psychology of being, 3rd ed. New York: Wiley.
- [7] Moss, D. (2001). The roots and geneaology of humanistic psychology. In K.J. Schneider, J.F.T. Bugental & J.F. Pierson (Eds.) *The handbook of humanistic psychology: Leading edges in theory, research and practice* (pp. 5-20). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications
- [8] Giorgi, Amedeo (2009). The descriptive phenomenological method in psychology: A modified Husserlian approach. Pittsburgh, PA: Duquesne University Press. ISBN 978-0-8207-0418-0
- [9] Clay, Rebecca A. (September 2002). "A renaissance for humanistic psychology. The field explores new niches while building on its past." *American Psychological Association Monitor*, 33(8).
- [10] Ernst, Sheila & Goodison, Lucy (1981). In our own hands: A book of self help therapy. London: The Women's Press. ISBN 0-7043-3841-6
- [11] John Rowan's Guide to Humanistic Psychology (http://ahpweb.org/rowan_bibliography/index.html)
- [12] Hoffman, Louis, et al. (2009). Existential psychology East-West. Colorado Springs: University of the Rockies Press. ISBN 978-0-8207-0418-0
- [13] Fromm, E. (1956). The art of loving. New York: Harper & Row.
- [14] O'Hara, M. (1989). Person-centered approach as conscientização: The works of Carl Rogers and Paulo Freire. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, 29(1), 11-35. doi:10.1177/0022167889291002.
- [15] See Prilleltensky, Isaac (Autumn 1992). "Humanistic Psychology, Human Welfare and the Social Order". The Journal of Mind and Behaviour 13 (4): 315–327.
- [16] Seligman, Martin; Csikszentmihalyi, Mihaly (January 2000). "Positive psychology: An introduction". American Psychologist 55 (1): 5–14.
- [17] Marin, Peter (October 1975). "The New Narcissism". Harper's Magazine, 45–56. http://www.harpers.org/archive/1975/10/0022323.
- [18] Bohart, Arthur C. & Greening, Thomas (January 2001). "Comment: Humanistic Psychology and Positive Psychology". American Psychologist, 56(1): 81–82.
- [19] Robbins, B. (2008). What is the Good Life: Positive psychology and the renaissance of humanistic psychology (http://mythosandlogos. com/Goodlife.pdf). *The Humanistic Psychologist*, 36,96–112

- [20] Wertz, F.J. (2001). Humanistic psychology and the qualitative research tradition. In K.J. Schneider, J.F.T. Bugental & J.F. Pierson (Eds.) *The handbook of humanistic psychology: Leading edges in theory, research and practice* (pp. 231-246). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications
- [21] Elkins, David (2009). Humanistic psychology: A clinical manifesto. Colorado Springs: University of the Rockies Press.

External links

- Association for Humanistic Psychology (http://www.ahpweb.org)
- Society for Humanistic Psychology, Division 32 of the American Psychological Association (http://www.apa. org/divisions/div32/)
- University of West Georgia's Humanistic Psychology Program (http://uwgpsychology.org)

Further reading

- Bugental, J.F.T (1964). "The Third Force in Psychology". Journal of Humanistic Psychology 4 (1): 19–25. doi:10.1177/002216786400400102.
- Rowan, John (2001). Ordinary Ecstasy: The Dialectics of Humanistic Psychology (3rd ed.). Brunner-Routledge. ISBN 0-415-23633-9
- Schneider, K.J.; Bugental, J.F.T.; Pierson, J.F., eds (2001). The handbook of humanistic psychology : leading edges in theory, research, and practice. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications. ISBN 0-7619-2121-4
- Schneider, K.J., ed (2008). Existential-integrative Psychotherapy: Guideposts to the Core of Practice. New York: Routledge. ISBN 978-0-415-95471-6
- Schneider, K.J.& Krug, O.T. (2010). Existential-Humanistic Therapy. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association Press.

Existentialism



The philosophers Søren Kierkegaard and Friedrich Nietzsche foreshadowed existentialism.

Existentialism is a term applied to the work of several 19th- and 20th-century philosophers who, despite profound doctrinal differences,^[1] ^[2] ^[3] shared the belief that philosophical thinking begins with the human subject—not merely the thinking subject, but the acting, feeling, living human individual.^[4] In existentialism, the individual's starting point is characterized by what has been called "the existential attitude", or a sense of disorientation and confusion in the face of an apparently meaningless or absurd world.^[5] Many existentialists have also regarded traditional systematic or academic philosophy, in both style and content, as too abstract and remote from concrete human experience.^[6] ^[7]

The early 19th century philosopher Søren Kierkegaard is regarded as the father of existentialism.^{[8] [9]} He maintained that the individual is solely responsible for giving her or his own life meaning and for living that life passionately and sincerely,^{[10] [11]} in spite of many existential obstacles and distractions including despair, angst, absurdity, alienation, and boredom.^[12]

History

Existentialism is foreshadowed most notably by 19th century philosophers Søren Kierkegaard and Friedrich Nietzsche, though it had forerunners in earlier centuries. In the 20th century, the German philosopher Martin Heidegger (starting from Husserl's phenomenology) influenced other existentialist philosophers such as Jean-Paul Sartre, Simone de Beauvoir and (absurdist) Albert Camus. Fyodor Dostoyevsky and Franz Kafka also described existentialist themes in their literary works. Although there are some common tendencies among "existentialist" thinkers, there are major differences and disagreements among them (for example, the divide between atheist existentialists like Sartre and theistic existentialists like Martin Buber and Paul Tillich); not all of them accept the validity of the term as applied to their own work.^[18]

Origins

The term "existentialism" seems to have been coined by the French philosopher Gabriel Marcel in the mid-1940s^[19] ^{[20] [21]} and adopted by Jean-Paul Sartre who, on October 29, 1945, discussed his own existentialist position in a lecture to the *Club Maintenant* in Paris. The lecture was published as *L'existentialisme est un humanisme*, a short book which did much to popularize existentialist thought.^[22]

The label has been applied retrospectively to other philosophers for whom existence and, in particular, human existence were key philosophical topics. Martin Heidegger had made human existence (*Dasein*) the focus of his work since the 1920s, and Karl Jaspers had called his philosophy "*Existenzphilosophie*" in the 1930s.^[20] ^[23] Both Heidegger and Jaspers had been influenced by the Danish philosopher Søren Kierkegaard. For Kierkegaard, the crisis of human existence had been a major theme.^[9] ^[24] ^[25] He came to be regarded as the first existentialist,^[21] and has been called the "father of existentialism".^[9] In fact he was the first to explicitly make existential questions a primary focus in his philosophy.^[26] In retrospect, other writers have also implicitly discussed existentialist themes throughout the history of philosophy and literature. Due to the exposure of existentialist themes over the decades, when society was officially introduced to existentialism, the term became quite popular almost immediately.

Examples of works by philosophers, writers and theologians who might be considered forerunners of existentialism include:

- Buddha's teachings,^[27]
- Saint Augustine in his *Confessions*,^[28]
- Mulla Sadra's transcendent theosophy,^[29]
- William Shakespeare's *Hamlet*,^[30]
- Blaise Pascal's *Pensées*, which examined "nothingness", not just in science, but with regard to the human condition.^[31]
- Voltaire's Candide^[32]
- Henry David Thoreau's Walden^[33]

The 19th century

As early as 1835 in a letter to his friend Peter Wilhelm Lund, the Danish philosopher **Søren Kierkegaard** wrote one of his first existentially sensitive passages.

What I really lack is to be clear in my mind what I am to do, not what I am to know, except in so far as a certain knowledge must precede every action. The thing is to understand myself, to see what God really wishes me to do: the thing is to find a truth which is true for me, to find the idea for which I can live and die. ... I certainly do not deny that I still recognize an imperative of knowledge and that through it one can work upon men, but it must be taken up into my life, and that is what I now recognize as the most important thing.

—Søren Kierkegaard, Letter to Peter Wilhelm Lund dated August 31, 1835, emphasis added^[34]

The early thoughts of Kierkegaard would be formalized in his prolific philosophical and theological writings, many of which would later form the modern foundation of 20th century existentialism.^[26] [35]



The Søren Kierkegaard Statue in Copenhagen.

Kierkegaard and Nietzsche

Søren Kierkegaard and Friedrich Nietzsche were two of the first philosophers considered fundamental to the existentialist movement, though neither used the term "existentialism" and it is unclear whether they would have supported the existentialism of the 20th century. They focused on subjective human experience rather than the objective truths of mathematics and science, which they believed were too detached or observational to truly get at the human experience. Like Pascal, they were interested in people's quiet struggle with the apparent meaninglessness of life and the use of diversion to escape from boredom. Unlike Pascal, Kierkegaard and Nietzsche also considered the role of making free choices, particularly regarding fundamental values and beliefs, and how such choices change the nature and identity of the chooser.^[36] Kierkegaard's knight of faith and Nietzsche's Übermensch are representative of people who exhibit Freedom, in that they define the nature of their own existence. Nietzsche's idealized individual invents his or her own values and creates the very terms under which they excel. By contrast, Kierkegaard was a Christian, but one who argued that objective certainty of religious truths was not only impossible, but would eliminate the passionate life required of a Christian who must make a leap of faith to believe in the paradox of the God-man Christ. Kierkegaard and Nietzsche were also precursors to other intellectual movements, including postmodernism, nihilism, and various strands of psychology.

Dostoyevsky and Kafka

Two of the first literary authors important to existentialism were the Czech Franz Kafka and the Russian Fyodor Dostoyevsky.^[37] Dostoyevsky's *Notes from Underground* portrays a man unable to fit into society and unhappy with the identities he creates for himself. Jean-Paul Sartre, in his book on existentialism *Existentialism is a Humanism*, quoted Dostoyevsky's *The Brothers Karamazov* as an example of existential crisis. Sartre attributes Ivan Karamazov's claim, "If God did not exist, all things would be permitted," to Dostoevsky himself. Others of Dostoyevsky's novels covered issues raised in existentialist philosophy while presenting story lines divergent from secular existentialism: for example, in *Crime and Punishment* the protagonist Raskolnikov experiences an existential crisis and then moves toward a Christian Orthodox worldview similar to that advocated by Dostoyevsky himself.

Early 20th century

In the first decades of the 20th century, a number of philosophers and writers had explored existentialist ideas, the only difference was in the name. The Spanish philosopher Miguel de Unamuno y Jugo, in his 1913 book *The Tragic Sense of Life in Men and Nations*, emphasized the life of "flesh and bone" as opposed to that of abstract rationalism. Unamuno rejected systematic philosophy in favor of the individual's quest for faith. He retained a sense of the tragic, even absurd nature of the quest, symbolized by his enduring interest in Cervantes' fictional character Don Quixote. A novelist, poet and dramatist as well as philosophy professor at the University of Salamanca, Unamuno's short story about a priest's crisis of faith, "Saint Manuel the Good, Martyr" has been collected in anthologies of existentialist fiction. Another Spanish thinker, Ortega y Gasset, writing in 1914, held that the human existence must always be defined as the individual person combined with the concrete circumstances of his life: "*Yo soy yo y mis circumstancias*" ("I am myself and my circumstances"). Sartre likewise believed that human existence is not an abstract matter, but is always situated ("*en situación*").

Although Martin Buber wrote his major philosophical works in German, and studied and taught at the Universities of Berlin and Frankfurt, he stands apart from the mainstream of German philosophy. Born into a Jewish family in Vienna in 1878, he was also a scholar of Jewish culture and involved at various times in Zionism and Hasidism. In 1938, he moved permanently to Jerusalem. His best-known philosophical work was the short book I and Thou, published in 1922. For Buber, the fundamental fact of human existence, too readily overlooked by scientific rationalism and abstract philosophical thought, is "man with man", a dialogue which takes place in the so-called "sphere of between" (*"das Zwischenmenschliche"*).^[38]

Two Ukrainian/Russian thinkers, Lev Shestov and Nikolai Berdyaev, became well known as existentialist thinkers during their post-Revolutionary exiles in Paris. Shestov, born into a Ukrainian-Jewish family in Kiev, had launched an attack on rationalism and systematization in philosophy as early as 1905 in his book of aphorisms *All Things Are Possible*.

Berdyaev, also from Kiev but with a background in the Eastern Orthodox Church, drew a radical distinction between the world of spirit and the everyday world of objects. Human freedom, for Berdyaev, is rooted in the realm of spirit, a realm independent of scientific notions of causation. To the extent the individual human being lives in the objective world, he is estranged from authentic spiritual freedom. "Man" is not to be interpreted naturalistically, but as a being created in God's image, an originator of free, creative acts.^[39] He published a major work on these themes, *The Destiny of Man*, in 1931.

Gabriel Marcel, long before coining the term "existentialism", introduced important existentialist themes to a French audience in his early essay "Existence and Objectivity" (1925) and in his *Metaphysical Journal* (1927).^[40] A dramatist as well as a philosopher, Marcel found his philosophical starting point in a condition of metaphysical alienation; the human individual searching for harmony in a transient life. Harmony, for Marcel, was to be sought through "secondary reflection", a "dialogical" rather than "dialectical" approach to the world, characterized by "wonder and astonishment" and open to the "presence" of other people and of God rather than merely to "information" about them. For Marcel, such presence implied more than simply being there (as one thing might be in the presence of another thing); it connoted "extravagant" availability, and the willingness to put oneself at the disposal of the other.^[41]

Marcel contrasted "secondary reflection" with abstract, scientific-technical "primary reflection" which he associated with the activity of the abstract Cartesian ego. For Marcel, philosophy was a concrete activity undertaken by a sensing, feeling human being incarnate — embodied — in a concrete world.^[40] ^[42] Although Jean-Paul Sartre adopted the term "existentialism" for his own philosophy in the 1940s, Marcel's thought has been described as "almost diametrically opposed" to that of Sartre.^[40] Unlike Sartre, Marcel was a Christian, and became a Catholic convert in 1929.

In Germany, the psychologist and philosopher Karl Jaspers — who later described existentialism as a "phantom" created by the public, $^{[43]}$ — called his own thought, heavily influenced by Kierkegaard and Nietzsche —

Existenzphilosophie. For Jaspers, "*Existenz*-philosophy is the way of thought by means of which man seeks to become himself...This way of thought does not cognize objects, but elucidates and makes actual the being of the thinker."^[44]

Jaspers, a professor at the University of Heidelberg, was acquainted with Martin Heidegger, who held a professorship at Marburg before acceding to Husserl's chair at Freiburg in 1928. They held many philosophical discussions, but later became estranged over Heidegger's support of National Socialism. They shared an admiration for Kierkegaard,^[45] and in the 1930s Heidegger lectured extensively on Nietzsche. Nevertheless, the extent to which Heidegger should be considered an existentialist is debatable. In *Being and Time* he presented a method of rooting philosophical explanations in human existence (*Dasein*) to be analysed in terms of existential categories (*existentiale*); and this has led many commentators to treat him as an important figure in the existentialist movement.

After the Second World War

Following the Second World War, existentialism became a well-known and significant philosophical and cultural movement, mainly through the public prominence of two French writers, Jean-Paul Sartre and Albert Camus, who wrote best-selling novels, plays and widely read journalism as well as theoretical texts. These years also saw the growing reputation of Heidegger's book *Being and Time* outside of Germany.



French philosophers Jean-Paul Sartre and Simone de Beauvoir

Sartre dealt with existentialist themes in his 1938 novel *Nausea* and the short stories in his 1939 collection *The Wall*, and had published his treatise on existentialism, *Being and Nothingness* in 1943, but it was in the two years following the liberation of Paris from the German occupying forces that he and his close associates — Camus, Simone de Beauvoir, Maurice Merleau-Ponty, and others — became internationally famous as the leading figures of a movement known as existentialism.^[46] In a very short space of time, Camus and Sartre in particular became the leading public intellectuals of post-war France, achieving by the end of 1945 "a fame that reached across all audiences."^[47] Camus was an editor of the most popular leftist (former French Resistance) newspaper *Combat*; Sartre launched his journal of leftist thought, *Les Temps Modernes*, and two weeks later gave the widely reported lecture on existentialism and secular humanism to a packed meeting of the Club Maintenant. Beauvoir wrote that "not a week passed without the newspapers discussing us";^[48]

By the end of 1947, Camus' earlier fiction and plays had been reprinted, his new play *Caligula* had been performed and his novel *The Plague* published; the first two novels of Sartre's *The Roads to Freedom* trilogy had appeared, as had Beauvoir's novel *The Blood of Others*. Works by Camus and Sartre were already appearing in foreign editions. The Paris-based existentialists had become famous.^[46]

Sartre had traveled to Germany in 1930 to study the phenomenology of Edmund Husserl and Martin Heidegger,^[50] and he included critical comments on their work in his major treatise *Being and Nothingness*. Heidegger's thought had also become known in French philosophical circles through its use by Alexandre Kojève in explicating Hegel in a series of lectures given in Paris in the 1930s.^[51] The lectures were highly influential; members of the audience included not only Sartre and Merleau-Ponty, but Raymond Queneau, Georges Bataille, Louis Althusser, André Breton and Jacques Lacan.^[52] A selection from Heidegger's *Being and Time* was published in French in 1938, and his essays began to appear in French philosophy journals.

Heidegger read Sartre's work and was initially impressed, commenting: "Here for the first time I encountered an independent thinker who, from the foundations up, has experienced the area out of which I think. Your work shows such an immediate comprehension of my philosophy as I have never before encountered."^[53] Later, however, in response to a question posed by his French follower Jean Beaufret,^[54] Heidegger distanced himself from Sartre's position and existentialism in general in his *Letter on Humanism*.^[55] Heidegger's reputation continued to grow in France during the 1950s and 1960s. In the 1960s, Sartre attempted to reconcile existentialism and Marxism in his work *Critique of Dialectical Reason*. A major theme throughout his writings was freedom and responsibility.



French-Algerian philosopher, novelist, and playwright Albert Camus

Camus was a friend of Sartre, until their falling-out, and wrote several works with existential themes including *The Rebel*, *The Stranger*, *The Myth of Sisyphus*, and *Summer in Algiers*. Camus, like many others, rejected the existentialist label,

and considered his works to be concerned with facing the absurd. In the titular book, Camus uses the analogy of the Greek myth of Sisyphus to demonstrate the futility of existence. In the myth, Sisyphus is condemned for eternity to roll a rock up a hill, but when he reaches the summit, the rock will roll to the bottom again. Camus believes that this existence is pointless but that Sisyphus ultimately finds meaning and purpose in his task, simply by continually applying himself to it. The first half of the book contains an extended rebuttal of what Camus took to be existentialist philosophy in the works of Kierkegaard, Shestov, Heidegger, and Jaspers.



French philosopher and novelist Simone de Beauvoir.

Simone de Beauvoir, an important existentialist who spent much of her life as Sartre's partner, wrote about feminist and existentialist ethics in her works, including *The Second Sex* and *The Ethics of Ambiguity*. Although often overlooked due to her relationship with Sartre, de Beauvoir integrated existentialism with other forms of thinking such as feminism, unheard of at the time, resulting in alienation from fellow writers such as Camus.

Paul Tillich, an important existentialist theologian following Kierkegaard and Karl Barth, applied existentialist concepts to Christian theology, and helped introduce existential theology to the general public. His seminal work *The Courage to Be* follows Kierkegaard's analysis of anxiety and life's absurdity, but puts forward the thesis that modern humans must, via God, achieve selfhood in spite of life's absurdity. Rudolf Bultmann used Kierkegaard's and Heidegger's philosophy of existence to demythologize Christianity by interpreting Christian

mythical concepts into existentialist concepts.

Maurice Merleau-Ponty, an existential phenomenologist, was for a time a companion of Sartre. His understanding of Husserl's phenomenology was far greater than that of Merleau-Ponty's fellow existentialists. It has been said that his work *Humanism and Terror* greatly influenced Sartre. However, in later years they were to disagree irreparably, dividing many existentialists such as de Beauvoir, who sided with Sartre.

Colin Wilson, an English writer, published his study *The Outsider* in 1956, initially to critical acclaim. In this book and others (e.g. *Introduction to the New Existentialism*), he attempted to reinvigorate what he perceived as a pessimistic philosophy and bring it to a wider audience. He was not, however, academically trained, and his work was attacked by professional philosophers for lack of rigor and critical standards.^[56]

What is existentialism?

Existentialism refers to a set of ideas about human existence, beyond the terms used in ancient philosophy and objective science.^[57] The term "existentialism" is used both for philosophical concepts and for literary works,^[57] as well as being a label applied to various works by others. The exact meaning depends on the particular writer, and some writers objected to the notion of being called "existentialists" as an attempt to restrict their ideas into a pre-defined category.^[57]

The early 19th century philosopher Søren Kierkegaard, posthumously regarded as the father of existentialism, maintained that the individual has the sole responsibility for giving one's own life meaning and with living life passionately and sincerely, in spite of many obstacles and distractions including despair, angst, absurdity, choice, boredom, and death. Subsequent existential philosophers retain the emphasis on the subjective individual, but differ, in varying degrees, on how one achieves a fulfilling life, what obstacles must be overcome, and what external and internal factors are involved, including the potential consequences of the existence or non-existence of God. Some existentialists considered the meaning of life to be based in faith, while others noted self-determined goals. Existentialism became fashionable after World War II, as a way to reassert the importance of human individuality and freedom. As such, many existential philosophers did not consider themselves existentialists as they did not want to be associated to or typecast with other philosophers' conception of existentialism.

In general, existentialism has been described as a set of ideas to categorize human existence, beyond the traditional ancient philosophies and scientific method.^[57] Specific variations of those ideas are described below, under: Concepts.

Concepts

Focus on concrete existence

Existentialist thinkers focus on the question of concrete human existence and the conditions of this existence rather than hypothesizing a human essence, stressing that the human essence is determined through life choices. However, even though the concrete individual existence must have priority in existentialism, certain conditions are commonly held to be "endemic" to human existence.

What these conditions are is better understood in light of the meaning of the word "existence," which comes from the Latin "existere," meaning "to stand out" (according to the OED, "existere" translates as "come into being"; the other definition presented here allows for a slanted view and false implications as seen in the following passage.) Humans exist in a state of distance from the world that they nonetheless remain in the midst of. This distance is what enables humans to project meaning into the disinterested world of in-itselfs. This projected meaning remains fragile, constantly facing breakdown for any reason — from a tragedy to a particularly insightful moment. In such a breakdown, humans are put face to face with the naked meaninglessness of the world, and the results can be devastating.

It is in relation to the concept of the devastating awareness of meaninglessness that Albert Camus claimed that "there is only one truly serious philosophical problem, and that is suicide" in his *The Myth of Sisyphus*. Although "prescriptions" against the possibly deleterious consequences of these kinds of encounters vary, from Kierkegaard's religious "stage" to Camus' insistence on persevering in spite of absurdity, the concern with helping people avoid living their lives in ways that put them in the perpetual danger of having everything meaningful break down is common to most existentialist philosophers. The possibility of having everything meaningful break down poses a threat of quietism, which is inherently against the existentialist philosophy.^[58] It has been said that the possibility of suicide makes all humans existentialists.^[59]

Existence precedes essence

A central proposition of existentialism is that existence precedes essence, which means that the actual life of the individual is what constitutes what could be called his or her "essence" instead of there being a predetermined essence that defines what it is to be a human. Thus, the human beings – through their own consciousness – create their own values and determine a meaning to their life.^[60] Although it was Sartre who explicitly coined the phrase, similar notions can be found in the thought of many existentialist philosophers, from Mulla Sadra,^[61] to Kierkegaard, to Heidegger.

It is often claimed in this context that a person defines him or herself, which is often perceived as stating that they can "wish" to be something — anything, a bird, for instance — and then be it. According to most existentialist philosophers, however, this would constitute an inauthentic existence. Instead, the phrase should be taken to say that the person is (1) defined only insofar as he or she acts and (2) that he or she is responsible for his or her actions. For example, someone who acts cruelly towards other people is, by that act, defined as a cruel person. Furthermore, by this action of cruelty such persons are themselves *responsible* for their new identity (a cruel person). This is as opposed to their genes, or 'human nature', bearing the blame.

As Sartre puts it in his Existentialism is a Humanism: "man first of all exists, encounters himself, surges up in the world – and defines himself afterwards." Of course, the more positive, therapeutic aspect of this is also implied: A person can choose to act in a different way, and to be a good person instead of a cruel person. Here it is also clear that since humans can choose to be either cruel or good, they are, in fact, neither of these things *essentially*.^[62]

Angst

"Existential" Angst, sometimes called dread, anxiety or even anguish is a term that is common to many existentialist thinkers. It is generally held to be a negative feeling arising from the experience of human freedom and responsibility. The archetypal example is the experience one has when standing on a cliff where one not only fears falling off it, but also dreads the possibility of throwing oneself off. In this experience that "nothing is holding me back", one senses the lack of anything that predetermines one to either throw oneself off or to stand still, and one experiences one's own freedom.

It can also be seen in relation to the previous point how angst is before *nothing*, and this is what sets it apart from fear which has an object. While in the case of fear, one can take definitive measures to remove the object of fear, in the case of angst, no such "constructive" measures are possible. The use of the word "nothing" in this context relates both to the inherent insecurity about the consequences of one's actions, and to the fact that, in experiencing one's freedom as angst, one also realizes that one will be fully responsible for these consequences; there is no *thing* in a person (their genes, for instance) that acts in their stead, and that they can "blame" if something goes wrong.

Not every choice is perceived as having dreadful possible consequences (and, it can be claimed, human lives would be unbearable if every choice facilitated dread), but that doesn't change the fact that freedom remains a condition of every action. One of the most extensive treatments of the existentialist notion of Angst is found in Søren Kierkegaard's monumental work *Begrebet Angest*.

Freedom

The existentialist concept of freedom is often misunderstood as a sort of liberum arbitrium where almost anything is possible and where values are inconsequential to choice and action. This interpretation of the concept is often related to the insistence on the absurdity of the world and the assumption that there exists no relevant or absolutely good or bad values. However, that there are no values to be found in the world *in-itself* does not mean that there are no values: We are usually brought up with certain values, and even though we cannot justify them ultimately, they will be "our" values.

In Kierkegaard's Judge Vilhelm's account in *Either/Or*, making choices without allowing one's values to confer differing values to the alternatives, is, in fact, choosing not to make a choice — to flip a coin, as it were, and to leave everything to chance. This is considered to be a refusal to live in the consequence of one's freedom; an inauthentic existence. As such, existentialist freedom isn't situated in some kind of abstract space where everything is possible: since people are free, and since they already exist in the world, it is implied that their freedom is only in this world, and that it, too, is restricted by it.

What *is not* implied in this account of existential freedom, however, is that one's values are immutable; a consideration of one's values may cause one to reconsider and change them. A consequence of this fact is that one is not only responsible for one's actions, but also for the values one holds. This entails that a reference to common values doesn't excuse the individual's actions: Even though these are the values of the society the individual is part of, they are also her/his own in the sense that she/he could choose them to be different at any time. Thus, the focus on freedom in existentialism is related to the limits of the responsibility one bears as a result of one's freedom: the relationship between freedom and responsibility is one of interdependency, and a clarification of freedom also clarifies that for which one is responsible.

Facticity

A concept closely related to freedom is that of facticity, a concept defined by Sartre in *Being and Nothingness* as that "in-itself" of which humans are in the mode of not being. This can be more easily understood when considering it in relation to the temporal dimension of past: One's past is what one is in the sense that it co-constitutes oneself. However, to say that one is *only* one's past would be to ignore a large part of reality (the present and the future), while saying that one's past is only what one *was* would entirely detach it from them *now*. A denial of one's own concrete past constitutes an inauthentic lifestyle, and the same goes for all other kinds of facticity (having a body (e.g. one that doesn't allow a person to run faster than the speed of sound), identity, values, etc.).

Facticity is both a limitation and a condition of freedom. It is a limitation in that a large part of one's facticity consists of things one couldn't have chosen (birthplace, etc.), but a condition in the sense that one's values most likely will depend on it. However, even though one's facticity is "set in stone" (as being past, for instance), it cannot *determine* a person: The value ascribed to one's facticity is still ascribed to it freely *by that person*. As an example, consider two men, one of whom has no memory of his past and the other remembers everything. They have both committed many crimes, but the first man, knowing nothing about this, leads a rather normal life while the second man, feeling trapped by his own past, continues a life of crime, blaming his own past for "trapping" him in this life. There is nothing essential about his committing crimes, but he ascribes this meaning to his past.

However, to disregard one's facticity when one, in the continual process of self-making, projects oneself into the future, would be to put oneself in denial of oneself, and would thus be inauthentic. In other words, the origin of one's projection will still have to be one's facticity, although in the mode of not being it (essentially). Another aspect of facticity is that it entails angst, both in the sense that freedom "produces" angst when limited by facticity, and in the sense that the lack of the possibility of having facticity to "step in" for one to take responsibility for something one has done also produces angst.

Authenticity and inauthenticity

The theme of authentic existence is common to many existentialist thinkers. It is often taken to mean that one has to "find oneself" and then live in accordance with this self. A common misunderstanding is that the self is something one can find if one looks hard enough, that one's true self is substantial.

What is meant by authenticity is that in acting, one should act as oneself, not as *One* acts or as *one's genes* or any other essence require. The authentic act is one that is in accordance with one's freedom. Of course, as a condition of freedom is facticity, this includes one's facticity, but not to the degree that this facticity can in any way *determine* one's choices (in the sense that one could then blame one's background for making the choice one made). The role of facticity in relation to authenticity involves letting one's actual values come into play when one makes a choice (instead of, like Kierkegaard's Aesthete, "choosing" randomly), so that one also takes responsibility for the act instead of choosing either-or without allowing the options to have different values.

In contrast to this, the inauthentic is the denial to live in accordance with one's freedom. This can take many forms, from pretending choices are meaningless or random, through convincing oneself that some form of determinism is true, to a sort of "mimicry" where one acts as "*One* should." How "One" should act is often determined by an image one has of how one such as oneself (say, a bank manager, lion tamer, prostitute, etc.) acts. This image usually corresponds to some sort of social norm, but this does not mean that all acting in accordance with social norms is inauthentic: The main point is the attitude one takes to one's own freedom and responsibility, and the extent to which one acts in accordance with this freedom.

Despair

Commonly defined as a loss of hope,^[63] Despair in existentialism is more specifically related to the reaction to a breakdown in one or more of the defining qualities of one's self or identity. If a person is invested in being a particular *thing*, such as a bus driver or an upstanding citizen, and then finds their being-thing compromised, they would normally be found in state of despair—a *hopeless* state. For example, an athlete who loses his legs in an accident may despair if he has nothing else to fall back on, nothing on which to rely for his identity. He finds himself unable to be that which defined his being.

What sets the existentialist notion of despair apart from the dictionary definition is that existentialist despair is a state one is in even when they aren't overtly in despair. So long as a person's identity depends on qualities that can crumble, they are considered to be in perpetual despair. And as there is, in Sartrean terms, no human essence found in conventional reality on which to constitute the individual's sense of identity, despair is a universal human condition. As Kierkegaard defines it in his Either/or: "Any life-view with a condition outside it is despair."^[64] In other words, it is possible to be *in despair* without *despairing*.

The Other and the Look

This concept of the 'Other' has been most comprehensively used by feminist existentialist Simone de Beauvoir. She used this concept in great detail in her feminist book The Second Sex to show how, despite women's sincere efforts at proving themselves as human beings firmly established in their own rights, men continue to relegate to them a status of a lower, inferior "other". It is in this context that this feminist-existential term has to be understood.

The Other (when written with a capital "o") is a concept more properly belonging to phenomenology and its account of intersubjectivity. However, the concept has seen widespread use in existentialist writings, and the conclusions drawn from it differ slightly from the phenomenological accounts. The experience of the Other is the experience of another free subject who inhabits the same world as a person does. In its most basic form, it is this experience of the Other that constitutes intersubjectivity and objectivity. To clarify, when one experiences someone else, and this Other person experiences the world (the same world that a person experiences), only from "over there", the world itself is constituted as objective in that it is something that is "there" as identical for both of the subjects; a person experiences the other person as experiencing the same as them. This experience of the Other's look is what is termed the Look (sometimes the Gaze).

While this experience, in its basic phenomenological sense, constitutes the world as objective, and oneself as objectively existing subjectivity (one experiences oneself as seen in the Others Look in precisely the same way that one experiences the Other as seen by them, as subjectivity), in existentialism, it also acts as a kind of limitation of one's freedom. This is because the Look tends to objectify what it sees. As such, when one experiences oneself in the Look, one doesn't experience oneself as nothing (no thing), but as something. Sartre's own example of a man peeping at someone through a keyhole can help clarify this: at first, this man is entirely caught up in the situation he is in; he is in a pre-reflexive state where his entire consciousness is directed at what goes on in the room. Suddenly, he hears a creaking floorboard behind him, and he becomes aware of himself *as seen by the Other*. He is thus filled with shame for he perceives himself as he would perceive someone else doing what he was doing, as a Peeping Tom. The Look is then co-constitutive of one's facticity.

Another characteristic feature of the Look is that no Other *really* needs to have been there: It is quite possible that the creaking floorboard was nothing but the movement of an old house; the Look isn't some kind of mystical telepathic experience of the *actual* way the other sees one (there may also have been someone there, but he could have not noticed that the person was there). It is only one's *perception* of the way another might perceive them.

Reason

Emphasizing action, freedom, and decision as fundamental, existentialists oppose themselves to rationalism and positivism. That is, they argue against definitions of human beings as primarily rational. Rather, existentialists look at where people find meaning. Existentialism asserts that people actually make decisions based on the meaning to them rather than rationally. The rejection of reason as the source of meaning is a common theme of existentialist thought, as is the focus on the feelings of anxiety and dread that we feel in the face of our own radical freedom and our awareness of death. Kierkegaard saw strong rationality as a mechanism humans use to counter their existential anxiety, their fear of being in the world: "If I can believe that I am rational and everyone else is rational then I have nothing to fear and no reason to feel anxious about being free." However, Kierkegaard advocated rationality as means to interact with the objective world (e.g. in the natural sciences), but when it comes to existential problems, reason is insufficient: "Human reason has boundaries".^[65]

Like Kierkegaard, Sartre saw problems with rationality, calling it a form of "bad faith", an attempt by the self to impose structure on a world of phenomena — "the Other" — that is fundamentally irrational and random. According to Sartre, rationality and other forms of bad faith hinder people from finding meaning in freedom. To try to suppress their feelings of anxiety and dread, people confine themselves within everyday experience, Sartre asserts, thereby relinquishing their freedom and acquiescing to being possessed in one form or another by "the Look" of "the Other" (i.e. possessed by another person — or at least one's idea of that other person). In a similar vein, Camus believed that society and religion falsely teach humans that "the Other" has order and structure.^[66] For Camus, when an individual's consciousness, longing for order, collides with the Other's lack of order, a third element is born: absurdity.

The Absurd

The notion of the Absurd contains the idea that there is no meaning to be found in the world beyond what meaning we give to it. This meaninglessness also encompasses the amorality or "unfairness" of the world. This contrasts with "karmic" ways of thinking in which "bad things don't happen to good people"; to the world, metaphorically speaking, there is no such thing as a good person or a bad thing; what happens happens, and it may just as well happen to a "good" person as to a "bad" person.

Because of the world's absurdity, at any point in time, anything can happen to anyone, and a tragic event could plummet someone into direct confrontation with the Absurd. The notion of the absurd has been prominent in literature throughout history. Søren Kierkegaard, Franz Kafka, Fyodor Dostoyevsky and many of the literary works

of Jean-Paul Sartre and Albert Camus contain descriptions of people who encounter the absurdity of the world. Albert Camus studied the issue of "the absurd" in his essay *The Myth of Sisyphus*.

Relation to Nihilism

Though nihilism and existentialism are distinct philosophies, they are often confused with one another. A primary cause of confusion is that Friedrich Nietzsche is an important philosopher in both fields, but also the existentialist insistence on the absurd and the inherent meaninglessness of the world. Existentialist philosophers often stress the importance of Angst as signifying the absolute lack of any objective ground for action, a move that is often reduced to a moral or an existential nihilism. A pervasive theme in the works of existentialist philosophy, however, is to persist *through* encounters with the absurd, as seen in Camus' The Myth of Sisyphus ("One must imagine Sisyphus happy"),^[67] and it is only very rarely that existentialist philosophers dismiss morality or one's self-created meaning: Kierkegaard regained a sort of morality in the religious (although he wouldn't himself agree that it was ethical; the religious suspends the ethical), and Sartre's final words in Being and Nothingness are "All these questions, which refer us to a pure and not an accessory (or impure) reflection, can find their reply only on the ethical plane. We shall devote to them a future work."^[68] Hence, existentialists believe that one can create value and meaning, whilst nihilists will deny this.

Criticism

Herbert Marcuse criticised Existentialism, especially *Being and Nothingness* (1943), by Jean-Paul Sartre, for projecting anxiety and meaninglessness onto the nature of existence itself: "Insofar as Existentialism is a philosophical doctrine, it remains an idealistic doctrine: it hypostatizes specific historical conditions of human existence into ontological and metaphysical characteristics. Existentialism thus becomes part of the very ideology which it attacks, and its radicalism is illusory".^[69] In 1946, Sartre already had replied to Marxist criticism of Existentialism in the lecture *Existentialism is a humanism*.^[70] In *Jargon of Authenticity*, Theodor Adorno criticised Heidegger's philosophy, especially his use of language, as a mystifying ideology of advanced, industrial society, and its power structure.

In Letter on Humanism, Heidegger criticized Sartre's existentialism:

Existentialism says existence precedes essence. In this statement he is taking *existentia* and *essentia* according to their metaphysical meaning, which, from Plato's time on, has said that *essentia* precedes *existentia*. Sartre reverses this statement. But the reversal of a metaphysical statement remains a metaphysical statement. With it, he stays with metaphysics, in oblivion of the truth of Being.^[71]

Logical positivists, such as Carnap and Ayer, say Existentialists frequently are confused about the verb "to be" in their analyses of "being".^[72] They argue that the verb is transitive, and pre-fixed to a predicate (e.g., an apple *is red*): without a predicate, the word is meaningless.

Influence outside philosophy

Cultural movement and influence

The term *existentialism* was first adopted as a self-reference in the 1940s and 1950s by Jean-Paul Sartre, and the widespread use of literature as a means of disseminating their ideas by Sartre and his associates (notably novelist Albert Camus) meant existentialism "was as much a literary phenomenon as a philosophical one."^[73] Among existentialist writers were Parisians Jean Genet, André Gide, André Malraux, and playwright Samuel Beckett, the Norwegian Knut Hamsun, and the Romanian friends Eugène Ionesco and Emil Cioran. Prominent artists such as the Abstract Expressionists Jackson Pollock, Arshile Gorky, and Willem de Kooning have been understood in existentialist terms, as have filmmakers such as Jean-Luc Godard and Ingmar Bergman.^[73]

Film and video

The French director Jean Genet's 1950 fantasy-erotic film *Un chant d'amour* shows two inmates in solitary cells whose only contact is through a hole in their cell wall, who are spied on by the prison warden. Reviewer James Travers calls the film a "...visual poem evoking homosexual desire and existentialist suffering" which "... conveys the bleakness of an existence in a godless universe with painful believability"; he calls it "... probably the most effective fusion of existentialist philosophy and cinema."^[74]

Stanley Kubrick's 1957 anti-war film *Paths of Glory* "illustrates, and even illuminates...existentialism" by examining the "necessary absurdity of the human condition" and the "horror of war".^[75] The film tells the story of a fictional World War I French army regiment which is ordered to attack an impregnable German stronghold; when the attack fails, three soldiers are chosen at random, court-martialed by a "kangaroo court", and executed by firing squad. The film examines existentialist ethics, such as the issue of whether objectivity is possible and the "problem of authenticity".^[76]

On the lighter side, the British comedy troupe Monty Python have explored existentialist themes throughout their works, from many of the sketches in their original television show, *Monty Python's Flying Circus*, to their 1983 film *Monty Python's The Meaning of Life*.^[77] Of the many adjectives (some listed in the introduction above) that might indicate an existential tone, the one utilized the most by the group is that of the absurd. Another related comedy would be *Office Space*.

Some contemporary films dealing with existentialist issues include *Fight Club*, $I \checkmark Huckabees$, *Waking Life*, *The Matrix*, and *Ordinary People*.^[78] Likewise, films throughout the 20th century such as *The Seventh Seal*, *Ikiru*, *Taxi Driver*, *High Noon*, *Easy Rider*, *One Flew Over the Cuckoo's Nest*, *A Clockwork Orange*, *Groundhog Day*, *Apocalypse Now*, *Badlands*, and *Blade Runner* also have existentialist qualities.^[79] Notable directors known for their existentialist films include Ingmar Bergman, François Truffaut, Jean-Luc Godard, Michelangelo Antonioni, Akira Kurosawa, Stanley Kubrick, Andrei Tarkovsky, Hideaki Anno and Woody Allen.^[80] Charlie Kaufman's *Synecdoche, New York* focuses on the protagonist's desire to find existential meaning as he sees its end.^[81]

Literature

Existentialist perspectives are also found in literature to varying degrees. Jean-Paul Sartre's 1938 novel *Nausea*^[82] was "steeped in Existential ideas", and is considered an accessible way of grasping his philosophical stance.^[83] Since 1970, much cultural activity in art, cinema, and literature contains postmodernist and existentialist elements. Books such as *Do Androids Dream of Electric Sheep*? (1968) (now republished as *Blade Runner*) by Philip K. Dick and *Fight Club* by Chuck Palahniuk all distort the line between reality and appearance while simultaneously espousing strong existentialist themes. Ideas from such thinkers as Fyodor Dostoyevsky, Michel Foucault, Franz Kafka, Friedrich Nietzsche, Herbert Marcuse, Gilles Deleuze, and Eduard von Hartmann permeate the works of artists such as Chuck Palahniuk, David Lynch, Crispin Glover, and Charles Bukowski, and one often finds in their works a delicate balance between distastefulness and beauty.

Theatre

Jean-Paul Sartre wrote *No Exit* in 1944, an existentialist play originally published in French as *Huis Clos* (meaning *In Camera* or "behind closed doors") which is the source of the popular quote, "Hell is other people." (In French, "l'enfer, c'est les autres"). The play begins with a Valet leading a man into a room that the audience soon realizes is in hell. Eventually he is joined by two women. After their entry, the Valet leaves and the door is shut and locked. All three expect to be tortured, but no torturer arrives. Instead, they realize they are there to torture each other, which they do effectively, by probing each other's sins, desires, and unpleasant memories.

Existentialist themes are displayed in the Theatre of the Absurd, notably in Samuel Beckett's *Waiting for Godot*, in which two men divert themselves while they wait expectantly for someone (or something) named Godot who never arrives. They claim Godot to be an acquaintance but in fact hardly know him, admitting they would not recognize

him if they saw him. Samuel Beckett, once asked who or what Godot is, replied, "If I knew, I would have said so in the play." To occupy themselves they eat, sleep, talk, argue, sing, play games, exercise, swap hats, and contemplate suicide—anything "to hold the terrible silence at bay".^[84] The play "exploits several archetypal forms and situations, all of which lend themselves to both comedy and pathos."^[85] The play also illustrates an attitude toward human experience on earth: the poignancy, oppression, camaraderie, hope, corruption, and bewilderment of human experience that can only be reconciled in mind and art of the absurdist. The play examines questions such as death, the meaning of human existence and the place of God in human existence.

Tom Stoppard's *Rosencrantz & Guildenstern Are Dead* is an absurdist tragicomedy first staged at the Edinburgh Festival Fringe in 1966.^[86] The play expands upon the exploits of two minor characters from Shakespeare's *Hamlet*. Comparisons have also been drawn to Samuel Beckett's *Waiting For Godot*, for the presence of two central characters who almost appear to be two halves of a single character. Many plot features are similar as well: the characters pass time by playing Questions, impersonating other characters, and interrupting each other or remaining silent for long periods of time. The two characters are portrayed as two clowns or fools in a world that is beyond their understanding. They stumble through philosophical arguments while not realizing the implications, and muse on the irrationality and randomness of the world.

Jean Anouilh's *Antigone* also presents arguments founded on existentialist ideas.^[87] It is a tragedy inspired by Greek mythology and the play of the same name (Antigone, by Sophocles) from the 5th century B.C. In English, it is often distinguished from its antecedent by being pronounced in its original French form, approximately "Ante-GŌN." The play was first performed in Paris on 6 February 1944, during the Nazi occupation of France. Produced under Nazi censorship, the play is purposefully ambiguous with regards to the rejection of authority (represented by Antigone) and the acceptance of it (represented by Creon). The parallels to the French Resistance and the Nazi occupation have been drawn. Antigone rejects life as desperately meaningless but without affirmatively choosing a noble death. The crux of the play is the lengthy dialogue concerning the nature of power, fate, and choice, during which Antigone says that she is "... disgusted with [the]...promise of a humdrum happiness"; she states that she would rather die than live a mediocre existence.

Critic Martin Esslin in his book *Theatre of the Absurd* pointed out how many contemporary playwrights such as Samuel Beckett, Eugène Ionesco, Jean Genet, and Arthur Adamov wove into their plays the existentialist belief that we are absurd beings loose in a universe empty of real meaning. Esslin noted that many of these playwrights demonstrated the philosophy better than did the plays by Sartre and Camus. Though most of such playwrights, subsequently labeled "Absurdist" (based on Esslin's book), denied affiliations with existentialism and were often staunchly anti-philosophical (for example Ionesco often claimed he identified more with 'Pataphysics or with Surrealism than with existentialism), the playwrights are often linked to existentialism based on Esslin's observation.^[88]

Existentialism and Christianity

Christ's teachings had an indirect style, in which his point is often left unsaid for the purpose of letting the single individual confront the truth on their own.^[89] This is evident in his parables, which are a response to a question he is asked. After he tells the parable, he returns the question to the individual.

An existentialist reading of the Bible would demand that the reader recognize that he is an existing subject studying the words more as a recollection of possible events. This is in contrast to looking at a collection of "truths" which are outside and unrelated to the reader, but may develop a sense of reality/God.^[90] Such a reader is not obligated to follow the commandments as if an external agent is forcing them upon him, but as though they are inside him and guiding him from inside. This is the task Kierkegaard takes up when he asks: "Who has the more difficult task: the teacher who lectures on earnest things a meteor's distance from everyday life-or the learner who should put it to use?"^[91] From an existentialist perspective, the Bible would not become an authority in an individual's life until that individual authorizes the Bible to be such. Existentialism has had a significant influence on theology, notably on

postmodern Christianity and on theologians and religious thinkers such as Nikolai Berdyaev, Karl Barth, Paul Tillich, Wilfrid Desan and John Macquarrie.

Existentialist psychoanalysis and psychotherapy

A major offshoot of existentialism as a philosophy is existentialist psychology and psychoanalysis, which first crystallized in the work of Otto Rank, Freud's closest associate for 20 years. Without awareness of the writings of Rank, Ludwig Binswanger was influenced by Freud, Edmund Husserl, Heidegger and Sartre. A later figure was Viktor Frankl, who briefly met Freud and studied with Jung as a young man.^[92] His logotherapy can be regarded as a form of existentialist therapy. The existentialists would also influence social psychology, antipositivist micro-sociology, symbolic interactionism, and post-structuralism, with the work of thinkers such as Georg Simmel and Michel Foucault.

An early contributor to existentialist psychology in the United States was Rollo May, who was strongly influenced by Kierkegaard and Otto Rank. One of the most prolific writers on techniques and theory of existentialist psychology in the USA is Irvin D. Yalom. Yalom states that

Aside from their reaction against Freud's mechanistic, deterministic model of the mind and their assumption of a phenomenological approach in therapy, the existentialist analysts have little in common and have never been regarded as a cohesive ideological school. These thinkers - who include Ludwig Binswanger, Medard Boss, Eugène Minkowski, V.E. Gebsattel, Roland Kuhn, G. Caruso, F.T. Buytendijk, G. Bally and Victor Frankl - were almost entirely unknown to the American psychotherapeutic community until Rollo May's highly influential 1985 book *Existence* - and especially his introductory essay - introduced their work into this country.^[93]

A more recent contributor to the development of a European version of existentialist psychotherapy is the British-based Emmy van Deurzen.

Anxiety's importance in existentialism makes it a popular topic in psychotherapy. Therapists often offer existentialist philosophy as an explanation for anxiety. The assertion is that anxiety is manifested of an individual's complete freedom to decide, and complete responsibility for the outcome of such decisions. Psychotherapists using an existentialist approach believe that a patient can harness his anxiety and use it constructively. Instead of suppressing anxiety, patients are advised to use it as grounds for change. By embracing anxiety as inevitable, a person can use it to achieve his full potential in life. Humanistic psychology also had major impetus from existentialist psychology and shares many of the fundamental tenets. Terror management theory, based on the writings of Ernest Becker and Otto Rank, is a developing area of study within the academic study of psychology. It looks at what researchers claim to be the implicit emotional reactions of people that occur when they are confronted with the knowledge they will eventually die.

Notes

- [1] http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/existentialism/
- [2] John Macquarrie, Existentialism, New York (1972), pages 18-21.
- [3] Oxford Companion to Philosophy, ed. Ted Honderich, New York (1995), page 259.
- [4] John Macquarrie, Existentialism, New York (1972), pages 14-15.
- [5] Robert C. Solomon, *Existentialism* (McGraw-Hill, 1974, pages 1–2)
- [6] Ernst Breisach, Introduction to Modern Existentialism, New York (1962), page 5
- [7] Walter Kaufmann, Existentialism: From Dostoevesky to Sartre, New York (1956) page 12
- [8] Marino, Gordon. Basic Writings of Existentialism (Modern Library, 2004, p. ix, 3).
- [9] Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy (http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/kierkegaard/)
- [10] Watts, Michael. Kierkegaard (Oneworld, 2003, pp, 4-6).
- [11] Lowrie, Walter. Kierkegaard's attack upon "Christendom" (Princeton, 1968, pp. 37-40)
- [12] Corrigan, John. The Oxford handbook of religion and emotion (Oxford, 2008, pp. 387-388)
- [13] Livingston, James et al. Modern Christian Thought: The Twentieth Century (Fortress Press, 2006, Chapter 5: Christian Existentialism).

- [14] Martin, Clancy. Religious Existentialism in Companion to Phenomenology and Existentialism (Blackwell, 2006, pages 188-205)
- [15] Robert C. Solomon, Existentialism (McGraw-Hill, 1974, pages 1-2)
- [16] D.E. Cooper Existentialism: A Reconstruction (Basil Blackwell, 1999, page 8).
- [17] Guignon, Charles B. and Derk Pereboom. Existentialism: basic writings (Hackett Publishing, 2001, page xiii)
- [18] Walter Kaufmann. Existentialism: From Dostoevsky to Sartre. (Cleveland: The World Publishing Company, 1956) 11
- [19] D.E. Cooper Existentialism: A Reconstruction (Basil Blackwell, 1990, page 1)
- [20] Thomas R. Flynn, Existentialism: A Very Short Introduction (Oxford University Press, 2006, page 89
- [21] Christine Daigle, Existentialist Thinkers and Ethics (McGill-Queen's press, 2006, page 5)
- [22] L'Existentialisme est un Humanisme (Editions Nagel, 1946); English Jean-Paul Sartre, Existentialism and Humanism (Eyre Methuen, 1948)
- [23] John Protevi, A Dictionary of Continental Philosophy (Yale University press, 2006, page 325)
- [24] S. Kierkegaard, Concluding Unscientific Postscript, "A First and Last Declaration": "...to read solo the original text of the individual, human-existence relationship, the old text, well known, handed down from the fathers, to read it through yet once more, if possible in a more heartfelt way."
- [25] Michael Weston, Kierkegaard and Modern Continental Philosophy (Routledge, 2003, page 35)
- [26] Ferreira, M. Jamie, Kierkegaard, Wiley & Sons, 2008.
- [27] Mulder Jr., Jack. Mystical And Buddhist Elements in Kierkegaard's Religious Thought, Edwin Mellen Press, 2006
- [28] Storm, D. Anthony. Søren Kierkegaard: A Primer (http://www.sorenkierkegaard.org/kierkegaard-primer.html)
- [29] Kamal, Muhammad (2006). Mulla Sadra's Transcendent Philosophy. Ashgate Publishing, Ltd., pp. 9 & 39. ISBN 0754652718.
- [30] Kaufmann, Walter. From Shakespeare to Existentialism. Princeton University Press, 1980
- [31] Nothingness, Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy (http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/nothingness/#ExiAspNot)
- [32] Existentialism in Voltaire's candide, le Moy Tjan
- [33] Henry Thoreau Once More, SE Hyman
- [34] Kierkegaard, Søren. The Essential Kierkegaard, edited by Howard and Edna Hong. Princeton, 2000
- [35] Marino, Gordon. Ed. Basic Writings of Existentialism. Modern Library, 2004.
- [36] Luper, Steven. "Existing". Mayfield Publishing, 2000, p.4-5 and 11
- [37] Hubben, William. Dostoevsky, Kierkegaard, Nietzsche and Kafka, Jabber-wacky, Scribner, 1997.
- [38] Maurice S. Friedman, Martin Buber. The Life of Dialogue (University of Chicago press, 1955, page 85)
- [39] Ernst Breisach, Introduction to Modern Existentialism, New York (1962), pages 173-176
- [40] Samuel M. Keen, "Gabriel Marcel" in Paul Edwards (ed.) The Encyclopaedia of Philosophy (Macmillan Publishing Co, 1967)
- [41] John Macquarrie, Existentialism (Pelican, 1973, page 110)
- [42] John Macquarrie, Existentialism (Pelican, 1973, page 96)
- [43] Karl Jaspers, "Philosophical Autobiography" in Paul Arthur Schilpp (ed.) The Philosophy of Karl Jaspers (The Library of Living Philosophers IX (Tudor Publishing Company, 1957, page 75/11)
- [44] Karl Jaspers, "Philosophical Autobiography" in Paul Arthur Schilpp (ed.) The Philosophy of Karl Jaspers (The Library of Living Philosophers IX (Tudor Publishing Company, 1957, page 40)
- [45] Karl Jaspers, "Philosophical Autobiography" in Paul Arthur Schilpp (ed.) The Philosophy of Karl Jaspers (The Library of Living Philosophers IX (Tudor Publishing Company, 1957, page 75/2 and following)
- [46] Ronald Aronson, Camus and Sartre (University of Chicago Press, 2004, chapter 3 passim)
- [47] Ronald Aronson, Camus and Sartre (University of Chicago Press, 2004, page 44)
- [48] Simone de Beauvoir, Force of Circumstance, quoted in Ronald Aronson, Camus and Sartre (University of Chicago Press, 2004, page 48)
- [49] Ronald Aronson, Camus and Sartre (University of Chicago Press, 2004, page 48)
- [50] Rüdiger Safranski, Martin Heidgger Between Good and Evil (Harvard University Press, 1998, page 343
- [51] Entry on Kojève in Martin Cohen (editor), The Essentials of Philosophy and Ethics(Hodder Arnold, 2006, page 158); see also Alexandre Kojève, Introduction to the Reading of Hegel: Lectures on the Phenomenology of Spirit (Cornell University Press, 1980)
- [52] Entry on Kojève in Martin Cohen (editor), The Essentials of Philosophy and Ethics(Hodder Arnold, 2006, page 158)
- [53] Martin Hediegger, letter, quoted in Rüdiger Safranski, Martin Heidgger Between Good and Evil (Harvard University Press, 1998, page 349)
- [54] Rüdiger Safranski, Martin Heidegger Between Good and Evil (Harvard University Press, 1998, page 356)
- [55] William J. Richardson, Martin Heidegger: From Phenomenology to Thought (Martjinus Nijhoff, 1967, page 351)
- [56] K. Gunnar Bergström, An Odyssey to Freedom University of Uppsala, 1983, page 92; Colin Stanley, Colin Wilson, a Celebration: Essays and Recollections Cecil Woolf, 1988, page 43)
- [57] "Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy: Existentialism", plato.stanford.edu, 2004, webpage: SEP-Exist (http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/ existentialism/).
- [58] Jean-Paul Sartre. "Existentialism is a Humanism, Jean-Paul Sartre 1946" (http://www.marxists.org/reference/archive/sartre/works/ exist/sartre.htm). Marxists.org. Retrieved 2010-03-08.
- [59] E Keen (1973). Suicide and Self-Deception (http://www.pep-web.org/document.php?id=PSAR.060.0575A). Psychoanalytic Review.
- [60] (French) (Dictionary) "L'existencialisme" see "l'identité de la personne"
- [61] Razavi, Mehdi Amin (1997). Suhrawardi and the School of Illumination. Routledge. p. 129. ISBN 0700704124

- [62] Baird, Forrest E.; Walter Kaufmann (2008). From Plato to Derrida. Upper Saddle River, New Jersey: Pearson Prentice Hall. ISBN 0-13-158591-6.
- [63] "despair definition of despair by the Free Online Dictionary, Thesaurus and Encyclopedia" (http://www.tfd.com/despair). Tfd.com. . Retrieved 2010-03-08.
- [64] Kierkegaard, Søren; Hannay, Alastair (1992-08-01). Either/or: a fragment of life Google Books (http://books.google.com/ ?id=GJHIYmo7kXEC&printsec=frontcover&dq=either-or). ISBN 9780140445770. . Retrieved 2010-03-08.
- [65] Soren Kierkegaard's Journals and Papers Vol 5, p. 5
- [66] Camus, Albert. "An Absurd Reasoning"
- [67] Camus, Albert. "The Myth of Sisyphus". NYU.edu (http://www.nyu.edu/classes/keefer/hell/camus.html)
- [68] Jean-Paul Sartre, Being and Nothingness, Routledge Classics (2003).
- [69] Marcuse, Herbert. "Sartre's Existentialism". Printed in Studies in Critical Philosophy. Translated by Joris De Bres. London: NLB, 1972. p. 161
- [70] Jean-Paul Sartre. "Text at" (http://www.marxists.org/reference/archive/sartre/works/exist/sartre.htm). Marxists.org. Retrieved 2010-03-08.
- [71] Martin Heidegger, "Letter on Humanism", in *Basic Writings: Nine Key Essays, plus the Introduction to* Being and Time, trans. David Farrell Krell (London, Routledge; 1978), 208. Google Books (http://books.google.com/books?id=kVc9AAAIAAJ&lpg=PA208& ots=Wd-UQTTzCG&dq=But the reversal of a metaphysical statement remains a metaphysical statement. With it, he stays with metaphysics, in oblivion of the truth of Being.&pg=PA208#v=onepage&q=But the reversal of a metaphysical statement remains a metaphysical statement. With it, he stays with metaphysics, in oblivion of the truth of Being.&f=false)
- [72] Carnap, Rudolf, Uberwindung der Metaphysik durch logische Analyse der Sprache [Overcoming Metaphysics by the Logical Analysis of Speech], Erkenntnis (1932), pp.219–241. Carnap's critique of Heidegger's "What is Metaphysics".
- [73] Steven Crowell (http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/Existentialism) entry by 2004-08-23 in the Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy
- [74] © James Travers 2005 google search (http://72.14.205.104/search?q=cache:iPYJjAhhAuMJ:filmsdefrance.com/ FDF_Un_chant_d_amour_rev.html)
- [75] Holt, Jason. "Existential Ethics: Where do the Paths of Glory Lead?". In *The Philosophy of Stanley Kubrick*. By Jerold J. Abrams. Published 2007. University Press of Kentucky. ISBN 0-8131-2445-X
- [76] Holt, Jason. "Existential Ethics: Where do the Paths of Glory Lead?". In *The Philosophy of Stanley Kubrick*. By Jerold J. Abrams. Published 2007. University Press of Kentucky. ISBN 0-8131-2445-X
- [77] "Amazon.com's Films with an Existential Theme" (http://www.amazon.com/Films-with-an-Existential-Theme/lm/ 2XUY93GON1RKW). Retrieved 2009-02-02.
- [78] "Existential & Psychological Movie Recommendations" (http://www.existential-therapy.com/Arts/Movies.htm). Existential-therapy.com. Retrieved 2010-03-08.
- [79] "Existentialism in Film" (http://uhaweb.hartford.edu/BEAUCHEMI/). Uhaweb.hartford.edu. . Retrieved 2010-03-08.
- [80] "Existentialist Adaptations Harvard Film Archive" (http://hcl.harvard.edu/hfa/films/2005winter/existential.html). Hcl.harvard.edu. . Retrieved 2010-03-08.
- [81] Chocano, Carina (2008-10-24). "Review: 'Synecdoche, New York'" (http://www.latimes.com/entertainment/news/movies/ la-et-synecdoche24-2008oct24,0,5252277.story). Los Angeles Times. . Retrieved 2008-11-17.
- [82] Sartre, Jean-Paul; (Translated by Robert Baldick) (2000. First published 1938). Nausea. London: Penguin
- [83] Earnshaw, Steven (2006). Existentialism: A Guide for the Perplexed. London: Continuum. p. 75. ISBN 0-8264-8530-8
- [84] The Times, 31 December 1964. Quoted in Knowlson, J., Danned to Fame: The Life of Samuel Beckett (London: Bloomsbury, 1996), p 57
- [85] Cronin, A., Samuel Beckett The Last Modernist (London: Flamingo, 1997), p 391
- [86] Michael H. Hutchins (14 August 2006). "A Tom Stoppard Bibliography: Chronology" (http://www.sondheimguide.com/Stoppard/ chronology.html). The Stephen Sondheim Reference Guide. . Retrieved 2008-06-23.
- [87] Wren, Celia (12 December 2007). "From Forum, an Earnest and Painstaking 'Antigone'" (http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/ content/article/2007/12/11/AR2007121102254.html). Washington Post. . Retrieved 2008-04-07.
- [88] Kernan, Alvin B. The Modern American Theater: A Collection of Critical Essays. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall, 1967.
- [89] Palmer, Donald D. Kierkegaard For Beginners. 1996. Writers And Readers Limited. London, England. p.25
- [90] Hong, Howard V. "Historical Introduction" to Fear and Trembling. Princeton University Press. Princeton, New Jersey. 1983. p. x
- [91] Kierkegaard, Soren. Works of Love. Harper & Row, Publishers. New York, N.Y. 1962. p. 62
- [92] Logotherapie-international.eu (http://www.logotherapie-international.eu/Frankl-Jung.English summary. pdf?2f569316a8c0d70a23e25e57788725a0=877b85765d9546f605211252412792ec)
- [93] Yalom, Irvin D. (1980). Existential Psychotherapy. New York: BasicBooks (Subsidiary of Perseus Books, L.L.C., p. 17. ISBN 0-465-02147-6 Note: The copyright year has not changed, but the book remains in print.

References

- Razavi, Mehdi Amin (1997). Suhrawardi and the School of Illumination. Routledge. ISBN 0700704124
- Albert Camus Lyrical and Critical essays. Edited by Philip Thody (interviev with Jeanie Delpech, in Les Nouvelles litteraires, November 15, 1945). pg 345

Further reading

- Appignanesi, Richard; and Oscar Zarate (2001). *Introducing Existentialism*. Cambridge, UK: Icon. ISBN 1-84046-266-3.
- Appignanesi, Richard (2006). *Introducing Existentialism* (3rd ed.). Thriplow, Cambridge: Icon Books (UK), Totem Books (USA). ISBN 1-84046-717-7.
- Cooper, David E. (1999). *Existentialism: A Reconstruction* (2nd ed.). Oxford, UK: Blackwell. ISBN 0-631-21322-8.
- Deurzen, Emmy van (2010). *Everyday Mysteries: a Handbook of Existential Psychotherapy* (2nd ed.). London: Routledge. ISBN 978-0-415-37643-3.
- Kierkegaard, Søren (1855). Attack Upon Christendom.
- Kierkegaard, Søren (1843). The Concept of Anxiety.
- Kierkegaard, Søren (1846). Concluding Unscientific Postscript.
- Kierkegaard, Søren (1843). Either/Or.
- Kierkegaard, Søren (1843). Fear and Trembling.
- Kierkegaard, Søren (1849). The Sickness Unto Death.
- Kierkegaard, Søren (1847). Works of Love.
- Luper, Steven (ed.) (2000). *Existing: An Introduction to Existential Thought*. Mountain View, California: Mayfield. ISBN 0-7674-0587-0.
- Marino, Gordon (ed.) (2004). *Basic Writings of Existentialism*. New York: Modern Library. ISBN 0-375-75989-1.
- Rose, Eugene (Fr. Seraphim) (1994). *Nihilism: The Root of the Revolution of the Modern Age* (http://www. columbia.edu/cu/augustine/arch/nihilism.html). Saint Herman Press (1 September 1994). ISBN 0-938635-15-8.
- Sartre, Jean-Paul (1943). Being and Nothingness.
- Sartre, Jean-Paul (1945). Existentialism and Humanism.
- Stewart, Jon (ed.) (2011). *Kierkegaard and Existentialism*. Farnham, England: Ashgate. ISBN 978-1-4094-2641-7.
- Solomon, Robert C. (ed.) (2005). *Existentialism* (2nd ed.). New York: Oxford University Press. ISBN 0-19-517463-1.
- Wartenberg, Thomas E.. Existentialism: A Beginner's Guide.

External links

Introductions

- Existentialism (http://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/p00547h8) on In Our Time at the BBC. (listen now (http://www.bbc.co.uk/iplayer/console/p00547h8/In_Our_Time_Existentialism))
- Friesian interpretation of Existentialism (http://www.friesian.com/existent.htm)
- Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy: Existentialism (http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/existentialism/)
- "Existentialism is a Humanism", a lecture given by Jean-Paul Sartre (http://www.marxists.org/reference/ archive/sartre/works/exist/sartre.htm)
- The Existential Primer (http://www.tameri.com/csw/exist/)

 Buddhists, Existentialists and Situationists: Waking up in Waking Life (http://publish.uwo.ca/~dmann/ waking_essay.htm)

Journals and articles

- Stirrings Still (http://www.stirrings-still.org): The International Journal of Existential Literature
- Existential Analysis (http://www.existentialanalysis.co.uk) published by The Society for Existential Analysis

Existential psychotherapy

- International Society for Existential Therapy (http://www.existentialpsychotherapy.net)
- HPSY.RU Existential & humanistic psychology (http://hpsy.ru/eng/) History of existential psychology's development in former Soviet nations

Holism

Holism (from $\partial \lambda \sigma \zeta$ *holos*, a Greek word meaning *all*, *whole*, *entire*, *total*) is the idea that all the properties of a given system (physical, biological, chemical, social, economic, mental, linguistic, etc.) cannot be determined or explained by its component parts alone. Instead, the system as a whole determines in an important way how the parts behave.

The term holism was coined in 1926 by Jan Smuts. Reductionism is sometimes seen as the opposite of holism. Reductionism in science says that a complex system can be explained by *reduction* to its fundamental parts. For example, the processes of biology are reducible to chemistry and the laws of chemistry are explained by physics.

Social scientist and physician Nicholas A. Christakis explains that "for the last few centuries, the Cartesian project in science has been to break matter down into ever smaller bits, in the pursuit of understanding. And this works, to some extent...but putting things back together in order to understand them is harder, and typically comes later in the development of a scientist or in the development of science."^[1]

History

The term holism was coined in 1926 by Jan Smuts, a South African statesman, in his book, *Holism and Evolution*.^[2] Smuts defined holism as "The tendency in nature to form wholes that are greater than the sum of the parts through creative evolution."^[2]

The idea has ancient roots. Examples of holism can be found throughout human history and in the most diverse socio-cultural contexts, as has been confirmed by many ethnological studies. The French Protestant missionary, Maurice Leenhardt coined the term cosmomorphism to indicate the state of perfect symbiosis with the surrounding environment which characterized the culture of the Melanesians of New Caledonia. For these people, an isolated individual is totally indeterminate, indistinct and featureless until he can find his position within the natural and social world in which he is inserted. The confines between the self and the world are annulled to the point that the material body itself is no guarantee of the sort of recognition of identity which is typical of our own culture.

However, the concept of holism also played a pivotal role in Spinoza's philosophy^{[4] [5]} and more recently in that of Hegel^{[6] [7]} and Husserl.^{[8] [9]}

In science

General scientific status

In the latter half of the 20th century, holism led to systems thinking and its derivatives, like the sciences of chaos and complexity. Systems in biology, psychology, or sociology are frequently so complex that their behavior is, or appears, "new" or "emergent": it cannot be deduced from the properties of the elements alone.^[10]

Holism has thus been used as a catchword. This contributed to the resistance encountered by the scientific interpretation of holism, which insists that there are ontological reasons that prevent reductive models in principle from providing efficient algorithms for prediction of system behavior in certain classes of systems. Holism has also been described as "a soapy term which evades necessary conflict," in accordance with its inventor's philosophy of white supremacy and exclusion of South Africans from political rights.^[11]

Scientific holism holds that the behavior of a system cannot be perfectly predicted, no matter how much data is available. Natural systems can produce surprisingly unexpected behavior, and it is suspected that behavior of such systems might be computationally irreducible, which means it would not be possible to even approximate the system state without a full simulation of all the events occurring in the system. Key properties of the higher level behavior of certain classes of systems may be mediated by rare "surprises" in the behavior of their elements due to the principle of interconnectivity, thus evading predictions except by brute force simulation. Stephen Wolfram has provided such examples with simple cellular automata, whose behavior is in most cases equally simple, but on rare occasions highly unpredictable.^[12]

Complexity theory (also called "science of complexity"), is a contemporary heir of systems thinking. It comprises both computational and holistic, relational approaches towards understanding complex adaptive systems and, especially in the latter, its methods can be seen as the polar opposite to reductive methods. General theories of complexity have been proposed, and numerous complexity institutes and departments have sprung up around the world. The Santa Fe Institute is arguably the most famous of them.

In anthropology

There is an ongoing dispute as to whether anthropology is intrinsically holistic. Supporters of this concept consider anthropology holistic in two senses. First, it is concerned with all human beings across times and places, and with all dimensions of humanity (evolutionary, biophysical, sociopolitical, economic, cultural, psychological, etc.). Further, many academic programs following this approach take a "four-field" approach to anthropology that encompasses physical anthropology, archeology, linguistics, and cultural anthropology or social anthropology.^[13]

Some leading anthropologists disagree, and consider anthropological holism to be an artifact from 19th century social evolutionary thought that inappropriately imposes scientific positivism upon cultural anthropology.^[14]

The term "holism" is additionally used within social and cultural anthropology to refer to an analysis of a society as a whole which refuses to break society into component parts. One definition says: "as a methodological ideal, holism implies ... that one does not permit oneself to believe that our own established institutional boundaries (e.g. between politics, sexuality, religion, economics) necessarily may be found also in foreign societies."^[15]

In business

A holistic brand (also holistic branding) is considering the entire brand or image of the company. For example a universal brand image across all countries, including everything from advertising styles to the stationery the company has made, to the company colours.

In ecology

Ecology is the leading and most important approach to holism, as it tries to include biological, chemical, physical and economic views in a given area. The complexity grows with the area, so that it is necessary to reduce the characteristic of the view in other ways, for example to a specific time of duration.

John Muir, Scots born early conservationist,^[16] wrote "When we try to pick out anything by itself we find it hitched to everything else in the Universe".

More information is to be found in the field of systems ecology, a cross-disciplinary field influenced by general systems theory.

In economics

With roots in Schumpeter, the evolutionary approach might be considered the holist theory in economics. They

share certain language from the biological evolutionary approach. They take into account how the innovation system evolves over time. Knowledge and know-how, know-who, know-what and know-why are part of the whole business economics. Knowledge can also be tacit, as described by Michael Polanyi. These models are open, and consider that it is hard to predict exactly the impact of a policy measure. They are also less mathematical.

In philosophy

In philosophy, any doctrine that emphasizes the priority of a whole over its parts is holism. Some suggest that such a definition owes its origins to a non-holistic view of language and places it in the reductivist camp. Alternately, a 'holistic' definition of holism denies the necessity of a division between the function of separate parts and the workings of the 'whole'. It suggests that the key recognisable characteristic of a concept of holism is a sense of the fundamental truth of any particular experience. This exists in contradistinction to what is perceived as the reductivist reliance on inductive method as the key to verification of its concept of how the parts function within the whole.

In the philosophy of language this becomes the claim, called semantic holism, that the meaning of an individual word or sentence can only be understood in terms of its relations to a larger body of language, even a whole theory or a whole language. In the philosophy of mind, a mental state may be identified only in terms of its relations with others. This is often referred to as "content holism" or "holism of the mental". This notion involves the philosophies of such figures as Frege, Wittgenstein and Quine.^[17]

Epistemological and confirmation holism are mainstream ideas in contemporary philosophy. Ontological holism was espoused by David Bohm in his theory^[18] on The Implicate Order.



Hegel's holism

Hegel rejected "the fundamentally atomistic conception of the object," (Stern, 38) arguing that "individual objects exist as manifestations of indivisible substance-universals, which cannot be reduced to a set of properties or attributes; he therefore holds that the object should be treated as an ontologically primary whole." (Stern, 40) In direct opposition to Kant, therefore, "Hegel insists that the unity we find in our experience of the world is not constructed by us out of a plurality of intuitions." (Stern, 40) In "his ontological scheme a concrete individual is not reducible to a plurality of sensible properties, but rather exemplifies a substance universal." (Stern, 41) His point is that it is "a mistake to treat an organic substance like blood as nothing more than a compound of unchanging chemical elements, that can be separated and united without being fundamentally altered." (Stern, 103) In Hegel's view, a substance like blood is thus "more of an organic unity and cannot be understood as just an external composition of the sort of distinct substances that were discussed at the level of chemistry." (Stern, 103) Thus in Hegel's view, blood is blood is blood and cannot be successfully reduced to what we consider are its component parts; we must view it as a whole substance entire unto itself. This is most certainly a fundamentally holistic view.^[19]

In sociology

Émile Durkheim developed a concept of holism which he set as opposite to the notion that a society was nothing more than a simple collection of individuals. In more recent times, Louis Dumont ^[20] has contrasted "holism" to "individualism" as two different forms of societies. According to him, modern humans live in an individualist society, whereas ancient Greek society, for example, could be qualified as "holistic", because the individual found identity in the whole society. Thus, the individual was ready to sacrifice himself or herself for his or her community, as his or her life without the *polis* had no sense whatsoever.

Scholars such as David Bohm^[21] and M. I. Sanduk^[22] consider the society through the Plasma Physics. From physics point of view, the interaction of individuals within a group may lead a continuous model. Therefore for M. I. Sanduk "The nature of fluidity of plasma (ionized gas) arises from the interaction of its free interactive charges, so the society may behave as a fluid owing to the free interactive individuals. This fluid model may explain many social phenomena like social instability, diffusion, flow, viscosity...So the society behaves as a sort of intellectual fluid".

In psychology of perception

A major holist movement in the early twentieth century was gestalt psychology. The claim was that perception is not an aggregation of atomic sense data but a field, in which there is a figure and a ground. Background has holistic effects on the perceived figure. Gestalt psychologists included Wolfgang Koehler, Max Wertheimer, Kurt Koffka. Koehler claimed the perceptual fields corresponded to electrical fields in the brain. Karl Lashley did experiments with gold foil pieces inserted in monkey brains purporting to show that such fields did not exist. However, many of the perceptual illusions and visual phenomena exhibited by the gestaltists were taken over (often without credit) by later perceptual psychologists. Gestalt psychology had influence on Fritz Perls' gestalt therapy, although some old-line gestaltists opposed the association with counter-cultural and New Age trends later associated with gestalt therapy. Gestalt theory was also influential on phenomenology. Aron Gurwitsch wrote on the role of the field of consciousness in gestalt theory in relation to phenomenology. Maurice Merleau-Ponty made much use of holistic psychologists such as work of Kurt Goldstein in his "Phenomenology of Perception."

In teleological psychology

Alfred Adler believed that the individual (an integrated whole expressed through a self-consistent unity of thinking, feeling, and action, moving toward an unconscious, fictional final goal), must be understood within the larger wholes of society, from the groups to which he belongs (starting with his face-to-face relationships), to the larger whole of mankind. The recognition of our social embeddedness and the need for developing an interest in the welfare of others, as well as a respect for nature, is at the heart of Adler's philosophy of living and principles of psychotherapy.

Edgar Morin, the French philosopher and sociobiologist, can be considered a holist based on the transdisciplinary nature of his work.

Mel Levine, M.D., author of *A Mind at a Time*,^[23] and co-founder (with Charles R. Schwab) of the not-for-profit organization All Kinds of Minds, can be considered a holist based on his view of the 'whole child' as a product of many systems and his work supporting the educational needs of children through the management of a child's educational profile as a whole rather than isolated weaknesses in that profile.

In theological anthropology

In theological anthropology, which belongs to theology and not to anthropology, holism is the belief that the nature of humans consists of an ultimately divisible union of components such as body, soul and spirit.

In theology

Holistic concepts are strongly represented within the thoughts expressed within Logos (per Heraclitus), Panentheism and Pantheism.

In neurology

A lively debate has run since the end of the 19th century regarding the functional organization of the brain. The holistic tradition (e.g., Pierre Marie) maintained that the brain was a homogeneous organ with no specific subparts whereas the localizationists (e.g., Paul Broca) argued that the brain was organized in functionally distinct cortical areas which were each specialized to process a given type of information or implement specific mental operations. The controversy was epitomized with the existence of a language area in the brain, nowadays known as the Broca's area.^[24] Although Broca's view has gained acceptance, the issue isn't settled insofar as the brain as a whole is a highly connected organ at every level from the individual neuron to the hemispheres.

Applications

Architecture

Architecture is often argued by design academics and those practicing in design to be a holistic enterprise.^[25] Used in this context, holism tends to imply an all-inclusive design perspective. This trait is considered exclusive to architecture, distinct from other professions involved in design projects.

Education reform

The Taxonomy of Educational Objectives identifies many levels of cognitive functioning, which can be used to create a more holistic education. In authentic assessment, rather than using computers to score multiple choice tests, a standards based assessment uses trained scorers to score open-response items using holistic scoring methods.^[26] In projects such as the North Carolina Writing Project, scorers are instructed not to count errors, or count numbers of points or supporting statements. The scorer is instead instructed to judge holistically whether "as a whole" is it more a "2" or a "3". Critics question whether such a process can be as objective as computer scoring, and the degree to which such scoring methods can result in different scores from different scorers.

Medicine

In primary care the term "holistic," has been used to describe approaches that take into account social considerations and other intuitive judgements.^[11] The term holism, and so called approaches, appear in psychosomatic medicine in the 1970s, when they were considered one possible way to conceptualize psychosomatic phenomena. Instead of charting one-way causal links from psyche to soma, or vice-versa, it aimed at a systemic model, where multiple biological, psychological and social factors were seen as interlinked.^[27]

Other, alternative approaches in the 1970s were psychosomatic and somatopsychic approaches, which concentrated on causal links only from psyche to soma, or from soma to psyche, respectively.^[27] At present it is commonplace in psychosomatic medicine to state that psyche and soma cannot really be separated for practical or theoretical purposes. A disturbance on any level - somatic, psychic, or social - will radiate to all the other levels, too. In this sense, psychosomatic thinking is similar to the biopsychosocial model of medicine.

Alternative medicine practitioners adopt a holistic approach to healing.

Notes

- [1] Nicholas A Christakis, Shorthand abstractions and the cognitive toolkit, 2011 (http://www.edge.org/q2011/q11_6.html)
- [2] Jan Smuts (1927). Holism and Evolution. London: McMillan and Co Limited. p. 88.
- [3] OED. p. vol 8, page 307.
- [4] Charles Huenemann, Interpreting Spinoza: Critical Essays, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2008, p.41
- [5] Eccy De Jonge, Spinoza and Deep Ecology: Challenging Traditional Approaches to Environmentalism, UK: Ashgate Publishing, 2003, p.65
- [6] Robert Stern, Hegel, Kant and the Structure of the Object, London: Routledge, 1990, p.6 & p.135
- [7] Merold Westphal, Hegel, Freedom, and Modernity, New York: SUNY, 1992, pp.79-81, & p.86
- [8] Michael Esfield, Holism in Philosophy of Mind and Philosophy of Physics, Springer, 2001, p.7
- [9] Johanna Maria Tito, Logic in the Husserlian Context, Northwestern University Press, 1990, p.245
- [10] Bertalanffy 1968, p.54.
- [11] Julian Tudor Hart (2010) The Political Economy of Health Care (http://books.google.com/books?id=h5_6-NeAqcsC&pg=PA258), pp.106, 258 quotation:

Complex problems of this sort, which account for most of the work of primary care, [...] have to depend on clinical and social jusdgements (sic). [...] The conventional way to refer to more comprehensive and intuitive judgements is to describe such approaches as holistic. It has become extremely popular among liberally inclined healthcare workers of all kinds, but I have not found it useful. The central idea of holism is that any evolved whole is greater than the sum of his parts, and that no single thing can be fully understood in isolation from its extended context. Though this is obviously true, it does nothing to get us beyond banal observation. [...] Known in South Africa as Janni (sic) the fox, Smuts managed in a single like to combine three large reputations - as a leader of the Boers' guerrilla resistence (sic) to the English, as senior statesman and recurrent Prime Minister of the Union of South Africa and champion of the British Empire, and as a philosopher. To achieve this on the basis of white supremacy in a country where people of African descent, a supremacy he never questioned, required a philosophy fitted for contemplation of reality rather than struggle to change it. So it has been for holism, a soapy term which evades necessary conflict.

- [12] S. Wolfram, "Cellular automata as models of complexity", Nature 311, 419 424 (1984)
- [13] Shore, Bradd (1999) "Strange Fate of Holism", Anthropology News 40(9): 4-5.
- [14] Segal, Daniel A.; Sylvia J. Yanagisako (eds.), James Clifford, Ian Hodder, Rena Lederman, Michael Silverstein (2005). Unwrapping the Sacred Bundle: Reflections on the Disciplining of Anthropology (http://www.dukeupress.edu/cgibin/forwardsql/search. cgi?template0=nomatch.htm&template2=books/book_detail_page.htm&user_id=11016434335&Bmain.Btitle_option=1&Bmain. Btitle=Unwrapping+the+Sacred+Bundle). Duke University Press.
- [15] anthrobase definition of holism (http://www.anthrobase.org/Dic/eng/def/holism.htm)
- [16] Reconnecting with John Muir By Terry Gifford, University of Georgia, 2006
- [17] Holism, The Basics of Philosophy (http://www.philosophybasics.com/branch_holism.html)
- [18] Bohm, D. (1980). Wholeness and the Implicate Order. London: Routledge. ISBN 0-7100-0971-2
- [19] Robert Stern, Hegel, Kant and the Structure of the Object, London: Routledge Chapman Hall, 1990 (full text download) (http://www. mediafire.com/?rxmn2t1votf)
- [20] Louis Dumont, 1984

- [21] Wilkins, M., (1986) Oral history interviews with David Bohm, 16 tapes, undated transcript (AIP and Birkbeck college Library, London), 253-254.
- [22] M. I. Sanduk, Does Society Exhibit Same Behaviour of Plasma Fluid? http://philpapers.org/rec/DSE
- [23] (Simon & Schuster, 2002)
- [24] 'Does Broca's area exist?': Christofredo Jakob's 1906 response to Pierre Marie's holistic stance. Kyrana Tsapkini, Ana B. Vivas, Lazaros C. Triarhou. *Brain and Language*, Volume 105, Issue 3, June 2008, Pages 211-219, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2007.07.124
- [25] Holm, Ivar (2006). *Ideas and Beliefs in Architecture: How attitudes, orientations, and underlying assumptions shape the built environment.* Oslo School of Architecture and Design. ISBN 82-547-0174-1.
- [26] Rubrics (Authentic Assessment Toolbox) "So, when might you use a holistic rubric? Holistic rubrics tend to be used when a quick or gross judgment needs to be made" (http://jonathan.mueller.faculty.noctrl.edu/toolbox/rubrics.htm)
- [27] Lipowski, 1977.

References

- Ludwig von Bertalanffy,1971 General System Theory. Foundations Development Applications. Allen Lane (1968)
- Bohm, D. (1980) Wholeness and the Implicate Order. London: Routledge. ISBN 0-7100-0971-2
- Leenhardt, M. 1947 Do Kamo. La personne et le mythe dans le monde mélanésien. Gallimard. Paris.
- Lipowski, Z.J.: "Psychosomatic medicine in seventies". Am. J. Psych. 134:3:233-244
- Jan C. Smuts, 1926 Holism and Evolution MacMillan, Compass/Viking Press 1961 reprint: ISBN 0-598-63750-8, Greenwood Press 1973 reprint: ISBN 0-8371-6556-3, Sierra Sunrise 1999 (mildly edited): ISBN 1-887263-14-4

Further reading

- Dusek, Val, The Holistic Inspirations of Physics: An Underground History of Electromagnetic Theory Rutgers University Press, Brunswick NJ, 1999.
- Fodor, Jerry, and Ernst Lepore, Holism: A Shopper's Guide Wiley. New York. 1992
- Hayek, F.A. von. The Counter-revolution of Science. Studies on the abuse of reason. Free Press. New York. 1957.
- Mandelbaum, M. Societal Facts in Gardner 1959.
- Phillips, D.C. Holistic Thought in Social Science. Stanford University Press. Stanford. 1976.
- Dreyfus, H.L. Holism and Hermeneutics in The Review of Metaphysics. 34. pp. 3-23.
- James, S. The Content of Social Explanation. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, 1984.
- Harrington, A. *Reenchanted Science: Holism in German Culture from Wilhelm II to Hitler*. Princeton University Press. 1996.
- Lopez, F. Il pensiero olistico di Ippocrate, vol. I-IIA, Ed. Pubblisfera, Cosenza Italy 2004-2008.
- Robert Stern, Hegel, Kant and the Structure of the Object, London: Routledge Chapman Hall, 1990

External links

- Brief explanation of Koestler's derivation of "holon" (http://www.mech.kuleuven.be/pma/project/goa/ hms-int/history.html)
- Holism in nature (http://www.ecotao.com/holism/) and coevolution in ecosystems
- Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy article: "Holism and Nonseparability in Physics" (http://plato.stanford. edu/entries/physics-holism/)
- James Schombert of University of Oregon Physics Dept on quantum holism (http://abyss.uoregon.edu/~js/ glossary/holism.html)
- Theory of sociological holism (http://www.twow.net/ObjText/OtkCcCE.htm) from "World of Wholeness"
Saybrook University

Saybrook University is an educational institution for humanistic studies^[1] and is based in San Francisco.

Saybrook University offers student-centered advanced degrees in psychology, mind-body medicine, organizational systems, and human science.

Three graduate colleges comprise the University:

- The Graduate College of Psychology and Humanistic Studies (formerly Saybrook Graduate School and Research Center)
- The Graduate College of Mind-Body Medicine
- The LIOS Graduate College (formerly the Leadership Institute of Seattle)^[1]

History

Saybrook University was originally founded in 1971 as the Humanistic Psychology Institute. It was later renamed 'Saybrook Institute' and 'Saybrook Graduate School and Research Center'.

References

[1] About Saybrook University (http://www.saybrook.edu/univ/about)

External links

• Saybrook University (http://www.saybrook.edu)

Personal development

Personal development includes activities that improve awareness and identity, develop talents and potential, build human capital and facilitates employability, enhance quality of life and contribute to the realization of dreams and aspirations. The concept is not limited to self-help but includes formal and informal activities for developing others, in roles such as teacher, guide, counselor, manager, coach, or mentor. Finally, as personal development takes place in the context of institutions, it refers to the methods, programs, tools, techniques, and assessment systems that support human development at the individual level in organizations.^[1]

At the level of the individual, personal development includes the following activities:

- improving self-awareness
- improving self-knowledge
- building or renewing identity
- developing strengths or talents
- improving wealth
- spiritual development
- · identifying or improving potential
- building employability or human capital
- enhancing lifestyle or the quality of life
- improving health
- fulfilling aspirations
- initiating a life enterprise or personal autonomy
- · defining and executing personal development plans

· improving social abilities

The concept covers a wider field than self-development or self-help: personal development also includes developing others. This may take place through roles such as those of a teacher or mentor, either through a personal competency (such as the skill of certain managers in developing the potential of employees) or a professional service (such as providing training, assessment or coaching).

Beyond improving oneself and developing others, personal development is a field of practice and research. As a field of practice it includes personal development methods, learning programs, assessment systems, tools and techniques. As a field of research, personal development topics increasingly appear in scientific journals, higher education reviews, management journals and business books.

Any sort of development — whether economic, political, biological, organizational or personal — requires a framework if one wishes to know whether change has actually occurred. In the case of personal development, an individual often functions as the primary judge of improvement, but validation of objective improvement requires assessment using standard criteria. Personal development frameworks may include goals or benchmarks that define the end-points, strategies or plans for reaching goals, measurement and assessment of progress, levels or stages that define milestones along a development path, and a feedback system to provide information on changes.

The "Personal Development Industry"

Personal development as an industry^[2] has several formats of operating. The main ways are business-to-consumer and business-to-business, however there are two newer ways increasing in their prevalence. They are consumer-to-business and consumer-to-consumer.

The Business-to-Consumer Market

The business-to-consumer market involves selling books, courses and techniques to individuals, such as:

- newly-invented offerings such as:
 - fitness
 - · beauty enhancement
 - weight loss
- traditional practices such as:
 - yoga
 - martial arts
 - meditation

Some programs are delivered online and many include tools sold with a program, such as motivational books for self-help, recipes for weight-loss or technical manuals for yoga and martial-arts programs.

A partial list of personal development offerings on the business-to-individual market might include:

- books
- motivational speaking
- e-Learning programs
- workshops
- individual counseling
- life coaching

The Business-to-Business Market

The business-to-business market also involves programs - in this case ones sold to companies and to governments to assess potential, to improve effectiveness, to manage work-life balance or to prepare some entity for a new role in an organization. The goals of these programs are defined with the institution or by the institution and the results are assessed. With the acceptance of personal development as a legitimate field in higher education, universities and business schools also contract programs to external specialist firms or to individuals.

A partial list of business-to-business programs might include:

- · courses and assessment systems for higher education organizations for their students
- · management services to employees in organizations through:
 - training
 - training and development programs
 - personal-development tools
 - self-assessment
 - feedback
 - coaching
 - mentoring

Some consulting firms specialize in personal development^[3] but as of 2009 generalist firms operating in the fields of human resources, recruitment and organizational strategy have entered what they perceive as a growing market,^[4] not to mention smaller firms and self-employed professionals who provide consulting, training and coaching.

Origins

Major religions, such as the Abrahamic and Indian religions, as well as New Age philosophies, have used practices such as prayer, music, dance, singing, chanting, poetry, writing, sports and martial arts. These practices have various functions, such as health or aesthetic satisfaction, but they may also link to "final goals" of personal development such as discovering the meaning of life or living good life (compare philosophy).

Michel Foucault describes in *Care of the Self*^[5] the techniques of *epimelia* used in ancient Greece and Rome, which included dieting, exercise, sexual abstinence, contemplation, prayer and confession — some of which also became important practices within different branches of Christianity. In yoga, a discipline originating in India, possibly over 3000 years ago, personal-development techniques include meditation, rhythmic breathing, stretching and postures. Wushu and T'ai chi ch'uan utilise traditional Chinese techniques, including breathing and energy exercises, meditation, martial arts, as well as practices linked to traditional Chinese medicine, such as dieting, massage and acupuncture. In Islam, which arose almost 1500 years ago in the Middle East, personal development techniques include ritual prayer, recitation of the Qur'an, pilgrimage, fasting and *tazkiyah* (purification of the soul).

Two individual ancient philosophers stand out as major sources of what has become personal development in the 21st century, representing a Western tradition and an East Asian tradition. Elsewhere anonymous founders of schools of self-development appear endemic - note the traditions of the Indian sub-continent in this regard.

South Asian traditions

Some ancient Indians aspired to "beingness, wisdom and happiness".^[6]

Aristotle and the Western tradition

The Greek philosopher Aristotle (384 BC – 322 BC) influenced theories of personal development in the West. In his *Nicomachean Ethics*, Aristotle defined personal development as a category of phronesis or practical wisdom, where the practice of virtues (*arête*) leads to *eudaimonia*,^[7] commonly translated as "happiness" but more accurately understood as "human flourishing" or "living well".^[8] Aristotle continues to influence the Western concept of

personal development to this day, particularly in the economics of human development^[9] and in positive psychology.^[10]

Confucius and the East Asian tradition

In Chinese tradition, Confucius (around 551 BC - 479 BC) founded an ongoing philosophy. His ideas continue to influence family values, education and management in China and East Asia. In his *Great Learning* Confucius wrote:

The ancients who wished to illustrate illustrious virtue throughout the kingdom, first ordered well their own states. Wishing to order well their states, they first regulated their families. Wishing to regulate their families, they first cultivated their persons. Wishing to cultivate their persons, they first rectified their hearts. Wishing to rectify their hearts, they first sought to be sincere in their thoughts. Wishing to be sincere in their thoughts, they first extended to the utmost their knowledge. Such extension of knowledge lay in the investigation of things.^[11]

Contexts

Personal development in psychology

Psychology became linked to personal development, not with the psychoanalysis of Freud (1856–1939) but starting with his contemporaries Alfred Adler (1870–1937) and Carl Jung (1875–1961).

Adler refused to limit psychology to analysis, making the important point that aspirations look forward and do not limit themselves to unconscious drives or to childhood experiences.^[12] He also originated the concepts of lifestyle (1929 — he defined "lifestyle" as an individual's characteristic approach to life, in facing problems) and of self image, a concept that influenced management under the heading of work-life balance.

Carl Gustav Jung made contributions to personal development with his concept of individuation, which he saw as the drive of the individual to achieve the wholeness and balance of the Self.^[13]

Daniel Levinson (1920–1994) developed Jung's early concept of "life stages" and included a sociological perspective. Levinson proposed that personal development come under the influence — throughout life — of aspirations, which he called "the Dream":

Whatever the nature of his Dream, a young man has the developmental task of giving it greater definition and finding ways to live it out. It makes a great difference in his growth whether his initial life structure is consonant with and infused by the Dream, or opposed to it. If the Dream remains unconnected to his life it may simply die, and with it his sense of aliveness and purpose.^[14]

Levinson's model of seven life-stages has been considerably modified due to sociological changes in the lifecycle.^[15]

Research on success in reaching goals, as undertaken by Albert Bandura (born 1925), suggested that self-efficacy^[16] best explains why people with the same level of knowledge and skills get very different results. According to Bandura self-confidence functions as a powerful predictor of success because:^[17]

- 1. it makes you expect to succeed
- 2. it allows you take risks and set challenging goals
- 3. it helps you keep trying if at first you don't succeed
- 4. it helps you control emotions and fears when the going gets rough

In 1998 Martin Seligman won election to a one-year term as President of the American Psychological Association and proposed a new focus: on healthy individuals rather than on pathology:

We have discovered that there is a set of human strengths that are the most likely buffers against mental illness: courage, optimism, interpersonal skill, work ethic, hope, honesty and perseverance. Much of the task of prevention will be to create a science of human strength whose mission will be to foster these

virtues in young people.^[18]

Personal development in higher education

Personal development has been at the heart of education in the West in the form of the Greek philosophers; and in the East with Confucius. Some people emphasize personal development as a part of higher education. Wilhelm von Humboldt, who founded the University of Berlin (since 1949: Humboldt University of Berlin) in 1810, made a statement interpretable as referring to personal development: ... *if there is one thing more than another which absolutely requires free activity on the part of the individual, it is precisely education, whose object it is to develop the individual.*^[19]

During the 1960s a large increase in the number of students on American campuses^[20] led to research on the personal development needs of undergraduate students. Arthur Chickering defined seven vectors of personal development^[21] for young adults during their undergraduate years:

- 1. developing competence
- 2. managing emotions
- 3. achieving autonomy and interdependence
- 4. developing mature interpersonal relationships
- 5. establishing identity
- 6. developing purpose
- 7. developing integrity

In the UK, personal development took a central place in university policy in 1997 when the Dearing Report^[22] declared that universities should go beyond academic teaching to provide students with personal development. In 2001 a Quality Assessment Agency for UK universities produced guidelines^[23] for universities to enhance personal development as:

* a structured and supported process undertaken by an individual to reflect upon their own learning, performance and / or achievement and to plan for their personal, educational and career development;

* objectives related explicitly to student development; to improve the capacity of students to understand what and how they are learning, and to review, plan and take responsibility for their own learning

In the 1990s, business schools began to set up specific personal-development programs for leadership and career orientation and in 1998 the European Foundation for Management Development set up the Equis accreditation system^[24] which specified that personal development must form part of the learning process through internships, working on team projects and going abroad for work or exchange programs.

The first personal development certification required for business school graduation originated in 2002 as a partnership between Metizo,^[25] a personal-development consulting firm, and the Euromed Management School^[26] in Marseilles: students must not only complete assignments but also demonstrate self-awareness and achievement of personal-development competencies.

As an academic department personal development has become a specific discipline, usually associated with business schools.^[27] As an area of research, personal development draws on links to other academic disciplines:

- · education for questions of learning and assessment
- psychology for motivation and personality
- sociology for identity and social networks
- · economics for human capital and economic value
- · philosophy for ethics and self-reflection

Personal development in the workplace

Abraham Maslow (1908–1970), proposed a hierarchy of needs with self actualization at the top, defined as:^[28]

... the desire to become more and more what one is, to become everything that one is capable of becoming.

Since Maslow himself believed that only a small minority of people self-actualize — he estimated one percent^[29] — his hierarchy of needs had the consequence that organizations came to regard self-actualization or personal development as occurring at the top of the organizational pyramid, while job security and good working conditions would fulfill the needs of the mass of employees.

As organizations and labor markets became more global, responsibility for development shifted from the company to the individual. In 1999 management thinker Peter Drucker wrote in the *Harvard Business Review*:

We live in an age of unprecedented opportunity: if you've got ambition and smarts, you can rise to the top of your chosen profession, regardless of where you started out. But with opportunity comes responsibility. Companies today aren't managing their employees' careers; knowledge workers must, effectively, be their own chief executive officers. It's up to you to carve out your place, to know when to change course, and to keep yourself engaged and productive during a work life that may span some 50 years.^[30]

Management professors Sumantra Ghoshal of the London Business School and Christopher Bartlett of the Harvard Business School wrote in 1997 that companies must manage people individually and establish a new work contract.^[31] On the one hand the company must allegedly recognize that personal development creates economic value: "market performance flows not from the omnipotent wisdom of top managers but from the initiative, creativity and skills of all employees".

On the other hand, employees should recognize that their work includes personal development and "... embrace the invigorating force of continuous learning and personal development".

The 1997 publication of Ghoshal's and Bartlett's *Individualized Corporation* corresponded to a change in career development from a system of predefined paths defined by companies, to a strategy defined by the individual and matched to the needs of organizations in an open landscape of possibilities. Another contribution to the study of career development came with the recognition that women's careers show specific personal needs and different development paths from men. The 2007 study of women's careers by Sylvia Ann Hewlett *Off-Ramps and On-Ramps*^[32] had a major impact on the way companies view careers. Further work on the career as a personal development process came from study by Herminia Ibarra in her *Working Identity* on the relationship with career change and identity change,^[33] indicating that priorities of work and lifestyle continually develop through life.

Personal development programs in companies fall into two categories: the provision of employee benefits and the fostering of development strategies.

Employee benefits have the purpose of improving satisfaction, motivation and loyalty. Employee surveys may help organizations find out personal-development needs, preferences and problems, and they use the results to design benefits programs. Typical programs in this category include:

- work-life balance
- time management
- stress management
- health programs
- counseling

Many such programs resemble programs that some employees might conceivably pay for themselves outside work: yoga, sports, martial arts, money-management, positive psychology, NLP, etc.

As an investment, personal development programs have the goal of increasing human capital or improving productivity, innovation or quality. Proponents actually see such programs not as a cost but as an investment with results linked to an organization's strategic development goals. Employees gain access to these investment-oriented

programs by selection according to the value and future potential of the employee, usually defined in a talent management architecture including populations such as new hires, perceived high-potential employees, perceived key employees, sales staff, research staff and perceived future leaders. Organizations may also offer other (non-investment-oriented) programs to many or even all employees. Typical programs focus on career-development, personal effectiveness, teamwork, and competency-development. Personal development also forms an element in management tools such as personal development planning, assessing one's level of ability using a competency grid, or getting feedback from a 360 questionnaire filled in by colleagues at different levels in the organization.

Personal development authors

People who have produced texts in the personal development field include:

- David Allen (1945-)
- Aristotle^[34] (384–322 BC)
- Jack Canfield (born 1944)
- Dale Carnegie^[35] (1888–1955)
- Confucius^[36] (551–479 BC)
- Stephen Covey (1932-)
- G. I. Gurdjieff^[37] (1866?-1949)
- Friedrich Ludwig Jahn^[38] (1778–1852)
- Mark Victor Hansen (born 1948)
- Elena Chopin
- Keith Matthew (born 1970)
- Steve Pavlina (born 1971)
- Tony Robbins (born 1960)
- Jim Rohn (1930–2009)
- Brian Tracy (born 1944)
- Zig Ziglar (born 1926)
- Azmi Jahan (born 1984)
- Steven Aitchison
- Michel de Kemmeter (born 1964)
- Khalid Hamid (born 1976)
- Jaber Hussain Al Yafai (born 1979
- Sergiy Lunyov and Tetyana Lunyova (born 1975 and 1976)

References

- Bob Aubrey, Managing Your Aspirations: Developing Personal Enterprise in the Global Workplace McGraw-Hill 2010 ISBN 978-007-131178-6, page 9
- [2] Some sources recognize personal development as an "industry": see for example Cullen, John G. (2009). "How to sell your soul and still get into Heaven: Steven Covey's epiphany-inducing technology of effective selfhood" (http://hum.sagepub.com/cgi/content/abstract/62/8/1231). *Human Relations* (SAGE Publications) **62** (8): 1231–1254. doi:10.1177/0018726709334493. ISSN 0018-7267. Retrieved 2010-04-28. "The growth of the personal development industry and its gurus continues to be resisted across a number of genres." and Grant, Anthony M.; Blythe O'Hara (November 2006). "The self-presentation of commercial Australian life coaching schools: Cause for concern?" (http://www.bps.org.uk/downloadfile.cfm?file_uuid=4DD51349-1143-DFD0-7EE9-5CC2B0B1DAAE) (PDF). *International Coaching Psychology Review* (Leicester: The British Psychological Society) 1 (2): 21–33. ISSN 1750-2764. Retrieved 2010-04-28. "[...] much of the commercial life coaching and personal development industry is grounded more on hyperbole and rhetoric than solid behavioural science (Grant, 2001) [...]" and Grant, Anthony M.; Michael J. Cavanagh (December 2007). "Evidence-based coaching: Flourishing or languishing?" (http://www.informaworld.com/smpp/content~content=a783521858&db=all). *Australian Psychologist* (Australian Psychological Society) 42 (4): 239–254. doi:10.1080/00050060701648175. ISSN 1742-9544. Retrieved 2010-04-28. "To flourish, coaching psychology needs to remain clearly differentiated from the frequently sensationalistic and pseudoscientific facets of the personal development industry while at the same time engaging in the development of the wider coaching industry."

- [3] Firms such as PDI, DDI, Metizo, and FranklinCovey exemplify international personal-development firms working with companies for consulting, assessment and training.
- [4] Human-resources firms such as Hewitt, Mercer, Watson Wyatt Worldwide, the Hay Group; McKinsey and the Boston Consulting Group offer consulting in talent-development, and Korn/Ferry offers executive coaching.
- [5] Foucault, Michel, ed (1986). Care of the Self. 2. Random House. Translated from the French Le Souci de Soi editions Gallimard 1984. Part Two of Foucault's book describes the technique of caring for the soul falling in the category of *epimelia* from the Greek to the classic Roman period and on into the early stages of the age of Christianity.
- [6] Ventegodt, Søren; Joav Merrick, Niels Jørgen Andersen (Oct 2003). "Quality of Life Theory III. Maslow Revisited" (http://www. livskvalitet.org/cms.ashx/Videnskabelige Artikler/~Quality of Life/qoltheo3.pdf). *The ScientificWorldJournal* (Finland: Corpus Alienum Oy) (3): 1050–1057. doi:10.1100/tsw.2003.84. ISSN 1537-744X. . Retrieved 2009-12-15. "In ancient India people talked about reaching the level of existence called 'sat-sit-ananda': beingness, wisdom and happiness as one."
- [7] Nichomachean Ethics, translated by W.D.Ross, Basic Works of Aristotle, section 1142. Online in "The Internet Classics Archive of MIT": http://classics.mit.edu//Aristotle/nicomachaen.html
- [8] Martha Nussbaum, The Fragility of Goodness, Cambridge University Press, discusses why the English word happiness does not describe Aristotle's concept of eudaimonia, pages 1-6
- [9] Nobel Prize winner Amartya Sen identifies economic development with Aristotle's concepts of individual development in his co-authored book written with Aristotle scholar Nussbaum: Nussbaum, Martha; Sen, Amartya, eds (1993). *The Quality of Life*. Oxford: Clarendon Press. ISBN 0198283954.; as well as in his general book published a year after receiving the Nobel Prize in Economics in 1998: Sen, Amartya (1999). *Development as Freedom*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- [10] Daniel Seligman explicitly identifies the goals of positive psychology with Aristotle's idea of the "Good Life" and *eudaimonia* in Seligman, Martin E. P. (2002). Authentic Happiness: Using the New Positive Psychology to Realize Your Potential for Lasting Fulfillment.New York: Free Press. ISBN 0-7432-2297-0 (Paperback edition, Free Press, 2004, ISBN 0-7432-2298-9).
- [11] Confucius, Great Learning, translated by James Legge. Provided online (http://classics.mit.edu/Confucius/learning.html) in The Internet Classics Archive of MIT.
- [12] Heinz Ansbacher and Rowena R Ansbacher (1964) Individual Psychology of Alfred Adler, Basic Books 1956. See especially chapter 3 on Finalism and Fiction and chapter 7 on the Style of Life.
- [13] Jung saw individuation as a process of psychological differentiation, having for its goal the development of the individual personality. C.G. Jung. *Psychological Types. Collected Works*, Vol.6., par. 757)
- [14] Daniel Levinson, Seasons of a Man's Life, Ballantine Press, 1978, page 91-92
- [15] Gail Sheehy, New Passages, Random House 1995. Sheehy had written an earlier best-selling book, Passages popularizing Levinson's stages; her second book demonstrated how far society and life stages had changed.
- [16] Albert Bandura (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. New York: Freeman
- [17] Albert Bandura, Self-Efficacy: The Exercise of Control, W.H. Freeman and Company, New York, 1998, page 184.
- [18] Martin Seligman, "Building Human Strength: Psychology's Forgotten Mission" VOLUME 29, NUMBER 1 January 1998
- [19] Wilhelm von Humboldt, Wilhelm von Humboldt, *The Sphere and Duties of Government*. Translated from the German of Baron Wilhelm von Humboldt, by Joseph Coulthard, Jun. (London: John Chapman, 1854). Chapter 6. Accessed from http://oll.libertyfund.org/title/589 on 2008-12-30
- [20] See for example the figures for Cuba: "Educación Superior" (http://www.ccsr.ac.uk/cuba/cepde2004/CD_EDUCACION/ EDUCACION/TABLA_24hasta32.htm). *Cuban Statistics and Related Publications*. Centro de Estudios de Población y Desarrollo de la Oficina Nacional de Estadísticas. Retrieved 2009-07-17.
- [21] Arthur Chickering, Education and Identity (San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1969); second edition updated with Linda Reisser, published in 1993 by Jossey-Bass.
- [22] The Dearing Report of 1997:see the Leeds University website: http://www.leeds.ac.uk/educol/ncihe/
- [23] These definitions and guidelines appear on the UK Academy of Higher Education website: http://www.heacademy.ac.uk/ourwork/ learning/pdp
- [24] For the personal development requirement for Equis, see the European Foundation for Management Development website http://www.efmd.org/images/stories/efmd/EQUIS/equis_standards_criteria.pdf
- [25] A description and requirements for Metizo's personal development certifications can be found on the company's website: www.metizo.com
- [26] The components of Euromed Management School's personal development programs appear on the school's website http://www.euromed-management.com/default.aspx?rub=582.
- [27] For example, in 2010 Euromed Management School created a department grouping leadership, entrepreneurship and personal development
- [28] Abraham Maslow "A Theory of Human Motivation" originally published in the 1943 *Psychological Review*, number 50, page 838. Maslow, A. H. (1996). Higher
- [29] Maslow, A. H. (1996). Higher motivation and the new psychology. In E. Hoffman (Ed.), Future visions: The unpublished papers of Abraham Maslow. Thousands Oaks, CA: Sage, page 89
- [30] Peter F. Drucker, "Managing Oneself", Best of HBR 1999.
- [31] Ghoshal, Sumantra; Bartlett Christopher A. (1997) The Individualized Corporation: A Fundamentally New Approach to Management, HarperCollins, page 286

- [32] Hewlett, Sylvia Ann (2007), Off-Ramps and On-Ramps, Harvard Business School Press. This book shows how women have started to change the traditional career path and how companies adapt to career/lifestyle issues for men as well as for women.
- [33] Ibarra, Herminia (2003) "2" Working identity : unconventional strategies for reinventing your career Boston, Mass.: Harvard Business School Press pp. 199 ISBN 1578517788 Ibarra discusses career-change based on a process moving from possible selves to "anchoring" a new professional identity.
- [34] Artz, John M. (September 1995). "Computers and the quality of life" (http://portal.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=211985). ACM SIGCAS Computers and Society (New York: ACM) 25 (3): 17–19. ISSN 0095-273. . Retrieved 2010-03-19. "[Wittgenstein's] criteria support Aristotle's view of happiness through personal development[...]"
- [35] Zajas, Jay J. (1994). "Planning Your Total Career and Life Portfolio: Part II: A Group Process Experience for Developing Personal and Career Focus - A Case Study" (http://www.emeraldinsight.com/10.1108/09533239410061833). *Executive Development* (MCB UP Ltd) 7 (4): 24–28. doi:10.1108/09533239410061833. ISSN 0953-3230. . Retrieved 2010-03-19. "In the personal development area, books such as Building Your Self Image, by Josh McDowell, Living Books & Tyndale House Publishing, Wheaton, IL ... 1948, and How to Make Friends and Influence People, Simon & Schuster, New York, NY, 1964, by Dale Carnegie contain time-tested principles for forming genuine friendships and viable interpersonal relationships."
- [36] Hu, Guangwei (2002). "Potential Cultural Resistance to Pedagogical Imports: The Case of Communicative Language Teaching in China" (http://moodle.vsoint.org/file.php/1/moddata/data/6/10/113/Hu_G._2002_CLT_in_China_Pedagogical_Imports.pdf) (PDF). Language, culture and curriculum 15 (2): 93–105. Retrieved 2010-03-19. "Besides the reward of the soul that comes in the form of inner satisfaction with full personal development (Guo, 2001), Confucius also saw a utilitarian function of education[...]"
- [37] Matthews, Robin. "Intelligent strategy" (http://web.archive.org/web/20060924045313/http://www.kingston.ac.uk/~ku00136/ publications/intstrat.pdf) (PDF). Kingston upon Thames: Kingston Business School. p. 2. Archived from the original (http://www.kingston. ac.uk/~ku00136/publications/intstrat.pdf) on September 24, 2006. Retrieved 2010-03-19. "The Enneagram, an ancient symbol of Chaldean origin, is found in the traditions of Christianity, Zoroastrianism, Buddhism, and Sufism. In the early twentieth century, it was expounded by the Russians G.I. Gurdjieff and P.D.Ouspensky (see Bennett, 1966), and currently it is used in some personal development programmes."
- [38] Durántez Corral, Conrado; José A. Pérez-Turpin, Aurora Martínez Vidal, Covadonga Mateos Padorno, José Martínez Patiño, Antonio González Molina. (January 2010). "Principles of the Olympic movement" (http://rua.ua.es/dspace/bitstream/10045/13101/1/ JHSE_5_1_2.pdf) (PDF). *Journal of Human Sport and Exercise* 5 (1): 3–14. doi:10.4100/jhse. ISSN 1988-5202. . Retrieved 2010-03-19. "Teachers and educators would be those who used gymnastics as a forming element of the individual with the important contributions of Francisco Amoros in Spain, Henrik Ling in Sweden and Frederick Louis Jahn in Germany[...]"

Institute of Transpersonal Psychology

The **Institute of Transpersonal Psychology** (ITP) is an American private and non-sectarian graduate school. It is accredited by the Western Association of Schools and Colleges^[1]. ITP was founded in 1975 and the campus is located in Palo Alto, California.

The curriculum, initially developed by Robert Frager, focuses on six areas of inquiry: the intellectual, emotional, spiritual, physical, social and creative aspects of life. One of the features of the school is the requirement that all students take a certain amount of Aikido which is one way that the school seeks to integrate the "physical" learning component of its teaching philosophy into the curriculum of the program.

The institute has three major degree programs, a residential (on-campus) program, a low-residency program combining on-campus and online work, and a global (online) program. The residential program offers options for students to gain both masters and doctoral degrees by taking courses offered on campus. The residential masters degrees options include a Master of Arts in Transpersonal Psychology, a Master of Arts in Counseling Psychology, offered on campus as a full-time or a part-time program, and a new low-residency MACP (in California a person with this degree may be licensed as a Marriage and Family Therapist, a low-residency Master of Arts in Women's Spirituality, and a low-residency Master of Arts in Spiritual Guidance. The residential doctoral programs allow students to earn either a Ph.D. in Transpersonal Psychology or a PsyD Clinical Psychology (in California a person with this degree may be licensed as a psychologist). The global program allows students from around the United States and internationally to take courses online. The degree offerings in the global program include a Master's of Arts in Transpersonal Psychology (with specializations in Health and Wellness, Spiritual Psychology, Creativity and Innovation, and Transformational Life Coaching) and a Ph.D. in psychology with a concentration in Transpersonal Psychology.

References

 "WASC Member Directory" (http://registration.wascsenior.org/institutions/affiliation.aspx?accessID=298). Member Directory. . Retrieved 12 March 2011.

External links

• Institute of Transpersonal Psychology website (http://www.itp.edu/)

Organismic theory

Organismic theories in psychology are a family of holistic psychological theories which tend to stress the organization, unity, and integration of human beings expressed through each individual's inherent growth or developmental tendency. The idea of an explicitly "organismic theory" dates at least back to the publication of Kurt Goldstein's *The organism: A holistic approach to biology derived from pathological data in man* in 1934. Organismic theories and the "organic" metaphor were inspired by organicist approaches in biology. The most direct influence from inside psychology comes from gestalt psychology. This approach is often contrasted with mechanistic and reductionist perspectives in psychology.

Examples of Organismic Theories and Theorists

- Kurt Goldstein's Organismic theory^[1]
- Ludwig von Bertalanffy's organismic psychology within his General systems theory ^[2]
- Jean Piaget's theory of cognitive development
- Heinz Werner's orthogenic principle
- · Andras Angyal's theory of personality
- Abraham Maslow's Holistic-dynamic theory
- Carl Rogers' Person-centered approach
- Fritz Perls and Laura Perls's Gestalt Therapy
- Ed Deci and Richard Ryan's Self-determination theory^[3]
- Murray Bookchin's dialectical naturalism.

References

- Goldstein, Kurt. (1934/1995). The organism: A holistic approach to biology derived from pathological data in man. New York: Zone Books. ISBN 0-94-229997-3.
- [2] Bertalanffy, Ludwig von. (1968). Organismic Psychology and Systems Theory. Worchester: Clark University Press.
- [3] Deci, Edward L.; & Ryan, Richard M. (1985). Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior. New York: Plenum. ISBN 0-30-642022-8.
- Hall, Calvin & Lindzey, Gardner. (1970). Theories of Personality. (Second Edition)
- Maslow, Abraham. Motivation and Personality (1st ed.: 1954, 2nd ed.: 1970)
- Perls, F., Hefferline, R., & Goodman, P. (1951). *Gestalt Therapy: Excitement and Growth in the Human Personality*.
- Rogers, Carl. (1951). *Client-centered therapy: Its current practice, implications and theory*. London: Constable. ISBN 1-84119-840-4.
- Werner, H. (1957). The concept of development from a comparative and organismic point of view. In D. Harris (Ed.), *The concept of development*. Minneapolis, Minn: University of Minnesota Press

Further reading

• Harrington, Anne: *Reenchanted Science: Holism in German Culture from Wilhelm II to Hitler*, Princeton University Press, 1999.

Transpersonal psychology

Transpersonal psychology is a form of psychology that studies the transpersonal, self-transcendent or spiritual aspects of the human experience.

A short definition from the *Journal of Transpersonal Psychology* suggests that transpersonal psychology "is concerned with the study of humanity's highest potential, and with the recognition, understanding, and realization of unitive, spiritual, and transcendent states of consciousness" ^[1]. Issues considered in transpersonal psychology include spiritual self-development, self beyond the ego, peak experiences, mystical experiences, systemic trance and other sublime and/or unusually expanded experiences of living.

Transpersonal psychology developed from earlier schools of psychology including psychoanalysis, behaviorism, and humanistic psychology. Transpersonal psychology attempts to describe and integrate spiritual experience within modern psychological theory and to formulate new theory to encompass such experience. Types of spiritual experience examined vary greatly but include mysticism, religious conversion, altered states of consciousness, trance and spiritual practices. Although Carl Jung and others explored aspects of the spiritual and transpersonal in their work, Miller ^[2] notes that Western psychology has had a tendency to ignore the spiritual dimension of the human psyche.

Origins and definition of the discipline

Lajoie and Shapiro^[3] reviewed forty definitions of transpersonal psychology that had appeared in literature over the period 1969 to 1991. They found that five key themes in particular featured prominently in these definitions: states of consciousness, higher or ultimate potential, beyond the ego or personal self, transcendence, and the spiritual. Walsh and Vaughan^[4] have criticised many definitions of transpersonal psychology, for carrying implicit ontological or methodological assumptions. They also challenge definitions that link transpersonal psychology to healthy states only, or to the "Perennial Philosophy". These authors define transpersonal psychology as being the branch of psychology that is concerned with transpersonal experiences and related phenomena, noting that "These phenomena include the causes, effects and correlates of transpersonal experiences, as well as the disciplines and practices inspired by them" ^[5]

Caplan (2009: p. 231) conveys the genesis of the discipline, states its mandate and ventures a definition:

Although transpersonal psychology is relatively new as a formal discipline, beginning with the publication of *The Journal of Transpersonal Psychology* in 1969 and the founding of the Association for Transpersonal Psychology in 1971, it draws upon ancient mystical knowledge that comes from multiple traditions. Transpersonal psychologists attempt to integrate timeless wisdom with modern Western psychology and translate spiritual principles into scientifically grounded, contemporary language. Transpersonal psychology addresses the full spectrum of human psychospiritual development -- from our deepest wounds and needs, to the existential crisis of the human being, to the most transcendent capacities of our consciousness.

_[6]

Development of the academic field

Amongst the thinkers who are held to have set the stage for transpersonal studies are William James, Carl Jung, Abraham Maslow, and Roberto Assagioli^[7]. Research by Vich^[8] suggests that the earliest usage of the term "transpersonal" can be found in lecture notes which William James had prepared for a semester at Harvard University in 1905-6. Another important figure in the establishment of transpersonal psychology was Abraham Maslow. Maslow had already published work regarding human peak experiences, and was one of the people, together with Stanislav Grof and Viktor Frankl, who suggested the term "transpersonal" for the emerging field. Gradually, during the 1960s, the term "transpersonal" was associated with a distinct school of psychology within the humanistic psychology movement^[9].

In 1969, Abraham Maslow, Stanislav Grof and Anthony Sutich were among the initiators behind the publication of the first issue of the Journal of Transpersonal Psychology, the leading academic journal in the field ^[10]. This was soon to be followed by the founding of the Association for Transpersonal Psychology (ATP) in 1972. Past presidents of the association include Alyce Green, James Fadiman, Frances Vaughan, Arthur Hastings, Daniel Goleman, Robert Frager, Ronald Jue, Jeanne Achterberg and Dwight Judy. In the 1980s and 90s the field developed through the works of such authors as Jean Houston, Stanislav Grof, Ken Wilber, Michael Washburn, Frances Vaughan, Roger Walsh, Stanley Krippner, Michael Murphy, Charles Tart, David Lukoff, Vasily Nalimov, Margret Rueffler and Stuart Sovatsky. While Wilber has been considered an influential writer and theoretician in the field, he has since personally dissociated himself from the movement in favor of what he calls an integral approach.

By common consent, the following branches are considered to be transpersonal psychological schools: various depth psychology approaches including Analytical psychology, based on Carl Jung, and the Archetypal psychology of James Hillman; the spiritual psychology of Robert Sardello, ^[11]; psychosynthesis founded by Roberto Assagioli; and the theories of Abraham Maslow, Stanislav Grof, Timothy Leary, Ken Wilber, Michael Washburn and Charles Tart.

Today transpersonal psychology also includes approaches to health, social sciences and practical arts such as process art. Transpersonal perspectives are also being applied to such diverse fields as psychology, psychiatry, anthropology, sociology, pharmacology ^[12] and social work theory ^[13]. Transpersonal therapies are also included in many therapeutic practices. Currently, transpersonal psychology, especially the schools of Jungian and Archetypal psychology, is integrated, at least to some extent, into many psychology departments in American and European Universities. Institutions of higher learning that have adopted insights from transpersonal psychology include The Institute of Transpersonal Psychology (US), California Institute of Integral Studies (US), John F. Kennedy University (US), Saybrook University (US), University of West Georgia (US), Atlantic University (US), Burlington College (US), Essex University (UK), Liverpool John Moores University (UK), the University of Northampton (UK), Leeds Metropolitan University (UK), Naropa University (Colorado), Pacifica Graduate Institute (CA), and Southwestern College (NM). There is also a strong connection between the transpersonal and the humanistic psychology ^[14]. In 1996 the British Psychological Society (the UK professional body equivalent to the APA) established a Transpersonal Psychology Section. It was co-founded by David Fontana, Ingrid Slack and Martin Treacy, and was according to Fontana ^[15] "the first Section of its kind in a Western scientific society".

Robert Frager, of the Institute of Transpersonal Psychology, and James Fadiman, of the Institute of Transpersonal Psychology, provide an account of the contributions of many of the key historic figures who have shaped and developed transpersonal psychology (in addition to discussing and explaining important concepts and theories germane to transpersonal psychology) in a textbook on personality theories ^[16] which serves to promote an understanding of the discipline in classroom settings. An example which points to the possibility that awareness and discussion of transpersonal psychology in mainstream classroom settings may be on the rise can be seen by the inclusion of a section on transpersonal psychology for the first time in a textbook by Barbara Engler ^[17] in which she asks the question, "Is spirituality an appropriate topic for psychological study?" Engler offers a brief account of the

history of transpersonal psychology and a peek into its possible future in noting that G-H Jennings (1999) "suggests that transpersonal psychology, using Jung's typology, expresses the neglected inferior function in American psychology, needs to be incorporated into it, and offers great potential and promise for the development of psychology in the third millennium" ^[18].

Transpersonal psychology is many times regarded as the fourth wave force of psychology which according to Maslow even transcends the self-actualization of Humanistic psychology(1968).^[19] Unlike the other first three schools of psychology i.e. psychoanalysis, behaviorism and humanistic psychology which more or less deny the transcended part of soul, transpersonal psychology integrates the whole spectrum of human development from prepersonality to transpersonality.^[20] Hence transpersonal psychology can be considered the most integrated complete psychology, a positive psychology par excellence.^[21] From personality to transpersonality, mind to meditation, neuroscience to Nirvana it is a complete wholesome science for all round development and treatment.^[22]

Demarcations

One must not confuse Transpersonal psychology with Parapsychology. This may sometimes happen due to the overlapping and unconventional research interests of both fields. In short; parapsychology tends to focus more in its subject matter on the "psychic", while transpersonal psychology tends to focus on the "spiritual" (relatively crude though these categorizations are, it is still a useful distinction in this context). While parapsychology leans more towards traditional scientific epistemology (laboratory experiments, statistics, research on cognitive states), transpersonal psychology tends to be more closely related to the epistemology of the humanities and the hermeneutic disciplines (humanism, existentialism, phenomenology, anthropology), although it has always included contributions involving experimental and statistical research.

Transpersonal psychology may also, sometimes, be associated with New Age beliefs ^[23]. Although the transpersonal perspective has many overlapping interests with theories and thinkers associated with the term "New Age", it is still problematic to place transpersonal psychology within such a framework. Transpersonal psychology is an academic discipline, not a religious or spiritual movement, and some of the field's leading authors, among those Sovatsky ^[24], have criticized the nature of New Age discourse. Associations between transpersonal psychology and the New Age have probably contributed to the failures in the United States of America to get transpersonal psychology more formally recognised within the professional body, the American Psychological Association (APA).

Research

The transpersonal perspective spans many research interests. The following list is adapted from the *Textbook of Transpersonal Psychiatry and Psychology*^[25] and includes:

- The contributions of spiritual traditions Hinduism, Yoga, Buddhism, Vajrayana, Zen, Taoism, Tantra, Shamanism, Kabbalah, Sufism, Spiritism and Christian mysticism to psychiatry and psychology
- Native American healing
- Aging and adult spiritual development
- Meditation research and clinical aspects of meditation
- Consciousness studies and research
- · Psychedelics, Ethnopharmacology, and Psychopharmacology
- Parapsychology
- Cross-cultural studies and Anthropology
- Diagnosis of Religious and Spiritual Problems
- Offensive spirituality and spiritual defenses
- The treatment of former members of cults
- Transpersonal Psychotherapy
- Music therapy

- · Addiction and recovery
- · Guided-Imagery and Visualization Therapy
- Guided Imagery and Music
- Breathwork
- Dying and near death experience (NDE)
- · Past-Life therapy
- Ecological survival
- Social change
- out-of-body experience

Contributions to the academic field

Transpersonal Psychology has made several contributions to the academic field, and the studies of human development, consciousness and spirituality. Transpersonal Psychology has also made contributions to the field of psychiatry. One of the demarcations in transpersonal theory is between authors who present a fairly linear and hierarchical model of human development, such as Timothy Leary and Ken Wilber, and authors who present non-linear models of human development, such as Michael Washburn and Stanislav Grof. Timothy Leary, who was originally a professional psychologist and a professor of psychology, made a significant contribution to transpersonal psychology with the formulation of his "Eight Circuit Model of Consciousness", outlined in his book *Info-Psychology* ^[26].

Ken Wilber's primary contribution to the field is the theory of a spectrum of consciousness consisting of three broad categories: the prepersonal or pre-egoic, the personal or egoic, and the transpersonal or trans-egoic ^[27]. A more detailed version of this spectrum theory includes nine different levels of human development, in which levels 1-3 are pre-personal levels, levels 4-6 are personal levels and levels 7-9 are transpersonal levels ^[28]. Later development of the theory also includes a tenth level ^[29]. Wilber has portrayed the development of human consciousness as both hierarchical and circular. His model is hierarchical in the way that development progresses from matter to body to mind to spirit. It is circular and uneven in the sense that the various developmental lines (e.g. morality, cognition, emotion, self-sense, etc.) don't always develop in tandem and thus progress can involve circling back to pick up the process. According to this theory different schools of psychology address different levels of the spectrum. Also, each level of organization, or self-development, includes a vulnerability to certain pathologies associated with that particular level ^{[30] [31]}.

Wilber also describes a situation called the "pre/trans fallacy". According to Transpersonal theorists ^[32] western schools of psychology have had a tendency to dismiss or pathologize transpersonal levels, equating them with regressive pathological conditions belonging to a lower level. The pre/trans fallacy describes a lack of differentiation between pre-rational psychiatric problems and valid transpersonal problems ^[33].

In contrast to Leary and Wilber, Michael Washburn ^[34] and Stanislav Grof ^[35] present models of human development that are not hierarchical or linear. Washburn presents a model that is informed by the Jungian perspective, and brings forth the idea of a U-turn. Central to this model is the idea that the ego initially arose out of a "source" or "ground". Therefore, transpersonal development requires a return to this origins, before it can move on ^[36]. Finally, Grof applies regressional modes of therapy (originally with the use of psychedelic substances, later with other methods) in order to seek greater psychological integration. This has led to the confrontation of constructive and deconstructive models of the process leading to genuine mental health: what Wilber sees as a pre/trans fallacy does not exist for Washburn and Grof, for pre-rational states may be genuinely transpersonal, and re-living them may be essential in the process of achieving genuine sanity ^[37].

As an alternative to many of the major epistemological and philosophical trends in the field, such as the focus upon experientialism (inner spiritual states) and perennialism (the legacy of the perennial philosophy), Ferrer ^[38] has suggested a revision of Transpersonal Theory that focuses more upon the great variety, or pluralism, of spiritual

insights and spiritual worlds that can be disclosed by transpersonal inquiry. He calls this revision a "participatory turn".

Transpersonal Psychology has also brought clinical attention to the topic of spiritual crisis ^[39]. A spiritual crisis has to do with a person's relationship to existential issues, or issues that transcend the mundane issues of ordinary life. Many of the psychological difficulties associated with a spiritual crisis are not ordinarily discussed by mainstream psychology. Among these problems are psychiatric complications related to mystical experience, near-death experience, Kundalini awakening, shamanic crisis (also called shamanic illness), psychic opening, intensive meditation, and medical or terminal illness ^[40].

The terms "Spiritual Emergence", and "Spiritual Emergency", were coined by Stanislav and Christina Grof^[41] in order to describe a spiritual crisis in a person's life (precedents of Grof's approach in this regard are found in Jung, Perry, Dabrowski, Bateson, Laing, Cooper and antipsychiatry in the widest sense of the term). The term "Spiritual emergence" describes а "gradual unfoldment of spiritual potential with no disruption psychological-social-occupational functioning"^[42]. In cases where the spiritual unfoldment is intensified beyond the control of the individual it may lead to a state of "Spiritual Emergency". A Spiritual Emergency may cause significant disruption in psychological, social and occupational functioning. Many of the psychological difficulties described above can, according to Transpersonal theory, lead to episodes of spiritual emergency [43] [44] [45].

Because of the overlap of spiritual crisis and mental health problems, Transpersonal Psychologists ^[46] made a proposal for a new diagnostic category entitled "Psychoreligious or Psychospiritual Problem" at the beginning of the 1990s. The category was approved by the DSM-IV Task Force in 1993, after changing the title to "Religious or Spiritual Problem" ^[47]. It is included in the fourth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV) ^[48] ^[49]. According to Chinen the inclusion marks "increasing professional acceptance of transpersonal issues" ^[50]. Besides signifying a greater sensitivity towards spiritual issues, and spiritually oriented narratives ^[51], the new V-Code may also contribute to the greater cultural sensitivity of the manual and could help promote enhanced understanding between the fields of psychiatry and religion/spirituality ^[52] ^[53].

Criticism

Criticisms of transpersonal psychology have come from several commentators. One of the earliest criticisms of the field was issued by the Humanistic psychologist Rollo May, who disputed the conceptual foundations of transpersonal psychology^[54]. Another early criticism regarded the relationship between Transpersonal Psychology and the ideas of William James. Although the ideas of James are central to the Transpersonal field, Alexander ^[55] thought that Transpersonal Psychology did not have a clear understanding of the negative dimensions of consciousness (such as evil) expressed in James' philosophy. This serious criticism has been absorbed by later Transpersonal theory, which has been more willing to reflect on these important dimensions of human existence ^[56]. Criticism has also come from the cognitive psychologist and humanist Albert Ellis ^[57], who has questioned transpersonal psychology's scientific status and its relationship to religion and mysticism. Friedman^[58] has criticized the field of Transpersonal psychology for being underdeveloped as a field of science, placing it at the intersection between the broader domain of inquiry known as transpersonal studies (which may include a number of unscientific approaches) and the scientific discipline of psychology. Ferrer ^[59] has criticized Transpersonal Psychology for being too loyal to the perennial philosophy, for introducing a subtle Cartesianism, and for being too preoccupied with intrasubjective spiritual states (inner empiricism). As an alternative to these trends he suggests a revision of transpersonal theory. That is, a participatory vision of human spirituality that honors a wide assortment of spiritual insights, spiritual worlds and places.

Also, philosopher Ken Wilber, one of the early profiles within the transpersonal field, has repeatedly announced the demise of transpersonal psychology.^[60] [61]

From the standpoint of Buddhism and Dzogchen, Elías Capriles ^[62] has objected that transpersonal psychology fails to distinguish between the transpersonal condition of *nirvana*, which is inherently liberating, those transpersonal

conditions which are within *samsara* and which as such are new forms of bondage (such as the four realms of the *arupyadhatu* or four arupa lokas of Buddhism, in which the figure-ground division dissolves but there is still a subject-object duality), and the neutral condition in which neither *nirvana* nor *samsara* are active that the Dzogchen teachings call *kun gzhi* (in which there is no subject-object duality but the true condition of all phenomena (*dharmata*) is not patent (and which includes all conditions involving *nirodh* or cessation, including *nirodh samapatti*, *nirvikalpa samadhis* and the *samadhi* or *turiya* that is the supreme realization of Patañjali's *Yoga darshana*). In the process of elaborating what he calls a meta-transpersonal psychology, Capriles has carried out conscientious refutations of Wilber, Grof and Washburn, which according to Macdonald & Friedman ^[63] ^[64] will have important repercusions on the future of transpersonal psychology.

Doctrines or ideas of many colorful personalities, who were or are spiritual teachers in the Western world, such as Gurdjieff or Alice Bailey, are often assimilated into the transpersonal psychology mainstream scene. This development is, generally, seen as detrimental to the aspiration of transpersonal psychologists to gain a firm and respectable academic status. It could also be argued that most psychologists do not hold strictly to traditional schools of psychology — most psychologists take an eclectic approach. This could mean that some of the transpersonal categories listed above are considered by standard subdisciplines of psychology; religious conversion falling within the ambit of social psychology, altered states of consciousness within physiological psychology, and spiritual life within the psychology of religion. Transpersonal psychologists, however, disagree with the approach to such phenomena taken by traditional psychology, and claim that transpersonal categories have typically been dismissed either as signs of various kinds of mental illnesses, or as a regression to infantile stages of psychosomatic development. Thus, as illustrated by the pre/trans fallacy, religious and spiritual experiences have in the past been seen as either regressive or pathological and treated as such.

Applications and related disciplines

Transpersonal psychology has been applied to areas such as counselling, health, spiritual development, mind expansion, and to provide psychological security for self growth. Applications to the areas of business studies and management have been developed. Other transpersonal disciplines, such as transpersonal anthropology and transpersonal business studies, are listed in transpersonal disciplines.

Stanislav Grof's approach to transpersonal psychology has close connections to the field of archetypal cosmology. Working with his colleague Richard Tarnas, Grof found that the qualitative, thematic content of altered states of consciousness could be illuminated using archetypal astrology. Grof's collaboration with Tarnas has also identified correlations between the stages of Grof's model of perinatal psychology (the perinatal matrices) and themes associated with certain planetary archetypes ^[65]

Transpersonal art is one of the disciplines considered by Boucovolas ^[66], in listing how transpersonal psychology may relate to other areas of transpersonal study. In writing about transpersonal art, Boucovolas begins by noting how, according to Breccia and also to the definitions employed by the International Transpersonal Association in 1971, transpersonal art may be understood as art work which draws upon important themes beyond the individual self, such as the transpersonal consciousness. This makes transpersonal art criticism germane to mystical approaches to creativity. Transpersonal art criticism, as Boucovolas notes, can be considered that which claims conventional art criticism has been too committed to stressing rational dimensions of art and has subsequently said little on art's spiritual dimensions, or as that which holds art work has a meaning beyond the individual person. Certain aspects of the psychology of Carl Jung, as well as movements such as music therapy and art therapy, may also relate to the field. Boucovolas' paper cites Breccia (1971) as an early example of transpersonal art, and claims that at the time his article appeared, integral theorist Ken Wilber had made recent contributions to the field. More recently, the Journal of Transpersonal Psychology, in 2005, Volume 37, launched a special edition devoted to the media, which contained articles on film criticism that can be related to this field.

Notes

- [1] Lajoie and Shapiro, 1992:91
- [2] Miller, 1998:541-542
- [3] Lajoie and Shapiro, 1992
- [4] Walsh and Vaughan, 1993
- [5] Walsh & Vaughan, 1993, p203.
- [6] Caplan, Mariana (2009). Eyes Wide Open: Cultivating Discernment on the Spiritual Path. Sounds True. ISBN 1591797322, 9781591797326. Source: (http://books.google.com.au/books?id=cDX8zNEbUXoC&pg=PA232&dq=transpersonal+psychology+nonduality&hl=en& ei=eDHgS7nnA4ugkQWj6snCCA&sa=X&oi=book_result&ct=result&resnum=10&ved=0CGcQ6AEwCQ#v=onepage&q=transpersonal psychology nonduality&f=false) (accessed: Wednesday May 5, 2010), p.231
- [7] Miller, 1998:541-542.
- [8] Vich, 1988
- [9] Chinen, 1996:10
- [10] Chinen, 1996:10
- [11] Sardello, 2001
- [12] Scotton, Chinen and Battista, 1996
- [13] Cowley & Derezotes, 1994
- [14] Aanstoos, Serlin & Greening, 2000:23-24
- [15] Fontana et al., 2005, p. 5
- [16] Frager and Fadiman, 2005
- [17] Engler, 2009
- [18] Jennings, 2009, p. 377
- [19] http://www.abraham-maslow.com/m_motivation/Transpersonal_Psychology.asp
- [20] http://www.transpersonalcentre.co.uk/about.htm
- [21] http://www.britannica.com/bps/additionalcontent/18/36678143/
 - Complementary Research Methods in Humanistic and Transpersonal Psychology A Case for Methodological Pluralism Psychology Psychology A Case for Methodological Pluralism Psychology Psychology A Psychology Ps
- [22] http://www.psychotherapyuk.com/psychotherapy-london/psychotherapy-london.htm
- [23] Friedman, 2000
- [24] Sovatsky, 1998:160-61
- [25] Scotton, Chinen and Battista, 1996
- [26] Leary, 1980
- [27] Miller, 1998: 541-542
- [28] Cowley & Derezotes, 1994
- [29] Wilber, 1995, 1996
- [30] Cowley & Derezotes, 1994
- [31] Walsh & Vaughan, 1996:62-74
- [32] Walsh and Vaughan, 1996:63
- [33] Cowley & Derezotes, 1994
- [34] Washburn: 1994, 1995
- [35] Grof, 1975, 1985, 1998
- [36] Walsh & Vaughan 1996:64
- [37] Rothberg & Kelly, 1998
- [38] Ferrer, 2001
- [39] Cowley & Derezotes (1994) note that transpersonal theory has an understanding of spirituality that is somewhat different from the popular understanding of spirituality as a statement of belief, or as a measure of church attendance; features that could rather be seen as indications of the religious dimension. Religious problems have to do with possible psychological conflict resulting from a person's involvement with the beliefs and practices of an organized religious institution. Among these problems are experiences related to changing denomination, conversion to a new religion, intensification of religious belief or practice, loss or questioning of faith, and joining or leaving a new religious movement or cult (Lukoff, Lu & Turner, 1996:234)
- [40] Lukoff, Lu & Turner, 1996:236-39
- [41] Grof & Grof, 1989
- [42] Lukoff, Lu & Turner, 1996:238
- [43] Lukoff, Lu & Turner, 1996:236-39
- [44] Turner et al., 1995
- [45] In addition to this, Whitney (1998) has also made an argument in favor of understanding mania as a form of spiritual emergency.
- [46] Turner et al., 1995: 435
- [47] Turner et al., 1995: 436

- [48] See DSM-IV: "Other Conditions That May Be a Focus of Clinical Attention", Religious or Spiritual Problem, Code V62.89. American Psychiatric Association, 1994
- [49] Lu et al., 1997
- [50] Chinen 1996:12
- [51] Sovatsky: 179,187
- [52] Turner et al.:443)
- [53] The construct validity of the new category has been assessed by Milstein et al. (2000)
- [54] Aanstos, Serling & Greening, 2000:25
- [55] Alexander, 1980
- [56] Daniels, 2005
- [57] Ellis, 1989
- [58] Friedman, 2000
- [59] Ferrer, 2001

Shambhala: Do you consider yourself part of the transpersonal movement today?

KW: No, I don't.

Shambhala: Tell us about that.

KW: Well, the basic difficulty is that transpersonal psychology, to its great credit, was the first major school of present-day psychology to take spirituality seriously. Yet because there is a great deal of disagreement as to what actually constitutes spirituality itself, there is a great deal of disagreement as what constitutes transpersonal psychology. These are not minor inner tensions as one might find in, say, the various schools of psychoanalysis or Jungian psychology. They are instead major internal divisions and barbed disagreements as to the nature, scope, and role of transpersonal psychology itself. This makes the field more rife with political schisms and warring ideologies. This is why, I believe, that in three decades, and aside from one or two specific theorists, the actual school of transpersonal psychology has had no major impact outside of the Bay Area, and it is today, many people agree, in an irreversible, terminal decline.

What's left of the four forces (behavioristic, psychoanalytic, humanistic, transpersonal) will survive, if they survive at all, only by being taken up and into a fully integral approach [see "A Summary of My Psychological Model", section "The Death of Psychology and the Birth of the Integral", posted on this site.]

"On Critics, Integral Institute, My Recent Writing, and Other Matters of Little Consequence: A Shambhala Interview with Ken Wilber" PART I THE DEMISE OF TRANSPERSONAL PSYCHOLOGY (http://wilber.shambhala.com/html/interviews/interview1220.cfm/)

- [61] Ken Wilber, A sociable God: toward a new understanding of religion, 51 (http://books.google.com/books?id=DyD4UGTqe4wC& pg=PT67&lpg=PT67&dq=transpersonal+demise+wilber&source=bl&ots=q4pdyjAUu7&sig=DmDZDFAS90nPPZ2Ajcn72ojs_r0& hl=en&ei=YiUdS5SpD4boMdGIqfwO&sa=X&oi=book_result&ct=result&resnum=6&ved=0CBsQ6AEwBQ#v=onepage& q=transpersonal demise wilber&f=false)
- [62] Capriles 2000, 2006, 2007, 2008
- [63] http://www.transpersonalstudies.org/ImagesRepository/ijts/Downloads/

The%20International%20Journal%20of%20Transpersonal%20Studies,%202006,%20Volume%2025.pdf

- [64] Macdonald & Friedman, 2006, p. ii
- [65] Grof, 2009
- [66] Boucovolas, 1999

References

- Aziz, Robert (2008). "Foreword". In Storm, Lance. Synchronicity: Multiple Perspectives on Meaningful Coincidence. Pari Publishing. ISBN 978-88-95604-02-2.
- Aanstoos, C. Serlin, I., & Greening, T. (2000). *History of Division 32 (Humanistic Psychology) of the American Psychological Association*. In D. Dewsbury (Ed.), "Unification through Division: Histories of the divisions of the American Psychological Association", Vol. V. Washington, D.C.: American Psychological Association.
- Alexander, Gary T. (1980) William James, the Sick Soul, and the Negative Dimensions of Consciousness: A Partial Critique of Transpersonal Psychology. Journal of the American Academy of Religion, XLVIII(2):191-206
- American Psychiatric Association. (1994). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, fourth edition. Washington, D.C.: American Psychiatric Association.

- Boucovolas, M. (1999). Following the movement: from transpersonal psychology to a multidisciplinary transpersonal orientation. Journal of Transpersonal Psychology, 31 (1) 27-39
- Caplan, Mariana (2009). Eyes Wide Open: Cultivating Discernment on the Spiritual Path. Sounds True. ISBN 1591797322
- Capriles, E. (2000). *Beyond Mind: Steps to a Metatranspersonal Psychology*. Honolulu, HI: The International Journal of Transpersonal Studies, 19:163-184.
- Capriles, E. (2006). *Beyond Mind II: Further Steps to a Metatranspersonal Philosophy and Psychology*. San Francisco, California: The International Journal of Transpersonal Studies[2], 24:5-44.
- Capriles, E. (2007). Beyond Mind, Beyond Being, Beyond History: A Dzogchen-Founded Metatranspersonal Philosophy and Psychology. 3 vol.: Volumen I: Beyond Being: A Metaphenomenological Elucidation of the Phenomenon of Being, The Being of the Subject and the Being of Objects. Volumen II: Beyond Mind: A Metaphenomenological, Metaexistential Philosophy, and a Metatranspersonal Metapsychology. Volumen III: Beyond History: A Degenerative Philosophy of History Leading to a Genuine Postmodernity. Internet: http:// webdelprofesor.ula.ve/humanidades/elicap/en/Main/Bb-bm-bh: Mérida, Venezuela
- Capriles, E. (in press). *Beyond Mind III: Further Steps to a Metatranspersonal Philosophy and Psychology*. Miami, Florida: The International Journal of Transpersonal Studies, special issue following vol. 25.
- Chinen, Allan B. *The emergence of Transpersonal psychiatry*. In Scotton, Bruce W., Chinen, Allan B. and Battista, John R., Eds. (1996) Textbook of Transpersonal Psychiatry and Psychology. New York: Basic Books
- Cowley, Au-Deane S. & Derezotes, David (1994) *Transpersonal Psychology and Social Work Education*. Journal of Social Work Education, 10437797, Winter, Vol. 30, Issue 1
- Daniels, M. (2005). *Shadow, Self, Spirit: Essays in Transpersonal Psychology*. Exeter: Imprint Academic. ISBN 1-84540-022-4.
- Ellis, Albert (1989) *Dangers of Transpersonal Psychology: A Reply To Ken Wilber*. Journal of Counseling & Development, Feb89, Vol. 67 Issue 6, p336, 2p;
- Engler, Barbara (2009) *Personality Theories: An Introduction*, 8th ed., Houghton Mifflin Harcourt. ISBN 0-547-14834-8 | ISBN 978-0-547-14834-2
- Frager, Robert, & Fadiman, James (2005) *Personality and Personal Growth*, 6th ed., Prentice Hall. ISBN 0-13-144451-4 ISBN 978-0-13-144451-5
- Ferrer, Jorge N. (2001) *Revisioning Transpersonal Theory. A Participatory Vision of Human Spirituality.* New York: State University of New York Press (SUNY Series in Transpersonal and Humanistic Psychology)
- Friedman, Harris (2000) *Toward Developing Transpersonal Psychology as a Scientific Field*. Paper presented at Old Saybrook 2 conference, May 11–14, 2000, State University of West Georgia
- Fontana, David, Slack, Ingrid & Treacy, Martin, Eds. (2005) *Transpersonal Psychology: Meaning and Developments*. Transpersonal Psychology Review Special Issue. Leicester: British Psychological Society
- Grof, Stanislav & Grof, Christina (eds) (1989) Spiritual Emergency: When Personal Transformation Becomes a Crisis (New Consciousness Reader) Los Angeles : J.P Tarcher
- Grof, Stanislav (1975). Realms of the Human Unconscious. New York: Viking.
- Grof, Stanislav (1985). Beyond the Brain. Albany, New York: State University of New York Press.
- Grof, Stanislav (1998). *The Cosmic Game: Explorations of the Frontiers of Human Consciousness*. Albany, New York: State University of New York (SUNY) Press.
- Grof, Stanislav "Holotropic research and archetypal astrology," in *Archai: The Journal of Archetypal Cosmology*, vol.1, 2009 (San Fransciso: Archai Press, 2009) (http://www.archaijournal.org/archive.html).
- James, William (1902/1969) The Varieties of Religious Experience. London: Collier-Macmillan.
- Jennings, George-Harold (1999) Passages Beyond the Gate: A Jungian Approach to Understanding the Nature of American Psychology at the Dawn of the New Millennium. 2nd ed. Ginn/Pearson. ISBN 0-536-01874-X, ISBN 978-0-536-01874-8

- Lajoie, D. H. & Shapiro, S. I. (1992). *Definitions of transpersonal psychology: The first twenty-three years*. Journal of Transpersonal Psychology, Vol. 24.
- Leary, Timothy (1980) Info-Psychology. New Falcon Publications. ISBN 1-56184-105-6
- Lu FG, Lukoff D, Turner R (1997) *Religious or Spiritual Problems*. In: DSM-IV Sourcebook, Vol. 3. Widiger TA, Frances AJ, Pincus HA et al., eds. Washington, D.C.: American Psychiatric Association, pp1001–1016.
- Lukoff, David, Lu, Francis G. & Turner, Robert P. *Diagnosis. A clinical approach to religious and spiritual problems.* In Scotton, Bruce W., Chinen, Allan B. and Battista, John R., Eds. (1996) Textbook of Transpersonal Psychiatry and Psychology. New York: Basic Books
- Macdonald, D. & Friedman, H. Editors. (2006) *Introduction*. San Francisco, California: The International Journal of Transpersonal Studies[4], vol. 24, p. ii.
- Miller, John J. (1998) *Book Review: Textbook of Transpersonal Psychiatry and Psychology*. Psychiatric Services 49:541-542, April 1998. American Psychiatric Association
- Milstein, Glen; Midlarsky, Elizabeth; Link, Bruce G.; Raue, Patrick J. & Bruce, Martha (2000) Assessing *Problems with Religious Content: A Comparison of Rabbis and Psychologists*. Journal of Nervous & Mental Disease. 188(9):608-615, September
- Rothberg, D. & Kelly, S. (Eds.) (1998) Ken Wilber in Dialogue. Wheaton, Illinois: Quest Books.
- Sardello, Robert J. (2001) *Love and the World: A Guide to Conscious Soul Practice*. Great Barrington, Massachusetts: Lindisfarne Books.
- Scotton, Bruce W, Chinen, Allan B. and John R. Battista, Eds. (1996) *Textbook of Transpersonal Psychiatry and Psychology*. New York: Basic Books
- Sovatsky, Stuart (1998) *Words from the Soul : Time, East/West Spirituality, and Psychotherapeutic Narrative.* New York: State University of New York Press (SUNY Series in Transpersonal and Humanistic Psychology)
- Turner, Robert P.; Lukoff, David; Barnhouse, Ruth Tiffany & Lu Francis G. (1995) *Religious or spiritual problem. A culturally sensitive diagnostic category in the DSM-IV.* Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, Jul;183(7):435-44.
- Vich, M.A. (1988) "Some historical sources of the term "transpersonal". Journal of Transpersonal Psychology, 20 (2) 107-110
- Walsh, R. & Vaughan, F. (1993). *On transpersonal definitions*. Journal of Transpersonal Psychology, 25 (2) 125-182
- Walsh, R. & Vaughan, F. *The worldview of Ken Wilber*. In Scotton, Bruce W., Chinen, Allan B. and Battista, John R., Eds. (1996) Textbook of Transpersonal Psychiatry and Psychology. New York: Basic Books
- Washburn, Michael (1994). *Transpersonal Psychology in Psychoanalytic Perspective*. Albany, New York: State University of New York Press.
- Washburn, Michael (1995). *The Ego and the Dynamic Ground* (2d Ed.). Albany, New York: State University of New York Press.
- Whitney, Edward (1998) *Personal Accounts : Mania as Spiritual Emergency*. Psychiatric Services 49:1547-1548, December. American Psychiatric Association
- Wilber, Ken (1981) Up From Eden. Garden City: Anchor/Doubleday.
- Wilber, Ken (1995). Sex, Ecology, Spirituality. Boston, Massachusetts & London: Shambhala.
- Wilber, Ken (1996). Brief History of Everything. Boston, Massachusetts & London: Shambhala

Related reading

- Aziz, Robert (1990). *C.G. Jung's Psychology of Religion and Synchronicity* (10 ed.). The State University of New York Press. ISBN 0-7914-0166-9.
- Aziz, Robert (1999). "Synchronicity and the Transformation of the Ethical in Jungian Psychology". In Becker, Carl. *Asian and Jungian Views of Ethics*. Greenwood. ISBN 0-313-30452-1.
- Aziz, Robert (2007). *The Syndetic Paradigm: The Untrodden Path Beyond Freud and Jung*. The State University of New York Press. ISBN 978-0-7914-6982-8.
- Aziz, Robert (2008). "Foreword". In Storm, Lance. *Synchronicity: Multiple Perspectives on Meaningful Coincidence*. Pari Publishing. ISBN 978-88-95604-02-2.
- Davis, John V. (2003). *Transpersonal psychology* in Taylor, B. and Kaplan, J., Eds. The Encyclopedia of Religion and Nature. Bristol, England: Thoemmes Continuum.
- Metzner, Ralph (2008). *The Expansion of Consciousness*, paperback, Berkeley, California: Green Earth Foundation & Regent Press. ISBN 978-1-58790-147-8.
- Metzner, Ralph (1998). *The Unfolding Self: Varieties of Transformative Experience*, rev. ed. of Opening to Inner Light, Novato, California: Origin Press. ISBN 1-57983-000-5.
- Rowan, John. (1993) The Transpersonal: Psychotherapy and Counselling. London: Routledge
- Schneider, Kirk (1987). The Deified Self: A Centaur Response to Wilber and the Transpersonal Movement, Journal of Humanistic Psychology, Vol.27, 196-216.
- Schneider, Kirk (2004). Rediscovery of Awe: Splendor, Mystery, and the Fluid Center of Life. St. Paul, MN: Paragon House.
- Schneider, Kirk (2009). Awakening to Awe: Personal Stories of Profound Transformation. Lanham, MD: Jason Aronson.
- Walsh, Roger (1989) *Psychological Chauvinism and Nuclear Holocaust: A Response to Albert Ellis and Defense of Non-Rational Emotive Therapies.* Journal of Counseling & Development; Feb89, Vol. 67 Issue 6, p338
- Wilber, Ken (1989) *Let's Nuke the Transpersonalists: A Response to Albert Ellis*. Journal of Counseling & Development, Feb89, Vol. 67 Issue 6, p332

External links

- Institute of Transpersonal Psychology (http://www.itp.edu/)
- University of West Georgia's Transpersonal Psychology Program (http://uwgpsychology.org)
- Kona University (http://www.kona.edu/)
- Manchester Academy of Transpersonal Studies (http://www.transpersonalacademy.co.uk/)
- AHP John Rowan's Guide to Humanistic Psychology Transpersonal Psychology (http://www.ahpweb.org/ rowan_bibliography/chapter14.html)
- WWW Virtual Library Transpersonal Psychology: links (http://www.dialogical.net/psychology/ transpersonal.html)
- John Davis's Transpersonal Psychology website (http://www.johnvdavis.com/tp)
- International Journal of Transpersonal Studies (http://www.transpersonalstudies.org) Organ of the International Transpersonal Association
- Journal of Transpersonal Research (http://www.transpersonaljournal.com) Organ of the European Transpersonal Association
- European Transpersonal Association (http://www.eurotas.org/)
- Three books on Meta-Transpersonal Philosophy and Psychology (http://webdelprofesor.ula.ve/humanidades/ elicap/en/Main/Bb-bm-bh)
- Transpersonal Science (http://www.transpersonalscience.org) Michael Daniels' Transpersonal Science website.

- Transpersonal Psychology: A bibliography (http://www.erenlai.com/media/downloads/ ALefebvre_Transpersonal_r.pdf) The most complete bibliography regarding transpersonal psychology, compiled by Andre Lefebvre
- British Psychological Society Transpersonal Psychology Section (http://transpersonalpsychology.org.uk/)

Outline of psychology

Transpersonal disciplines

The question of whether transpersonal psychology should be considered one of a number of transpersonal disciplines appears to be answered affirmatively by Boucovolas. Boucovolas discusses how sociology, anthropology, business studies, law, art, acting and ecology may all gain benefits from a transpersonal focus.

A 2005 edition of the *Journal of Transpersonal Psychology* has discussed transpersonal aspects of cinema, suggesting grounds for a merge between media studies and transpersonal psychology. This journal includes a seminal paper by Gaylin (2005), arguing that the media is almost inherently transpersonal insofar as it involves addressing a wider community, therefore helping people to transcend their individuality. Gaylin also discusses how aspects of films can be transpersonal.

References

- Boucovolas, M. (1999). Following the movement: from transpersonal psychology to a multidisciplinary transpersonal orientation. Journal of Transpersonal
- Gaylinn, D. (2005). Reflecting on transpersonal media: An emerging movement. Journal of Transpersonal Psychology, 37 (1) 1-8

Transpersonal psychiatry

Transpersonal psychiatry may be considered an application of the teachings of transpersonal psychology to medical matters. It is, therefore, closely allied to therapy which adopts a transpersonal perspective, a topic which has been written about by Boorstein (1980) and for which John Rowan has discussed different streams, such as the Jungian, psychosynthetic and neuro-linguistic approaches.

However, since psychiatrists must have had medical training, transpersonal psychiatrists can be said to differ from transpersonal psychologists and psychotherapists by possession of a medical degree. It still seems likely, however, that many questions which confront transpersonal psychology in a clinical context will also be of interest to transpersonal psychiatrists.

References

• Boorstein, S. (1980) (ed.). Transpersonal Psychotherapy, Palo Alto, California, Science and Behaviour Books.

Article Sources and Contributors

Human science Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=458422213 Contributors: AXRL, Abdull, Alex contributing, Alibipie, Arraes.daniel, Banno, BirgerH, Capt. James T. Kirk, Cevicheater, Daedalus969, Edunoramus, El C, FlyingToaster, GTBacchus, Garryjacobs, Geologyguy, Hgilbert, Human sciences, Immunize, Klingelhage, Mdd, Nitpyck, Nomorecyber, PhnomPencil, Pkravchenko, Pointillist, R'n'B, Reshplicate, Rlakshmipriya, Robin Hood, RoyBoy, Sgant, Sintaku, Soccybrarian, Tuke admin, WinterSpw, Woohookitty, Ángel Luis Alfaro, 23 anonymous edits

Phenomenology (psychology) Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=457587055 Contributors: Aaron Kauppi, Abiyoyo, Billinghurst, Crystallina, DCDuring, Davethegnome, Doczilla, Drphilharmonic, EPM, Falafel1995, Gregbard, Gryffon, Gustavo Siqueira, Humanistic Edit, Iridescent, JaGa, JustAGal, Lova Falk, Mathwhiz 29, MatthewJS, MatthewVanitas, Msasscts, Nanouk, Neelix, NoychoH, Oswegotownie, PJJWindsor, Sassf, Shadowjams, SimonD, Thesticky, Vincent Lextrait, Wikipsyguy, Wolfdog, Woohookitty, Wragge, X0xshaunax0x, 27 anonymous edits

Existential phenomenology Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=451455190 Contributors: Carlo.Ierna, DanielCD, Drphilharmonic, Finlay McWalter, Gregbard, JoaoRicardo, Karol Langner, Koavf, Matthew Fennell, Mrevan, Raven1977, Reg25, Sea.wolf4, Thecheesykid, Themfromspace, Tmyrm, Wandering Courier, 12 anonymous edits

Martin Heidegger Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=459258430 Contributors: 1corwin, 271828182, A.S. Brown, ABC, Academic Challenger, Achelovs, Adashiel, Aeusoes1, AlainV, Alansohn, AlexSa, AlfredJAver, Alipir, AllGloryToTheHypnotoad, Am088, Amahlstedt, Amerindianarts, AndreniW, Andrewseal, AngBent, Antandrus, Anthony Krupp, Archelon, Arlekean, Arnon Chaffin, Arthur Rubin, Artsandopinion, Ash, Atrekeia, Augenblick, Avaya1, Avicennasis, BCST2001, BWCinfo, Barticus88, Bartleby, Bathrobe, Bender235, Bendono BertrandARussell, Billy Shankly, Bjbeamish, Bluaardvark, BlueMoonlet, Bobbyperou, Bobinou, Bobo192, Bondates, Bongbang, Bookuser, Boomshadow, Brain.wilson, BraunemSchmutz, Brion VIBBER, Buffyg, C.Fred, Camembert, Carlon, Cdc, Cflm001, Cholling, Christian Roess, Christofurio, Christopher Thomas, Church of emacs, Cinekin, Clarince63, Clossius, Clown in black and yellow, Cognition, Cosfly, Courcelles, Crust, Csharppoet, Curps, Cyndi Shein, D6, DO'Neil, DStoykov, Daggerstab, Danavilla, DanielJFinalton, Danny, Danny lost, DannyHuttonFerris, Das Volk, Dducrest, Deadlifter, Debresser, Delavagus, Delirium, Derek Ross, Detruncate, DieFantastischeKapitän, Dieziege, Dingby, Dionysios80, Djharmon, Drmies, EdJohnston, Edgarde, Egg, Ehmhel, Ekwos, Elbafomet, Elembis, Ellywa, Emeraldcityserendipity, Enbowles, Endal rescat, Epa101, Epeefleche, Eranb, Eric Kvaalen, Ermac92, Ermadine, Espen, Eulen, Exiledone Fastfission, Felix Han, Ffirehorse, Fiachra10003, Fleminra, Fmdolan, Fpahl, Franks Valli, Fredrik, Frieda, FriedrichLGFrege, Frkevinhanlon, Gaius Cornelius, Garzo, Gavinbeeker, Ged UK, Genesiswinter, Georgespougioukas, Gerhardvalentin, GheistLBW, Gin and Tonic, Gleaman, Go for it!, GoetheFromm, Goethean, Gogo Dodo, Goodnightmush, Grantsky, GreatWhiteNorther Gregbard, GregorB, Grilledegg, Groytiklak, Grshiplett, Grunge6910, Gunnar Hendrich, Gwern, H0riz0n, Hamstar, Hamtechperson, Hauskieney, Hede2000, Hegel's bagel, Heidegger222, Henning.Schröder, Heraldman, HerrWiki, Heyitspeter, Highland14, Hinau, Hirt des Seyns, Hitchhiker89, Homagetocatalonia, Hoops gza, Hughcharlesparker, Hurmata, Husum, IZAK, Ian Pitchford, Ibbn, Icannothearyou, Ig0774, Interwiki de, Inwind, Irishguy, Irritant, Isak336633, Island, Itistoday, Ivan Bajlo, Iwpoe, J.delanoy, JMK, JSirgento, JaGa, Jaiwills, JamesBWatson, Jamiemeyer, Jandalhandler, Jasperdoomen, Jfr26, Jim Nightshade, JimWae, JoDonHo, John, Johnduff, Jojocool117, Jolomo, Jonathansamuel, Jorge Acevedo Guerra, JosephineJacquelineSusanBrown, Josephprymak, Js2081, Jsp722, Juanmantoya, Junes, Jyoshimi, KD Tries Again, KMJagger, Kerotan, Kevenhuller, Kinpatsu, Knoma Tsujmai, Knucmo2, Koavf, Koyaanis Qatsi, Kricket, Kristy Guneratne, KungFuMonkey, Kungfuadam, Kwamikagami, Landroo, Large Glass, Larry V, Laurasaura, Ldh214, Leafman, Leibniz, Leo44, Lestrade, Levantine, Libratune, Lichtconlon, LonesomeDrifter, Longevitymonger, Lottamiata, Lquilter, Lucaas, Lucidish, LudwigJWittgenstein, M cuffa, M.nelson, M4gnum0n, MLKLewis, Mabdul, Madhava 1947, Magioladitis, Mami, Mandarax, Mani 1, Marc Venot, Mark Christensen, Mark Gallagher, Materialscientist, Matthew Fennell, Matthew Woodcraft, Maximus Rex, Mayumashu, Mephistophelian, Merovingian, Mesnenor, Miai, Michael Hardy, Micru, Mikem1234, Mikerussell, Mime, Mirv, Modulatum, Mohsens, Moloch09, Monegasque, MonoALT, Moskvax, Mrwojo Mtevfrog, Mxm33, N-true, NHowie, Naddy, Nagelfar, Nasnema, NawlinWiki, Neilc, Neilm, NeoJustin, Nico108, NoisyJinx, Noosphere, Ntrval, Nuujinn, Ojigiri, Olessi, Omnipaedista, Ontoraul, Orbitalcombustion, Ozielke, P4k, PDH, Paith, Pallas sun, Path3, Paul Barlow, Paulreeve, Pesticide, Petey Parrot, Petrejo, Petros000, Phcople, Phil Sandifer, Philwelch, Phoenix-wiki, Pink!Teen, Pjacobi, Pjrich, Platypusjones, Pohick2, Pointsmany, Poor Yorick, Poundsghost, Prestorock, Prof02, Propaniac, Protocol, Psychiatrick, Quaeler, Qxz, R Lowry, R.E. Freak, RL0919, Radgeek, RaiderRebel, Rajah, RandomTool2, RashersTierney, Raven in Orbit, RedJ 17, Renamed user 4, Renophaston, Rich Farmbrough, RichardVeryard, Rkaden, Rkevins, Rlbilsker, Roachgod, RobinJ, Robofish, Roman20, Ronhjones, RossF18, Royby, Ruggermunger, Rumiton, Ruud Koot, Ryanbuscher, SE7, Sailor1889, Sam Spade, Sandaag, Santa Sangre, Sarsatro, Savidan, Saz127, Sburke, Scheinen, Schneidegger, SchuminWeb, Sdorrance, Seferin, Serasuna, Sethmahoney, Sexyorge, Sfmammamia, ShatteredSpiral, Sheeana, ShelfSkewed, Shentino, Shiki2, Signalhead, SilasM. Simonides, Siotinglsiotingl, Skomorokh, Slaniel, Smdo, Smokeandflames, Snowded, Snowolf, Snoyes, SoWhy, Soap, Spirals31, StAnselm, Stephen Cowley, SteveAzniak, Stevertigo, Str1977, Sumergocognito, SummerWithMorons, TTKK, Tache, TarcísioTS, Tenmei, Tercross, Ternande, Tgeorgescu, The Anome, The Rhymesmith, The762x51, Themfromspace, Theonemacduff, Thingg, Tillwe, Tim1357, TimNelson, Tischbeinahe, TjeerdAukes, Tkuvho, Toby Bartels, Tochnik, Tolstoiesky, Tommy2010, Tony Sidaway, TonyClarke, Tothebarricades.tk, Transformers666, Tresoldi, Trevor Goodyear, Tsop, Tumblingsky, Turk00, Twas Now, Twelvethirteen, Ugha, Uhai, Ultimus, Uncle Dick, Uri, User2004, UserVOBO, Utergar, Vapour, Velho, Vernie1993, Vincej, Vlpreitauer, Vojvodaen, WadeSimMiser, Walkinxyz, Wally, Wandering Courier, Wavelength, Whogreggory, Whosyourjudas, Wiki alf, Wikijos, Wildturkey10, Will Beback, Wink37, WinstonWinston, Wittgendegger, Wkrocek, Woohookitty, Wordwright, Worthypat, Writtenright, Wuzzy, Wwallacee, Wyatt3, Wyn.gregory, Yakushima, Yamamoto Ichiro, Yasuna, Yorkshirian, Yozeng, Zeno Gantner, Zeusnoos, Zollernalb, Zsniew, Чупакабр, 1013 anonymous edits

Phenomenology (philosophy) Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/windex.php?oldid=459578201 Contributors: 13alexander, APH, Acady1, Ace ETP, Adicarlo, Aldaron, Aleksd, Alienus, Allyne, Alma Pater, Andrewghutchison, Andywarfield, Anon2, Antandrus, Arandrews, Argyll Lassie, Artur Nowak, Atlant, Atrekeia, BD2412, Bagodonuts, Banno, Bettygreen, Bible Study Class, Bigturtle, Bjdoyle, Blahm, Bmistler, BonBonTheJon, Boud, Brobbins, Brosi, Bubbleboys, Bzfgt, Bzoooty, CRGreathouse, Caireen, Captainlongstocking, Carbuncle, Carlo. Ierna, Carol Knowles, CaroleHenson, Chain27, Chgwheeler, Chimin 07, Chris09j, Coelacan, Cosmic Latte, Cui-bono, DCDuring, Daedalus71, Danny lost, Deltaecho, Demeter, Demosen, Der Zeitgeist, Djayip, Djjr, Doraannao, Dr Headgear, Drphilharmonic, ELApro, EPadmirateur, Eaglizard, Earthlyreason, Edcolins, Egg, Ekwos, El C, Eleassar777, Elendi's Heir, Elliotb2, EmersonLowry, Emptymountains, Empyrius, Ernan Eid, Esb1008, Fgnievinski, Firstwingman, Fratrep, Fritzsokol, FrozenUmbrella, GabrieLecreel, Gallaghr, Gary123, Giftlite, Gimmeabreak, Ginot, Gkastel, Glane23, Goethean, Gregbard, Humanistic Edit, Hybrid mind, Ikebowen, Immanuel1, Integraldude, Ipseity, Ivan Bajlo, JaGa, Jacksonpub, Jagged 85, Jakes18, JamesMLane, Jasperdoomen, Jdbarrientos, Jellevc, Jerzy, Jitendranathmohanty, Johnetownsend, Johnor, Jojit fb, Joseph Solis in Australia, KD Tries Again, KRS, KSchutte, KYPark, Karljaspers, Kevinbrowning, Kgeter67, Knucmo2, Krits, Kuphrer, Lapaz, Larean01, Le vin blanc, Leafman, Lestrade, Lezaek Jaczuk, Lucidish, Lynn Wilbur, M4gnum0n, Makeswell, Maorii, Marc Girod, Marcus Brute, Markuffel, Maraitrinity2003, Maurice Carbonaro, Max543, Mayooranathan, Meadows227, Meinolf Wewel, Mentisock, Mikem1234, Mjb, MoonMan, Moonchild ms, Moskvax, Mporch, Mrevan, Msassets, Mwanaer, Ntm33, NYArtsnWords, Naddy, Nareg510, Neelix, Nicktastic, NightMonkey, Nikkimaria, Ninly, Nogburt, NoychoH, Number 0, Omnipaedista, Petrejo, Phenomenologique, Philippe Audinos, Philthecow, Phrenology, Physis, Ficus viridis, Fioneer-12, Piseccla

Clark Moustakas Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=439321889 Contributors: Detroitpixie, Download, Drbrowner, FreeRangeFrog, Hjweth, Jonxwood, MatthewVanitas, Misarxist, Nightkey, 8 anonymous edits

Humanistic psychology Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=457544014 Contributors: ::Ajvol:., APH, AThing, Aaron Kauppi, AbsolutDan, Acrazy007, Action potential, Addshore, Alansohn, AllyD, Anakata, Apartment F, Arjun01, BeardOfGlory, Bluejay Young, Bmistler, Borgx, Brobbins, Brookshawn, Cabe6403, CambridgeBayWeather, Cdc, Cdw1952, Cgingold, Charles Matthews, Collabi, Cosmic Latte, Craptree, Cyanolinguophile, Cyber Infinity, DaL33T, Danny lost, Demeter, Diderot1, Dlc2006, Dogface, Dream of Nyx, Duk, ElenaZam, Elindblom, Empyrius, Exzakin, FF2010, FastLizard4, Flo98, Frédérick Lacasse, Fwb44, Gary Cziko, Giacomobignardi02, Grant M, Grhabyt, Hagerman, Halmstad, Hawol, Humanistic Edit, IlikeliJon, Iokseng, J. Ash Bowie, JYolkowski, JaGa, Janice Rowe, Jeremyvose, Jkellerman, John Talbut, Johnkarp, Joshbrez, Jtneill, Karol Langner, Kevin B12, Koarf, Krzysm87, LadyCocoa1234, Lumos3, Luna Santin, Mac Davis, Magioladitis, MarkThomas, Mattisse, Meco, Mel Etitis, Meol, Michael Devore, Michael Hardy, Michelleem, Monkeyclaus, Mostly Zen, Mporch, Nanouk, Neile, Neutrality, Newbyguesses, Nomorecyber, Norbert Apter, Nposs, OlegSmirnov, Osioni, Ottre, PANDA(PersonAmendingNumerousDefectiveApostrophes), Penbat, Philip Trueman, Piano no tropop, Platypusjones, Prodego, Psykhosis, Puffin, Qweruiop321, R Lowry, RadioFan, Rdsmith4, Retteats, Rich Farmbrogh, RichardF, Sardanaphalus, SimonP, Skagedal, Slightsmile, Soccybrarian, Stroll, Sunray, Sylvain1972, THEN WHO WAS PHONE?, Tomisti, Tony Sidaway, Trontonian, Unfree, Uzzi15, Vaughan, VoluntarySlave, Was a bee, Wikipsyguy, Woohookity, Wpac5, 242 anonymous edits

Existentialism Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=459547414 Contributors: *nondescript*, 157.178.1.xxx, 1fine89, 212.116.178.xxx, 271828182, 2help, A E Francis, A Nobody, A-moll9, A.J.Chesswas, A.R., A.slothy, A3RO, Aaaaalias, Aaronb1232, Abce2, Abdullais4u, Abu badali, Academic Challenger, Adamdesautel, AdjustShift, Adrianedawn, Aedeck, Aeko, Aexapo, Agamennon117, Ahoerstemeier, Aillema, Airplaneman, Aitias, Alansohn, Aldhil, Aldy, Ale jrb, AleBZ, Aletheon, AlexanderWinston, AlexiusHoratius, Alexjohne3, Alkan, Allstarecho, AllyD, Alonelymuffin, Altenmann, Amurea, Amphytrite, Anand011892, Andaleeb Purba, Andav, Anders Feder, Andersmusician, Andland, Andrewpmk, Androg, AndyTheGrump, Andvcjp, Ankurdave, Anna Lincoln, Anneman, Anomalocaris, Antandrus, Ante Aikio, AnthonyBurgess, Aphil360, Aranherunar, Archibald Fitzchsterfield, Arctic Night, ArglebargleIV, Ari Rahikkala, Aristeo, Aristides, Arjun024, Art LaPella, Arthena, Arwel Parry, Atavi, Athex50, Atlas10, AutoFire, Avengerx, Avillia, Avraham, Awega, Awenty, Awiseman, Axeman89, Azaziel, B9 hummingbird hovering, BD2412, Badreligion, Bagatelle, Banno, Barreca, Barticus88, Bayang, Bbb23, Bcorr, Beland, Bender235, Benlisquare, BennyQuixote, Benw, Bernardvanommeren, Bestiarosa, Betacommand, Bhuston, Bifgis, Billca42, Bkwillwm, Black and White, Bletch, Bluee Mountain, Bmeacham, Bo99, BoNoMoJo (old), Bobbykennedy1705, Bobo192, BohemianWikipedian, Bookerazyword, Boothy43, Bora Nesic, BorisFromStockdale, Bowei Huang 2, Brancron, BrettAllen, Brianga, Brianlucas, Brobbins, Brona, Bshea, Burr the asylum, Butterhead, C6541, C70707, CAdudel, Clreland, CWatchman, Cacciatore, Caiaffa, Calabe1992, Callmarcus, Calvin 1998, Cam9976, Can't sleep, clown will eat me, CanDo, Canadian-Bacon, Cantaire87, Carharttjimmy, Carlon, Catgut, Cdg1072, Cek, Centrx, Chaica, Chain27, Chairman S., Charibdis, Charles Matthews, Charles01, Charlesjustice, Chgwheeler, Chris Mitchell,

Chrisminter, Chriss.2, Christopher Parham, Ciphergoth, Civis sum, Cjfsyntropy, Closedmouth, Clungemcgee, Cmeik, Cmichael, Cognition, Collabi, Colonies Chris, Comico, Common Man, CommonsDelinker, Concombre Masqué, Connor.fowler, Contrebast, Conversion script, Cosmic Latte, Courcelles, Cpt. Rob, Crate321, Credema, CriminalSaint, Cristo39, Ctmt, Curps, Cutler, Cybercobra, Cycotic, D-Raven, DBaba, DGX, DJ Clayworth, Dac04, Daisen Dog, Damian Yerrick, Damir A, Dandv, Dane 1981, DanielCD, DanielJennings724, Danny, Darkfrog24, Darkraptor, Darkskyz, Darth Panda, Davichito, DavidWBrooks, Dawn Bard, Deconstructhis, Deepblackwater, Deepsoulstarfish, Dehbach, Dekkanar, Deleterofallgoodthings, DeltaQuad, Deltabeignet, Deltopia, Demic, Demicx, Der Zeitgeist, DerHexer, Dersen, Dfan55, Dino, Dionisian Individual, Dirigible Plum, Discospinster, Doc Tropics, Doc glasgow, DocterRock, Docu, Doh286, Don4of4, Dougfr007, DouglasGreen, Dratman, Dreadstar, DreamGuy, Drmies, Dtgm, Duffman, Dysprosia, E. Klieg, E.P.Y. Foundation, ELApro, Eddroid, EdgarEdwinCayce, Edivorce, Edward 321, Ee2000, Eewild, Ekabhishek, Eldredo, Elembis, ElgertS, Elmer Clark, Eloquence, Elpurneo, Elsanaturk, Eluchil, Elysianfields, Emcod, Emmyzen, Enantiomer, Epastore, Epbr 123, EqualRights, Erik Jesse, Erolos, Esperant, EugeneZelenko, Euripedes326, Evalowyn, Evans1982, Evercat, Everyking, Evil Monkey, Exnerblc, Exsistere, Eyedubya, Ezeyplezy001, F. Simon Grant, FQuist, FT2, Falcon8765, Farosdaughter, FastLizard4, FayssalF, Fibo1123581321, Fifth Rider, Finnigan Solomon, FisherQueen, FitzColinGerald, FlopTopSet, Forsakened One, Fram, Franz.87, Freakofnurture, Fredrik, Freezes, Froth, Ftyui135, Gaff, Gaius Cornelius, Gamahucher, Garyvdm, Gcoultersmith, Geek84, Geni, GerarSamuel, Gertie, Gest, Giftlite, Gigacephalus, Gilliam, Give and take, Gjp23, Glavin, Go for it!, Godlord2, Goethean, Gogo Dodo, Gonzalo84, GoodDamon, Gothmog1337, Grae Drake, Graham87, Grantsky, GreatWhiteNortherner, Gredman, Green Cardamom, Gregbard, Grick, Griffinofwales, Gronkmeister, Grover cleveland, Grstain, Grunt, Gschadow, Guettarda, Gurch, Gwalla, HLwiKi, Hadal, Haham hanuka. HamburgerRadio, Hammer1980, Hans castorp81, Harvester, HeihachiMishima, Helloelan, Henryjrobinson, Herashiomage, Herk1955, Heyitspeter, Hfrigums, Hif, Hifrommike65, Highpriority, Hinrik, Hipster21, Hollisterbabe323, Hraharu, Hubacelgrand, Hubble15, Huple scat, Hut 8.5, Iago Dali, Ian.thomson, Ian30, Icenine378, Ifthe21stcentury, Ig0774, In Defense of the Artist, Infinity0, Iridescent, Ironicon, IsoMorpheus, Isosping, It Is Me Here, Ixfd64, J.delanoy, JFuchs, JNW, JRM, JaGa, Jaberwocky6669, Jacksonhardy12, Jadabocho, Jagged 85, Jahsonic, Jake Wartenberg, Janejellyroll, Janey Dowerstruffel, Jauerback, Jay32183, Jbeans, Jcaraballo, Jcfried, Jeff G., Jeffreygarten, Jem715, Jen rr, Jennavecia, Jeronimo, Jfiling, Jim Rowe, JimWae, Jimbo Wales, Jimmy 72792, Jimp, Jjshapiro, Jklolbrblmao, Jluttichau, Jmeree, Jmhodges, Jmundo, Johan 1298, Johann Wolfgang, John, John Hupp, JohnWittle, Johnpink, Johnpseudo, Johnva15, Jonverve, Joshlmay, Joshua Issac, Joyous!, Jpgordon, Jshahom, Jtneill, Jules.lt, Julia Rossi, Juliancolton, Jusdafax, Jweiss11, K2wiki, KALZOID-73-20METER, KD Tries Again, KSchutte, Kafkajam, Kalki, Kalogeropoulos, Kapil, Karada, Katalaveno, KatelynJohann, Kbh3rd, KeepItClean, Kehrbykid, Keilana, Kenji000, Kevyn, Kf4bdy, KidTwistReles, Kitoba, Knjez Varggoth. KnowledgeOfSelf, Kntrabssi, Koavf, Kodster, Kopaka649, Korg, Koyaanis Qatsi, Krich, Kronecker, Krovisser, Kubigula, KungFuGrip, Kungfuadam, Kunstnetje, Kuru, Kuzaar, Kwalka, Kyoko, L0b0t, LAX, LKB0LAND, L0L, LVGreen, La goutte de pluie, Ladyparrott, Lanairamaadlett, LarryGilbert, LastChanceToBe, Lastletter, Law, LazyLaidBackEditor, Lectonar, LeeHunter, LegCircus, Lemi4, Leonard^Bloom, Lesath, Levineps, Lexor, LiniShu, Little guru, Lochaber, Loodog, Lord Solar, Loremaster, Lotje, LoveMonkey, Lucaas, Lucidish, Lullie17, Luna Santin, Lunchscale, Lundyfox, Lupo, M bastow, M3taphysical, M5, MC10, MKoltnow, MMBKG, MPerel, MVNdude, MacStep, Madmatt213, Mais oui!, Majamin, Malfourmed, Manicsleeper, Marek69, Marina T., Martin Hampl, Martincadams, Mashford, Matt231288, MattTweedell, Mattcurtis, Matthew Fennell, Matthew Liberal, Mattsoos, Mav, MaxSem, Maxamegalon2000, Maxim, Maxitron, Mbc362, Mboverload, McCann51, McLennonSon, Mccaff, Mchlmicy, Mediaptera, MegaTroopX, Melchoir, Melsaran, Mendaliv, Mentifisto, Merzul, Metahacker, Methcub, Metro.tramp, Mgaebler, Michael Hardy, Miguel de Servet, Mikael Häggström, Miles, Milesonguitar, Milloud, Mimzy1990, Mipadi, Miq, Mmendis, Mnation2, Moanzhu, Mobile Snail, Modernist, Monroetransfer, Montag451, Monty Cantsin, Moonsell, Moralis, Moshee Yisrael, Mosherdude91, Moskvax, Mostafa Hussein, MrWhiff, Mrmrbeaniepiece, Mtevfrog, Munci, Muohara, Mwazzap, N5iln, NYArtsnWords, Naddy, Nakon, Nanten, Nasoxoron, Nathanael Bar-Aur L., Nave.notnilc, NawlinWiki, Nbarth, Nearfar, Neelix, Nehalem, Neurolysis, NewEnglandYankee. Newbyguesses, Nickl316, Nickptar, NikoleeSuzann, Ninly, Nixdorf, NoRightTurn1, Noahnoe, Nobodyinpart, Nonameplayer, Nonick, Noproblem60, NotSuper, Notinasnaid, Nsae Comp Numbo3, Nyttend, O, OCNative, Oatmeal batman, Ohnoitsjamie, OldakQuill, Oldseed, Omphaloscope, OnBeyondZebrax, Opelio, Oplossing is duidelijk, Orangemike, Originale, Orijok, Osbus, OwenX, P3, PGWG, PPdd, PandaMan3000, Paul August, Paul Erik, Persian Poet Gal, Peruvianllama, Peter Damian (old), Peterdjones, PhDP, Phi beta, Philip Trueman, PhilipMW, Philippe Batreau, Philosophy Teacher, PhotoRick, PiMaster3, Piano non troppo, Pigman, Pizza1512, Plastikspork, Poindexter Propellerhead, PoliticalJunkie, Pollinosisss, Polocrunch, Pooopwoman, Poor Yorick, Pooya72, Postmodern Beatnik, PrestonH, Prodego, Publicly Visible, Puffin, PunyaBiswal, Purplekhanabooze, Pyrospirit, R Lowry, RB972, RG2, RZ heretic, RainyDayCrow, Raliugar Randolph, Randy Johnston, Randywilliams1975, RaseaC, Raven4x4x, Rbellin, Rdsmith4, Redfarmer, Rednblu, Reedy, Regularchap, Renamed user 4, RepublicanJacobite, Rettetast, RexNL, Rfl, Rich Farmbrough, Richaraj, Richard001, Rjwilmsi, Robby.is.on, RobertG, Robertvan1, Robrodie, Rocknrollanoah, Rodasmith, RolandMyth, Rompe, Roqrega, Rouenpucelle, RoyBoy, Royblumy, Royboycrashfan, Rror, Runtime, Rustynail, Rutski89, Ruud Koot, RxS, RyanGerbil10, Ryoutou, S.dedalus, S.f.694, SJP, Sa.vakilian, Saderlius, Safalra, Salt Yeung, Sam Hocevar, Sam Korn, Samheard, Sanctiacobvs, Sango123, Sarahlee103, Sardanaphalus, Satanael, Say something then, Scarian, Schaefer, SchfiftyThree, Schwnj, Sciurinæ, Scohoust, Scott Williams, Sdorrance, Sduplooy, Seanbra172, Seaphoto, Section9, Semper discens, Sengkang, Serdar Rifat, Serein (renamed because of SUL), Seriousmoejoe, Sethmahoney, Sfahey, Sfmammamia, Shaikoten, ShelfSkewed, Shiki2, ShinjiPG, Shinobistalker11, Shinpah1, Shkhr, Shmilyshy, Sigg3.net, Signalhead, SilentC, Sillybilly, SimonP, Sioraf, Sir Nicholas de Mimsy-Porpington, Sirswedishmike, Sjakkalle, Sjeng, Sjwheel, Skaizun, Skeppyrron, Skeptikman, Skiclub, Skomorokh, Slakr, Sleepocrates, Slightsmile, Slowking Man, Snisfrealaaa, Snowded, Snowmonster, Softssa, Soiregistered, Some jerk on the Internet, Sonicyouth86, Soupdoggy, SouthernNights, Space Rodeo, Spellcast, Spencerk, Sprewell, Squandermania, Ssy, Star General, Stefano Cortinovis, Stephenb, SteveCrook, SteveWolfer, Stirling Newberry, Stroof, StuffOfInterest, SuW, Sully111, SuneJ, Sunshine424, Sunshine4921, Swikid, Symane, Symbolismism, Syp, T3rmin, TJF588, TORR, Taak, Tassedethe, Technopat, TedE, Tempodivalse, Tenoshadow, Tercross, Tesseract2, TexasDawg, The Anome, The E.P.Y Foundation, The Patroller, The Stickler, The Thing That Should Not Be, The Transhumanist, The undertow, The wub, The 17th juggalo, The Hippopotamus, The Ranger, The Sun, The True Sora, The bestlaid plans, Theopoet, The patriots, Thequinox, Thismightbezach, Tiddly Tom, Tide rolls, Timeloss, Tiril1124, Tisane, Tito-, Titoxd, Tkleinsc, Tlmclain, Toasterlyreasons, Tognopop, Tolsti, Tom walker, Tomisti, Tomos, Tony1, TonyClarke, Tonytula, Topdoolin, Tothebarricades.tk, Tpbradbury, Tracco, Trimax, Triwbe, TrogdorPolitiks, Trumpsternator, Truth is relative, understanding is limited, Tsop, Twartenb, Typhoon, Tyrol5, Ubiq, Uhai, Uri, Urthogie, User2004, User24, Vael Victus, Vanished User 0001, Vanisheduser12345, Vatbadges, Veemannuel, VegaDark, Verdatum, Versageek, Versus22, VgerNeedsTheInfo, Vianello, Vinay Varma, Vincej, Vis-a-visconti, Vitald, Vivio Testarossa, VolatileChemical, Vrenator, Walkerma, Walloon, Wandering Courier, Wanderingstan, WarpObscura, Warut, WatermelonPotion, Wavelength, Weechva, Wells 298, Wereon, Wetman, Whale plane, Whcodered, WhisperToMe, WhiteC, Wiki Raja, Wiki alf, WikiDao, WikiPedant, WikiWalsh, Wikid77, Wikieditor06, WikipedianMarlith, Wikipelli, Wintonian, Wisco, Wisdom89, Woland1234, Wolfdog, Woody, WookieInHeat, Wordwebber, Wortafad, Wotnow, WpZurp, Wstclair, Wyss. X-factor, Xabian40409, Xaosflux, Xhantar, Xiongqing, Y.Demirbas, Yamamoto Ichiro, Yanksox, Yazazen, Ymkulkarni, Ynhockey, Yomkipur, Yopienso, Yossarian, Youssefsan, Zamphuor, Zazaban, Zenohockey, Zidel333, Zoe, 2810 anonymous edits

Holism *Source*: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=456523108 *Contributors*: 16@r, 2over0, AbsolutDan, Action potential, Adriaan, Al Silonov, Alfie66, Andycjp, Angela, Anthere, Anthony Appleyard, Apers0n, ArielGold, Aristolaos, Arjayay, Aukikco, Ausir, AustinKnight, BM, BMF81, Banno, Bansp, Bapu, Belovedfreak, Blainster, Borisshah, Boscovich, Brichard37, Bubbha, BullRangifer, Calgary, Calrosfing, Canterbury Tail, Carl presscott, Catgut, Cazort, Cessator, Ceyockey, Charles Matthews, Cholling, Cmdrjameson, Colin MacLaurin, Colonies Chris, CorticoSpinal, Croissant5, DDerby, Danogo, Dbachmann, DigitalC, Dlw1159, Dougweller, Dr. CTG, Dream of Nyx, Ecotao, Ed Poor, Editor2020, Eequor, El C, Emerson7, EmersonLowry, Erkan Yilmaz, Esrever, Ethicsandkids, Eubulides, Faus, Fayenatic Iondon, Fences and windows, Fmrauch, Frankbaby, FredRoter, Furrykef, Fxer, Gazal Corte, Geonarva, Geoser, Gfoley4, GideonF, Giftlite, Goethean, GraemeL, Grafen, Gregbard, Guettarda, Gurch, Guy Peters, Gyll, Hardys, Hopping, Hraefen, Hveziris, Hyacinth, IZAK, Immunize, Infinitymmx3, Infophile, Intuitivebodyworker, Isotelesis, It Is Me Here, JTBurman, JamesMadison, Jazzclubber, JenLouise, Jessesaurus, Jjk@nexial.org, Johann Wolfgang, John71x, Johnadowell, Jonkerz, Jpbowen, Jthomere, Jussi Hirvi, KYPark, Kallerdis, Karol Langner, Keilana, KenSamarra, Kenny sh, Keno, Kndiaye, Kokot.kokotisko, Krymson, Ksyrie, Lacatosias, Landroo, Lapaz, Lomn, Lucidish, Lysdexia, MECU, Mabrycaroline, MarSch, MartinHarper, MaxPont, Mdd, Merceris, Metaholist, Michael Hardy, Mimansquared, Mondhir, Moolew, Morwen, Mote, Mother. earth, MrDarcy, Narveen aryaputri, Natalie Erin, Nectarflowed, Neofelis Nebulosa, Nitenfu, Ntropie, Ogb, Ohnoitsjamie, OlEnglish, P1415926535, Pavel Vozenilek, Pearle, Pengo, Peter morrell, Peterdjones, Phils, Pietopper, Pjmpim, Pleasantville, Pollinator, R Lowry, R'n'B, RDates, Random user 39849958, RealGrouchy, RexNL, Rjwilmsi, Robert1947, Robocoder, Rodhullandemu, Rrburke, Sam Spade, Scientizzle, Scorpion451, Sholto Maud, SimonP, Siro

Saybrook University Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=447566022 Contributors: Agricola44, Banej, Conquistador2k6, Darigan, Difu Wu, Hiplibrarianship, Peter Horn, Rich Farmbrough, SlubGlub, Soccybrarian, Svick, Ucucha

Personal development Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=457027901 Contributors: 9831236gddshs, A bit iffy, Accurizer, Action potential, Aheil4250, Alansohn, Aleahey, Andycjp, Andyroo316, Arabella Devine, Bayerischermann, Ben Ben, Bluemoose, Bobauthor, Bobblehead, Bobrg, Bonadea, Brunogiacomelli, Bunnyhop11, Cabqari, Cafemista, ChrisHodgesUK, Clemux, Crculver, Crzrussian, D.h, DDerby, Dcooper, Denisarona, Discospinster, Dl.goe, Dncars1, DoctorW, Erencexor, Everyking, Ewlyahoocom, Fram, Frances2000, Fredrik, Funandtryl, GD 6041, Gadfium, Gap9551, Gary D, Gary King, Go for it!, GraemeL, GregA, Haakon, Hadal, Harley, HarmonySpheres, Hbent, Hu12, InferKNOX, Irishsolar, J04n, JaGa, Jackfork, Jaro, P. Jbsongaku, Jeff G., Jacraton, John Talbut, JohnDoe0007, JonHarder, Jmeill, Jujutacular, Kamezuki, Karol Langner, Kathodonnell, Kgorman-ucck, Kuratipas, Kuru, LFaraone, Launch3, LiHelpa, Loremaster, Lucidish, Léon66, Maria Sieglinda von Nudeldorf, MarkThomas, McGeddon, Mercenario97, MimiYouYou, Mmachaal, Mporch, MrOllie, Mwanner, Nesbit, Nikolay Molchanov, NotAnonymous0, Nuri Barnard, Osman Abraham, Patrick, Pavel Vozenilek, Pearle, Pedant17, Plinth molecular gathered, Pnm, Purenews, R'n'B, Raymcnally, Rdsmith4, Reinventingyourself, Rich Farmbrough, RichardF, Rrfayette, Rsukheja, Sam Hocevar, Sandstein, Sanjiypadman, Selfmastery99, Stephenforrest, Stevesiebold, Stickee, Tellmeyouarenice5673, The Transhumanist, Tide rolls, Tomzx, Ture Pagan Warrior, Tutran72, Tyrenius, Update21, Vald, Vees, Vincej, Wes!, WikHead, WikipedianMarlith, Wjkcarlson, Woohookitty, Yancyfry jr, Yangerwanger, YogeshwerSharma, Zoninah, Zodon, 207 anonymous edits

Institute of Transpersonal Psychology Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=418384270 Contributors: Aelfhrytha, Afterwriting, Dynaflow, Johnpacklambert, Lensovet, MarkGallagher, Masonpatriot, Moshe The Janitor, Open 2 universe, Samaritan, Seo Mac, Spondoolicks, Squell, Stepheng3, Titoxd, UkPaolo, Wwoods, 9 anonymous edits

Organismic theory Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=456202578 Contributors: Carlvincent, Clicketyclack, Diderot1, Doczilla, Koavf, Mattisse, Pxma, Sardanaphalus, Tekks, 7 anonymous edits

Transpersonal psychology Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=450574034 Contributors: 20ver0, ACEO, ACEO, ACEOREVIVED, Aaron daniels, Accordeonaire, Afterwriting, Ahoerstemeier, Alai, Amalas, AnotherNitPicker, Aprilnowbeing, B9 hummingbird hovering, BD2412, BaalShemRa, Babajobu, Barry Wells, Bayou way, Blainster, Breed3011, Brozkeff, CSWarren, Calabe1992, Cashmundy, Chbarts, Chris Howard, Chris the speller, Clara rosa, Claraevallensis, Clocke, Colonies Chris, Cosmic Latte, Curb Chain, Dakinijones, Dan, DerHexer,

DoctorMartin, Doczilla, Dreadstar, EPM, Ediblesound, Elindblom, Eritain, Esirec, Esowteric, FT2, Favonian, Gary D, Goethean, GreenRoot, Hawol, Hypnojon, IceCreamAntisocial, Iss246, J. Ash Bowie, JaGa, Jablett, Jevansen, Jfurr 1981, JimVC3, Johnkarp, Jpeeling, Jtneill, Karol Langner, Kate, Keeganwade, Keraunos, Kroimhotep, Kutu su, Kwork2, Leafyplant, Lentes, Leontes, LilHelpa, Linas, Longshot14, Lova Falk, MarcAurel, MarekTT, Martinphi, Mathiastk, Mattisse, Mindheartinstitute, Mir Harven, MrOllie, Naraht, Nixdorf, Ojigiri, Paul foord, Pcul 23456789, Peashy, Philro, Pigman, Pinethicket, Pmorie, PsycheMan, Psyphishman, R'n'B, RDF, Rich Farmbrough, Richard-r-v, RichardF, Rjwilmsi, Robert Ham, Robofish, Rubredo, SCEhardt, Sardanaphalus, Scuiqui fox, Seb az86556, Seglea, SimonP, Starship78, SunCreator, THB, Tarnas, The Dogandpony, TheNeon, Theprofessordoctor, Threeguineas, Timelesseyes, TimothyConway, Timrollpickering, Tomchiukc, Twipley, UniverSoul, Unyoyega, Vaughan, Wisdom.psy, Wordwebber, Zachorious, Σ, 196 anonymous edits

Transpersonal disciplines Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=445961954 Contributors: ACEOREVIVED, Editor2020, Farkas János, Grutness, Julia Rossi, Robofish, 1 anonymous edits

Transpersonal psychiatry Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=440176837 Contributors: ACEO, Avalon, Elonka, Goethean, Mattisse, Open2universe, Paddles, Postcard Cathy, R'n'B, Rmky87, Woohookitty

Image Sources, Licenses and Contributors

File:Geburtshaus Heidegger Sonne.JPG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Geburtshaus_Heidegger_Sonne.JPG License: Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Contributors: Zollernalb

File:Heideggerrundweg0009.JPG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Heideggerrundweg0009.JPG License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: Muesse

File:Grab Heidegger.JPG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Grab_Heidegger.JPG License: Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 3.0 Unported Contributors: Zollernalb

File:Heideggerrundweg0013.JPG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Heideggerrundweg0013.JPG License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: Muesse File:Heideggers Feldweg.JPG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Heideggers_Feldweg.JPG License: Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Contributors: Zollernalb

File:Universität Freiburg Kollegiengebäude I (Altbau), jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Universität_Freiburg_Kollegiengebäude_I_(Altbau), jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Dbenzhuser

Image:Kierkegaard.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Kierkegaard.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Neils Christian Kierkegaard

Image:Nietzsche.later.years.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Nietzsche.later.years.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: A3A3A3A, Grafite, Lobo File:Søren-Kirkegaard-Statue.jpeg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Søren-Kirkegaard-Statue.jpeg License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors:

Anne-Sophie Ofrim, Interpretix, Kilom691, Mahlum

File:Sartre and de Beauvoir at Balzac Memorial.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Sartre_and_de_Beauvoir_at_Balzac_Memorial.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Unknown. Copyright holder is Archives Gallimard at Paris, Archives Gallimard no longer exists

File:Albert Camus, gagnant de prix Nobel, portrait en buste, posé au bureau, faisant face à gauche, cigarette de tabagisme.jpg Source:

http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Albert_Camus,_gagnant_de_prix_Nobel,_portrait_en_buste,_posé_au_bureau,_faisant_face_à_gauche,_cigarette_de_tabagisme.jpg *License*: Public Domain *Contributors*: New York World-Telegram and the Sun Newspaper Photograph Collection, see http://www.loc.gov/rr/print/coll/130_nyw.html, where the New York World-Telegram and Sun Newspaper Photograph Sublic domain

File:Beauviour.JPG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Beauviour.JPG License: Public Domain Contributors: User Alma Gal

Image: The Earth seen from Apollo 17.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File: The_Earth_seen_from_Apollo_17.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: NASA. Photo taken by either Harrison Schmitt or Ron Evans (of the Apollo 17 crew).

License

Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike 3.0 Unported //creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/3.0/